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7 September 2016

The Honourable Cameron Dick  MP 

Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services

Member for Woodridge

Level 19, 147–163 Charlotte Street, Brisbane QLD 4000 

Dear Minister Dick 

I am pleased to present the Annual Report 2015–2016 and financial statements 

for Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health Service. 

I certify that this annual report complies with:

•  The prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the 

Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009; and

•  The detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for 

Queensland Government agencies. 

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be found on page 64 

of this Annual Report.

Yours sincerely

 

Rachel Hunter

Chair

Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health Board 

Letter of compliance
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Children’s Health Queensland has experienced a year of 

exceptional change and growth. In November 2015, we 

celebrated the first birthday of the Lady Cilento Children’s 

Hospital and have continued to improve services throughout 

the year. Together, we met the targets set for our hospital, 

community and mental health services, providing safe and 

appropriate care to children and young people. Building 

on the rich traditions of the Royal Children's and Mater 

Children's hospitals, we created a united workforce with a 

common sense of purpose, and launched a host of new and 

expanded services.

In 2015–2016, we also reviewed our strategic priorities, and this 

provided an opportunity to engage with staff, patients, families, 

consumer groups and partners to develop shared values. We 

chose our new values of respect, integrity, care and imagination 

after listening carefully to many people who shared their dreams 

and ideas. Sharing common values on which we can base our 

decisions will help us move forward together.

Everything we achieved was thanks to the hard work and 

passion of the more than 4,000 staff and 600 volunteers who 

demonstrated a commitment to making a difference in the lives 

of children and young people.

A really rewarding part of my job is meeting families who use 

the services at Children’s Health Queensland. Many families 

and carers support children who have a serious illness, injury 

or health condition which places a strain on the entire family. 

In spite of challenges, most families I speak to demonstrate 

courage and hope. Parents or carers often express heartfelt 

thanks to the teams who care for loved ones. Naturally, some 

also express sadness or frustration when there are setbacks. 

This is understandable, and it is our responsibility to respond 

and work with families as partners to improve the patient and 

family experience. This is a key priority for us going forward.

It is a privilege to lead Queensland’s dedicated paediatric 

hospital and health service. I would like to thank the Children’s 

Health Queensland Board, staff, research, education and charity 

partners, and volunteers for supporting our work throughout the 

year. I am excited about what the future holds as we continue 

to meet challenges facing the healthcare system, knowing that 

we have the best people and partners who are committed to 

providing safe, expert, accessible child and family-centred care 

to every child and young person.

Fionnagh Dougan, Chief Executive

“ We have the best 

people and partners 

who are committed to 

providing safe care”

Message from the Chief Executive
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This year Children’s Health Queensland has made significant 

progress in fulfilling its strategic objectives. Following the 

launch of the Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital, a priority was 

to successfully bring together the workforces of the Royal 

Children’s and Mater Children’s hospitals. In less than two 

years Children’s Health Queensland has more than met this 

objective. This is a credit to our people, who came together 

as one team committed to life-changing care for children, 

young people and families.

Over the course of the year, there were significant gains in 

meeting the National Emergency Access Target (NEAT) and 

National Elective Surgery Target (NEST), thanks to the efforts 

of the Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital and Children’s Health 

Queensland staff. All of our hospital, community, mental health 

and statewide teams performed at a high level as we worked to 

improve our services and financial performance.

As the new chair of the Children’s Health Queensland Board, I 

have been privileged to work closely with the Board and Executive 

in developing a new Strategic Plan for the next four years.

We are clear about our focus, with child and family-centred care 

at the heart of all we do. This commitment, embodied in our 

Children’s Health Queensland Strategic Plan 2016–2020, will drive 

our decision-making as we develop partnerships, grow our people, 

and strive to deliver sustainable, high-value health services for 

families in Queensland and northern New South Wales.

The passion displayed by all who contribute to our exceptionally 

safe paediatric health service is impressive. This became 

particularly clear to me during the consultation about our 

organisational values during the review of our Strategic Plan. 

Our staff and many other partners helped shape our new values, 

and none were more special than children from the Lady Cilento 

Children’s Hospital School who not only illustrated what our 

values mean to them, but they also translated the values into a 

version they could understand. Thus ‘respect’ means ‘listening to 

others’; ‘integrity’ means ‘we do the right thing; ‘care’ means ‘we 

look after each other’ and ‘imagination’ means ‘we dream big’.

Dreaming big is a wonderful way of thinking about the work 

before us. I am confident Children’s Health Queensland people 

are up to the task of leading life-changing care for children and 

young people today and into the future. 

Rachel Hunter, Chair

Message from the Board

“ Dreaming big is a 

wonderful way of 

thinking about the 

work before us”
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1.1 Our services

Children’s Health Queensland is a specialist statewide 

hospital and health service dedicated to caring for children 

and young people from across Queensland and northern 

New South Wales. We are committed to collaborating with 

all of our healthcare partners, most importantly families, 

to ensure we consistently deliver safe, high-quality patient 

and family-centred care.

A recognised leader in paediatric healthcare, education  

and research, Children’s Health Queensland delivers a full 

range of clinical services, tertiary and quarternary care, and 

health promotion programs. 

We provide an integrated network of services through:

• The Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital 

• The Child and Youth Community Health Service 

• The Child and Youth Mental Health Service 

• Statewide services and programs, including specialist 

outreach and telehealth services

• Partnerships with other hospital and health services and 

non-government organisations (NGOs).

Children’s Health Queensland provides services from key 

locations in the Brisbane metropolitan area, and works with 

the 15 other hospital and health services as well as NGOs and 

charity partners in Queensland to deliver an integrated network 

of healthcare services and support across the state. 

Children’s Health Queensland’s primary function is to provide 

the healthcare, teaching, research and other services defined 

in its service agreement with the Department of Health who are 

our funder. The service agreement is negotiated annually and is 

available publicly at http://bit.ly/2blPVwf

Children’s Health Queensland’s prides itself on placing the 

child and family at the heart of everything we do. Patient and 

family-centred care acknowledges that families provide an 

important perspective for health professionals and they will be 

actively involved as partners in their child’s care. 

Our long-standing partnership with the Children’s Hospital 

Foundation makes an invaluable difference to our service. 

The support of generous donors enables the Foundation to 

fund vital research, services and new equipment, as well as 

entertainment services for children while in hospital. The 

Foundation also manages a team of volunteers who work 

tirelessly to bring smiles and laughter to sick kids, as well as 

providing welcome support to families.

Queensland Public Service values

Children’s Health Queensland subscribes to the Queensland 

Public Service values:

• Customers first

• Ideas into action

• Unleash potential

• Be courageous

• Empower people.

Queensland Government objectives

Children’s Health Queensland’s Strategic Plan 2016–2020 

supports the Queensland Government’s objectives for the 

community:

• Creating jobs and a diverse community

• Delivering quality front-line services

• Protecting the environment

• Building safe, caring and connected communities.

Our strategic initiatives also support the vision and 10-year 

strategy for health in Queensland, My health, Queensland’s 

future: Advancing health 2026. The vision is: By 2026 

Queenslanders will be among the healthiest people in the world.

Five principles underpin the Queensland Government's vision, 

directions and strategic agenda:

1.  Sustainability – we will ensure available resources are used 

efficiently and effectively for current and future generations.

2.  Compassion – we will apply the highest ethical standards, 

recognising the worth and dignity of the whole person and 

respecting and valuing our patients, consumers, families, 

carers and health workers.

3.  Inclusion – we will respond to the needs of all Queenslanders 

and ensure that, regardless of circumstances, we deliver the 

most appropriate care and service with the aim of achieving 

better health for all.

4.  Excellence – we will deliver appropriate, timely, high-quality 

and evidence-based care, supported by innovation, research 

and the application of best practice to improve outcomes.

5.  Empowerment – we recognise that our healthcare system is 

stronger when consumers are at the heart of everything we 

do, and they can make informed decisions.
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1.2 Annual highlights

Centre for Children's Health Research opened

The $134million Centre for Children’s Health Research, a collaboration between 

Children’s Health Queensland, the University of Queensland and Queensland 

University of Technology, was officially opened by the Minister for Health and 

Ambulance Services Cameron Dick. It is Queensland's first fully integrated 

research facility focused on paediatric health research. The launch followed 

Lady Cilento Children's Hospital's first birthday celebrations. 

Children's Health Queensland recognised for safety

Children’s Health Queensland received an excellent Periodic Review report 

from the Australian Council on Healthcare Standards following an interim 

review visit. The final report found Children's Health Queensland is exceeding 

standards on improving safety and quality of patient care, minimising risks 

to patient safety and maximising quality of care. The survey team praised 

Children's Health Queensland for our safety systems and relentless focus on 

engaging with consumers and delivering family-centred care.

Deadly Kids | Deadly Futures strategy unveiled

The Deadly Kids, Deadly Futures, Queensland’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander Child Ear and Hearing Health Framework 2016–2026 was launched. 

The Australian-first framework defines the shared vision of the health, early 

childhood and schooling sectors and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

families and communities. It is focused on preventing and managing the 

high rate of middle-ear disease, or otitis media, in Indigenous children. 

Queensland Specialist Immunisation Service launched

 The Queensland Specialist Immunisation Service and Immunisation  

Centre was opened at the Lady Cilento Children's Hospital. The service provides 

evidence-based advice and vaccination recommendations for children with 

complex medical problems. The Immunisation Centre will also offer routine 

vaccinations to outpatients and their siblings when they visit the Lady 

Cilento Children's Hospital.
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Lady Cilento Children's Hospital's first birthday celebrations
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Children’s Health Queensland is uniquely positioned 

as the tertiary and quaternary child health service 

provider for Queensland and northern New South 

Wales. The organisation delivers a mix of geographic 

catchment-based and statewide services. It is funded 

to deliver a wide range of care to children and young 

people, ensuring high-quality specialist services 

are delivered as close to home as possible. 

Our hospital and health service is a key part of a network 

of paediatric services responding to the needs of 

children and young people across the state. A priority 

is to work with our partners to provide safe, effective 

care and support a focus on improving outcomes.

In 2015–2016, Children’s Health Queensland improved 

and increased levels of service delivery. In line with 

the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, we executed 

a service agreement with the Department of Health to 

provide hospital and health services within a performance 

framework, demonstrating improvement on measures 

including safety and quality, access and efficiency.

We remained focused on meeting the six interrelated strategic 

goals set out in Children's Health Queensland's Strategic Plan 

2013–2017 to:

• Lead the provision of quality healthcare for children and 

young people

• Build strong partnerships and engagement for improved 

health outcomes

• Build an empowered and engaged workforce

• Define and implement Children’s Health Queensland’s 

statewide role 

• Enhance financial management

• Enhance research and learning.

Performance against the National Emergency Access Target 

(NEAT) improved. In the 2016 calendar year (January–June), 

83.1 per cent of patients were discharged, admitted to a ward 

or transferred to another facility within four hours of arrival at 

the Emergency department, while the NEAT measure for the 

2015 calendar year was 78.5 per cent.

Performance against the National Elective Surgery Target (NEST) 

target also improved significantly by the end of 2015–2016, 

reaching 93.4 per cent, compared with 85.7 per cent for 2014–2015. 

In November 2015, Queensland Health provided additional 

funding of up to $70 million over four years to the Lady 

Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH) which ensured an 

increase in the number of funded beds from 300 to 331.

This funding also enabled the recruitment of more than 175 

full-time equivalent nurses to provide safe and timely services 

to Queensland and northern New South Wales children.

As part of the $70 million allocation, Children’s Health 

Queensland also received funding to progress the integrated 

electronic Medical Record (ieMR)project. This investment 

will enable Children’s Health Queensland to deliver 

safer and reliable services through the innovative and 

transformative use of data, information and technology.

The Children's Health Queensland Retrieval Service also 

received new funding, enhancing the partnership with 

regional hospitals and reducing the need to redeploy 

staff engaged in frontline care for retrieval duties. 

We also delivered services to children and young 

people via telehealth, and this service transitioned 

from being managed by the University of Queensland 

to Children’s Health Queensland on 30 June 2016.

Outstanding safety and quality performance was achieved 

with a rate of less than 5 per cent of hospital-acquired 

pressure injuries, zero deaths in low-mortality diagnostic-

related groups and full accreditation compliance. In November 

2015, Children’s Health Queensland received an excellent 

Periodic Review report from the Australian Council on 

Healthcare Standards (ACHS) following an interim review visit 

in September 2015. Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus 

aureus bacteraemia infection rates exceeded the target of 2 

per 10,000 patient days on a number of occasions in the past 

year. Strategies to address this issue have been implemented. 

Risks and challenges
A number of strategic risks continue to challenge 

Children’s Health Queensland, including increasing 

rates of chronic disease among children and young 

people, keeping pace with digital technologies and 

competition for scarce funding and specialist staff. 

There is a general increase in demand for paediatric 

services across the state and the challenge is to plan for the 

delivery of services in an increasingly constrained financial 

environment. There is also a challenge to deliver further 

efficiencies in the context of a relatively new hospital.

There is a risk of fragmentation of children’s health services 

with conflicting and competing priorities between providers 

across Queensland. The launch of the National Disability 

Insurance Scheme in 2016 is a further challenge as we seek  

to implement the Commonwealth policy effectively for the 

benefit of children and families.
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Board
Rachel Hunter was appointed Chair of Children’s 

Health Queensland Hospital and Health Service Board 

in November 2015 following the resignation of Susan 

Johnston as Chair in August. Jane Yacopetti served as 

Acting Chair in the interim period.

Leilani Pearce joined the Board in May 2016, while Jane 

Yacopetti, Cheryl Herbert, Paul Cooper and Dr Leanne 

Johnston all had their appointments to the Board continued.

“ We achieved 

outstanding 

safety and quality 

performance”

Opportunities
Our ability to manage these risks and challenges 

is supported and enabled through extensive 

partnerships with other hospital and health services, 

education providers, NGOs, the Children’s Hospital 

Foundation and other partners as we explore 

innovative approaches to remain contemporary and 

agile in a constantly changing environment.

Children’s Health Queensland has prioritised working 

closely with Primary Health Networks to ensure strong 

partnerships with primary care providers. These 

partnerships are aimed at ensuring continuity of 

care, reduction in service duplication, and increased 

information-sharing and collaboration to deliver 

a seamless journey for patients and families.

In 2015–2016, Children’s Health Queensland undertook 

a thorough review of its Strategic Plan. This plan 

identified specific strategies and objectives to address 

the emerging health, resource and budget challenges.

In June 2016, the Children’s Health Queensland 

Board approved the Children's Health Queensland 

Strategic Plan 2016–2020 which includes a new 

vision, values and strategic priorities.

As part of the new Strategic Plan, 2016–2017 priorities include 

implementation of the: 

• Children’s Health Queensland Excellence Framework

• Service improvement through the Innovation Change and 

Redesign Excellence (iCARE) program

• Consumer and Community Engagement Strategy

• Children’s Health Queensland's People Plan

• ieMR.
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In January 2016, Children’s Health Queensland asked 

staff, families, carers, volunteers and our partners 

to help create a new vision and shared values for 

Children’s Health Queensland as part of the ‘Your 

Voice, Our Future’ consultation program. More than 

600 people, including patients, families, staff, 

consumer groups and partners described their dream 

for Children’s Health Queensland and what values are 

most important to them. This enabled all stakeholders 

to have the opportunity to help create our new vision, 

values and ultimately, inform the Strategic Plan 2016-

2020 for Children’s Health Queensland which was 

approved by the Board in June 2016. Students from 

the Lady Cilento Children's Hospital School created 

artwork to illustrate our values.

Shaping our vision and values

Our vision

Leading life-changing care for children and  

young people – for a healthier tomorrow.

Our commitment

To offer the best: safe, expert, accessible  

child and family-centred care for children 

and young people.

Our values

Respect – teamwork, listening, support

‘We listen to others’

Integrity – trust, honesty, accountability

‘We do the right thing’

Care – compassion, safety, excellence

‘We look after each other’

Imagination – creativity, innovation, research

‘We dream big’
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1.6 Strategic Plan 2016–2020

Our strategies

1.  Child and family-centred care  
We will place the child and family at the  

heart of all we do.

Measures of success

• External accreditation for patient centred  

care maintained

• Zero preventable serious safety events (SSEs)

• Hand hygiene compliance >80% 

• Increased telehealth >10% 

• Non-admitted occasions of service

• Increased number of consumer and family representatives 

on Children’s Health Queensland committees and  

working groups

Objectives

• Ensure services are delivered in child and family friendly 

and supportive environments

• Facilitate an integrated system of specialized care for 

children, through models that support continuity of care and 

care close to home, and respond to local needs and service 

capability

• Deliver and realise the benefits of the Children’s Health 

Queensland safety and reliability program

•  Develop and implement a consumer engagement strategy 

that targets improved health literacy and involves the 

voice of families in the planning, delivery, evaluation and 

improvement of our services

•  Continuously undertake comprehensive health service 

planning and reviews to support future services, and 

influence statewide policy and plans for child and youth 

health services

•  Implement an engagement and communication strategy 

that promotes awareness, engagement and community 

confidence in Children’s Health Queensland services

•  Work closely with the Children’s Hospital Foundation 

and charity partners to improve the experience of patients 

and families

• Deliver a digital strategy which enables every young  

person’s family/carer to engage electronically with  

Children’s Health Queensland to improve care outcomes  

and consumer experience.

2.  Partnerships  
We will work collaboratively with partners to improve 

service coordination and integration, and optimise 

child and young person health outcomes across 

Children's Health Queensland and statewide.

Measures of success

• Service level agreements with hospital and health 

services in place: 

-  15/16 baseline: commenced. 16/17 completed

• Transition to adult services framework 

implemented and evaluated 

-  15/16 baseline: commenced. 16/17 completed

Objectives

• Lead the development of a best practice framework to partner 

with health sector providers locally and statewide to inform 

state and national policy and enhance child and youth health 

services and outcomes

• Partner with adult services to develop a framework which 

ensures continuity of care into adulthood, recognising  

the importance of transition in psychosocial development  

of youth

• Harness Children’s Health Collaborative and Statewide Child and 

Youth networks to pursue opportunities to lead, influence and 

advocate on child and youth policy at a state and national level

• Strengthen emphasis on improving Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander child and family access and outcomes, 

including working with Aboriginal Community Controlled 

Health Organisations and community leaders to eliminate 

barriers to access, promote shared leadership, grow the 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander workforce, and build 

cultural competence 

• Go-Live on Digital Hospital project to deliver seamless care with 

partner Hospital and Health Services (statewide)

• Work with public and primary health agencies to promote 

wellbeing of children by encouraging further development 

of protection, promotion, prevention and early intervention 

services

• Work with partners in other sectors (e.g. education, housing) to 

address determinants of child and youth health outcomes.
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3.  People: working, learning, growing 
We will create an inspirational workplace where people 

want to work and learn, where contributions  

are valued and staff come to work with a purpose  

and leave with a sense of pride.

Measures of success

• Improved Working for Queensland Survey results: 

-  Agency engagement: >60% 

-  Organisational leadership: >60% 

-  Values–leadership: >60%

• Safety assurance indicators and targets achieved 

or exceeded

Objectives

• Develop and implement a framework that drives  

Children’s Health Queensland to become a values-based 

organisation with values at the core of all decisions  

and actions

• Recognised as THE place to work in the health sector  

– where staff love coming to work and the experience  

of people matters

• Develop interdisciplinary models to maximise 

opportunities for innovative practice and professional 

development across Children’s Health Queensland

• Implement a progressive People Plan focused on 

workforce wellbeing, leadership, culture and capability

• Partner with national and international paediatric 

exemplars to share knowledge and ensure Queensland 

children receive contemporary high value care

• Work with other providers of child health services to  

build workforce capability, through provision of training 

and continuing professional development

• Optimising the organisational culture to facilitate high levels 

of employee engagement whilst enabling performance

•  Through a business partnering model, ensuring excellent 

people processes, practices and systems that enable line 

leaders to manage people related manners timeously  

and effectively.

4.  Performance  
We will deliver sustainable, high value health 

services driven by continuous improvement, 

creativity and innovation.

Measures of success

• Achievement of service agreement key performance indicators 

(KPIs) including: 

-  Full year forecast operating position: balanced 

-   Emergency length of stay: % of emergency stays  

within four hours >80%

• Average cost per Weighted Activity Unit (WAU) 

-  Theatre utilisation % 

-  Zero specialist outpatients long waits 

• Excellence Framework Implemented 

- 16/17 baseline: commenced. 17/18 completed 

• Evidence based evaluation framework for health service 

innovation developed and implemented

Objectives

• Develop and implement an Excellence Framework  

which defines aspiration, measures current 

performance and drives game changing improvement

• Develop and implement an evidence based evaluation 

framework for health service innovation to assess and 

prioritise redesign and improvement investments

• Partner with the Children’s Hospital Foundation and 

other academic and educational partners to grow an 

internationally recognised child and young person 

health research program

• Develop strategy to improve the capture, promotion  

and recognition of research and improvement activities 

across Children’s Health Queensland

• Deliver business intelligence and data analytics 

capabilities which enable Children’s Health 

Queensland to efficiently achieve service agreement 

targets, identify areas for performance improvement 

and support research outcomes.
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Improved services for families

Since welcoming its first patients on 29 November 

2014, more than 60,510 children and young people 

have been inpatients, 288,510 children and young 

people have been treated as outpatients and 

102,067 have been treated in emergency.

Timely access to treatment is central to Children’s Health 

Queensland’s commitment to delivering the best-possible 

patient and family-centred care. In 2015–2016, we continued  

to improve access to services for Queensland children and  

their families.

In 2015–2016, the LCCH improved its performance against 

the National Emergency Access Target (NEAT) as required 

by the National Partnership Agreement on Improving Public 

Hospital Services. For the 2016 calendar year (January–

June), 83.1 per cent of patients were discharged, admitted 

to a ward or transferred to another facility within four hours 

of arrival at the Emergency department, while the NEAT 

measure for the 2015 calendar year was 78.5 per cent. 

Performance against the National Elective Surgery Target 

(NEST) target also improved significantly, reaching 93.4 

per cent by 30 June 2016, compared with 85.7 per cent for 

2014-15. From January to June 2016, all children and young 

people received their elective surgery within clinically 

recommended timeframes. This is a big improvement 

on the 84 children and young people who had waited 

longer than clinically recommended as at 30 June 2015.

The percentage of elective surgery patients treated 

within clinically recommended timeframes in the past 

year also improved, with 100 per cent of category 

1, 84 per cent of category 2 and 96 per cent of 

category 3 patients treated in time in 2015–2016.

Paediatric surgery attendance rates improved from 82 per 

cent to 92 per cent which enabled paediatric surgery to offer 

an additional 28 new case appointments per week. 

From January to June 2016, the specialist paediatric surgery 

department at the LCCH reduced the number of patients 

having to wait longer than the clinically recommended 

timeframes for an appointment from more than 600 to 104. 

2.1 Quality healthcare

2.1.1 Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital

The Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH) 

in South Brisbane is the major specialist 

paediatric hospital for Queensland and 

northern New South Wales families and a 

centre for teaching and research.

Categorised as a level six service, under the 

Clinical Services Capability Framework for Public 
and Licensed Private Health Facilities v3.2, 2014, 

the LCCH is responsible for providing general 

paediatric health services to children and young 

people in the greater Brisbane metropolitan area, 

as well as tertiary-level care for the state’s sickest 

and most seriously injured children.

As part of our model of service delivery, the LCCH 

works in partnership with the network of lower-

level service hospitals to coordinate, when  

safe and appropriate to do so, the provision of 

care as close to home as possible for a child  

and their family.

The LCCH also delivers a growing number of 

statewide paediatric speciality services, including 

rehabilitation medicine, cerebral palsy, cystic 

fibrosis, Indigenous ear health, gastroenterology, 

oncology and haemophilia.

Through outreach clinics, and, increasingly, the 

use of telehealth, the hospital is improving access 

to quality care for all children and young people, 

regardless of where they live. 

As part of its commitment to sharing knowledge, 

Children's Health Queensland offers a broad 

range of clinical specialities and provides 

undergraduate-, postgraduate- and practitioner-

level training in paediatrics. 

The LCCH also plays a significant role in medical 

research, undertaking research programs with 

affiliated universities including the University of 

Queensland and Queensland University  

of Technology. 

2. Our performance



Outpatient waiting lists cut

Children’s Health Queensland achieved a key objective  

in 2015–2016, by significantly reducing the number 

of Queensland children waiting longer than clinically 

recommended for a specialist outpatient appointment. From 

January to June 2016, this waiting list reduced from more than 

5,500 to approximately 2,400. 

This notable improvement was achieved through a range of 

initiatives, including running Saturday clinics, implementing 

innovative models of care led by allied health and nursing staff, 

and establishing a centralised administration audit and patient 

engagement team.

In March 2016, we contracted Queensland Health’s Health 

Contact Centre to support patients and families by confirming 

booked outpatient appointments via SMS and phone calls. This 

improved average outpatient appointment attendance rates, 

which increased from 85 per cent attendance to 91 per cent. 

This ensured approximately 30 children per week could receive 

new specialist appointments at the hospital. 

Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health Service   13

LCCH fast facts 2015-16

39,782
Hospital admissions

65,748
2.43
Days average 
length of stay

Operations performed
16,9 0

Camp Oz supports burns patients

Sixteen children with burn injuries attended Children’s 

Health Queensland’s 29th annual ‘Camp Oz’ in March 2016 

at Stradbroke Island. Camp Oz is a three-day personal and 

leadership development program organised by the LCCH 

occupational therapy department for children aged 8 to 16 years 

with a burn injury.  The camp is run by the Paediatric Burns 

Centre at the LCCH in conjunction with the Police Citizens Youth 

Club, Bornhoffen.

191,959

More clinics to help overweight children

More children and young people battling obesity are receiving 

support to live a healthier life, thanks to new and increased 

services provided through Children's Health Queensland. 

In April 2016, the hospital’s specialist paediatric weight 

management clinics expanded from a monthly to a weekly 

service. New fortnightly satellite clinics were also launched in 

Ipswich in May, providing local children and families with public 

weight-management services in their area for the first time. All 

clinics are staffed by a doctor, dietitian and psychologist. 

Around 80 patients a month are now accessing these services, 

compared with an average of only five patients a month prior 

to the program expansion. Referral criteria for the weight-

management clinics were reviewed to ensure overweight children 

get help sooner, before they become obese. The new service will 

be evaluated at the end of 2016 to inform a sustainable evidence-

based statewide model of care.

A Paediatric Obesity Working Group, reporting to the 

Queensland Child and Youth Clinical Network, has also been 

established to inform models of care for paediatric obesity.



“ CHECK is a prompt 

tool used to improve 

communication with 

Indigenous families”
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Culturally sensitive care 

Studies show that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

patients discharge themselves against medical advice at 

much higher rates than most other families. Communication 

problems are often at the heart of this issue. Other contributing 

factors include a fear of medical procedures, a sense 

of isolation or prior traumatic experiences. A discharge 

against medical advice causes interruption of treatment 

and is associated with post-operative complications, 

increased morbidity and mortality, higher rates of 

readmission and ultimately increased healthcare costs. 

In 2015–2016, the Children’s Health Queensland’s social 

work, welfare and Indigenous liaison teams developed and 

implemented the Cultural sensitivity, Helpfulness, Empathy, 

Communication, Knowledge (CHECK) tool. CHECK is a visual 

and behavioural prompt used by clinical and allied health 

staff to improve communication with Indigenous families. It is 

being used at LCCH as part of our enhanced cultural practice 

program and is supported by Department of Health funding. 

New app for cancer care families

In 2015–2016, the Queensland Paediatric, Palliative, 

Haematology and Oncology Network (QPPHON) developed 

and launched a new app which gives families easy access 

to information on childhood cancer care and advice on what 

to do and who to contact in response to clinical signs and 

symptoms. The app links to a statewide directory of 24-hour 

contact numbers in an emergency, as well as to non-emergency 

contacts, hospital locations, maps and directions to hospitals 

which are part of QPPHON.

Families can also record blood counts, notes and appointment 

details and provide feedback via the app. Oncology families 

were consulted in the development of the app and provided 

valuable feedback in subsequent upgrades. The app has been 

downloaded 568 times and won a Queensland Health eHealth 

Award in June 2016 (read more on page 42). 

Wig library boosts cancer patients’ confidence

For young people with cancer, hair loss can be a devastating 

side-effect of their treatment, which can continue for up to 

18 months. Many patients are unable to buy a wig due to the 

financial burden that cancer imposes on a family. 

In 2015–2016, teenage cancer patients at LCCH received a 

much-needed confidence boost thanks to a free wig library 

established with a Cancer Council Queensland Community 

Grant. The library consists of 42 custom-made wigs in various 

styles and colours, available to 13 to 18-year-olds. 

Teenager cancer patients provided input and suggestions in 

creating the wig styles and were delighted with the outcome. 

The wig library aims to give every teenager and young adult the 

option of  wearing a wig regardless of their family’s financial 

circumstances. 
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Queensland Specialist Immunisation Service

Queensland children and young people with complex 

immunisation needs can access greater protection against 

life-threatening vaccine-preventable diseases through the 

new Queensland Specialist Immunisation Service, which was 

launched by the Minister for Health and Ambulance Services 

Cameron Dick in June 2016. 

The service, based at LCCH, provides evidence-based advice  

and vaccination recommendations for children with complex 

medical problems. It also assists those who have experienced, 

or are at risk of an adverse event following vaccination as part  

of specialist immunisation clinics. 

The service also provides a new Immunisation Centre at 

the LCCH which will offer routine vaccinations on the National 

Immunisation Program Schedule to outpatients and their 

siblings. A phone advice line and telehealth will be provided for 

health professionals who need specialist immunisation advice 

for at-risk patients. The Queensland Specialist Immunisation 

Service will be funded annually at a cost of $1.6 million by the 

Department of Health.

Distraction art helps haemophilia patients

Children receiving haemophilia treatment at the LCCH are 

benefitting from a more fun and child-friendly environment, 

thanks to new distraction imagery donated by Haemophilia 

Foundation Queensland. A decorative wall wrap, which aims 

to reduce a child’s anxiety and stress before, during and 

after procedures, was unveiled in the hospital’s haemophilia 

treatment room on World Haemophilia Day on 17 April 2016.  

The Queensland Children’s Haemophilia Centre, based in the 

LCCH, cares for approximately 90 children and young people 

with severe and moderate haemophilia.

Leading the fight against antibiotic resistance

The threat of antibiotic resistance due to misuse is a global 

health issue for governments, health professionals and 

communities. Children’s Health Queensland is leading the way 

in the fight against antibiotic resistance with a new website 

for health professionals. Australians, along with Americans, 

are among the highest users of antibiotics in the world. High 

consumption of antibiotics increases resistance, which in turn 

leaves children vulnerable to multidrug-resistant bacteria.

The mobile-friendly Antimicrobial Stewardship (AMS) website, 

developed by the LCCH pharmacy department and antimicrobial 

stewardship team, provides easy-to-access information for 

prescribers on safe and appropriate use of antimicrobials. It 

includes infection-management information, guidelines and 

e-learning tools. Within a month of the site’s launch in April 

2016, it had attracted more than 2,400 users and more than 

5,000 sessions. The majority of hits on the website were from 

Brisbane practitioners and there was also strong interest in the 

new website from across Australia and worldwide. The website 

was nominated as a finalist in the Queensland Health eHealth 

Awards 2016.



In an Australian first, LCCH’s occupational therapy, speech 

and language pathology departments introduced innovative 

technology to the hospital’s Paediatric Intensive Care Unit to help 

a young patient communicate using eye movements. 

The loss of the ability to communicate at a time of illness or 

trauma can complicate patient care, cause great stress for patients 

and families and can lead to long-term mental health issues.

Through the combined efforts of staff, Samuel Thorne and his 

family, the Tobii EyeMobile system was successfully trialled at the 

hospital. The 10-year-old is now able to communicate effectively 

using Tobii eye-gaze. 

Tobii eye-gaze allows hands-free access to Windows 8 Pro tablets, 

giving children like Sam the ability to navigate, control and access 

apps, the internet, music, e-books, social media, games and more 

through the natural movements of the eyes. 

This innovative technology allows children to participate in a 

range of age-appropriate activities and learning opportunities. 

This system also ensures effective communication within a 

hospital setting. The project was also a finalist in the Queensland 

Health eHealth Awards 2016. 

Samuel was diagnosed with transverse myelitis, a rare 

neurological disorder, in November 2015. The condition, which 

caused a severe spinal cord injury, means Samuel can no longer 

walk, has no movement in his arms and needs a ventilator to help 

him breathe. In addition, the tracheostomy he needed makes 

it very difficult for him to talk.

Eye-gaze technology gives Sam a voice
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Lifelong support for metabolic patients

Children’s Health Queensland has partnered with Mater Health 

Services to establish a sustainable model of care that supports 

metabolic patients across their lifespan. The Queensland Lifespan 

Metabolic Medicine Service (QLMMS) is the first of its type in 

Australia and has received positive feedback from children and 

families, as well as from adult patients with metabolic disease. 

In April 2016, Department of Health funding enabled the 

recruitment of an additional consultant based at Mater Health 

Services and a metabolic nurse practitioner at Children’s 

Health Queensland. The objective of the service is to provide  

a holistic service to patients, encompassing all aspects of care 

by blending the nursing/medical model. Children’s Health 

Queensland nurses in QLMMS ensure continuity of care, 

minimising drop-out among young adults. They work closely 

with Mater Health Services to manage metabolic disease 

among adult patients. 

Intra-operative MRI at LCCH

LCCH launched its intra-operative MRI service in August 

2015. It is among the first hospitals in the world to have an 

interconnected neurosurgery theatre, cardiac interventional 

angiography suite and an MRI scanning room. The specially 

designed system enables the patient to stay safely in the same 

position on a detachable table top as they are transferred from 

a theatre table to a MRI table.

The intra-operative scanner improves accuracy and effectiveness 

of surgeries by enabling surgeons to image a patient during a 

procedure to see if it has been successful or if further resection is 

required. Intra-operative MRI is very useful for tumour resection 

and can aid surgeons in achieving and then confirming complete 

resections. It is particularly helpful when surgeons are trying 

to remove lesions that are very small and difficult to find. Intra-

operative MRI was used in eight neurosurgical brain tumour 

surgical cases at the LCCH in 2015–2016.
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Nurse navigators provide specialist support

As part of a Queensland-wide program, five nurse navigators 

were appointed to Children’s Health Queensland in 2016 

to provide specialist support to children and families with 

complex conditions or specific needs. The specialist team 

consists of nurse navigators for home ventilation, parenteral 

nutrition, paediatrics transition and general paediatrics, as well 

as for families from rural and remote areas. 

The nurse navigators form part of Children’s Health 

Queensland’s Connected Care Program and work with eligible 

children and their families. They act as a central point of 

contact for families and other healthcare providers throughout 

a child’s healthcare journey. They also work to build effective 

communication linkages between healthcare providers and 

coordinate appointments, medications and tests. Where 

necessary, the nurse navigators help with travel arrangements 

and access to available travel assistance.

Better pain services for Queensland children

In 2015–2016, Paediatric Persistent Pain Management Service 

(PPPMS) secured recurrent funding to help children across 

Queensland who live with persistent pain. The services include 

a pain specialist, nurse practitioner and allied health and 

administration staff who deliver outpatient and telehealth 

services. This new service broadens the existing paediatric pain 

service and enables LCCH to serve as a dedicated statewide hub 

to support regional services.

As part of LCCH pain services, a nurse practitioner for our 

acute pain service was established to provide evidence-based 

contemporary pain management for children recovering from 

surgery, trauma or acute illness. The service provides inpatient 

management and outpatient sub-acute pain management 

through the use of telehealth, outpatient clinics and telephone 

support. Since February 2016, the service received 17-20 new 

referrals each month and provided more than 143 occasions 

of service per month. It also provided a vital link with primary 

healthcare providers and liaised with GPs to ensure early 

intervention by allied health staff and other clinicians. 

The therapeutic benefit of music is another strand of the 

hospital’s pain management service. In an Australian first, a 

senior music therapist was appointed to the PPPMS to support 

children and adolescents experiencing persistent pain.

 In 2015–2016, LCCH’s music therapist worked with many 

children and young people, and contributed to developing 

an allied health model of care in paediatric persistent pain 

management.

Home therapy supports family autonomy

Many children with primary immune deficiency need lifelong 

immunoglobulin replacement therapy which necessitates hospital 

admissions for intravenous therapy every month. In February 

2016, the Queensland Paediatric Immunology and Allergy Service 

established a home-based subcutaneous immunoglobulin 

(SCIg) replacement therapy service, giving families greater 

autonomy to manage their child’s treatment. As part of the 

program parents or carers learn to administer the therapy to 

children through a small needle in the skin. By administering 

SClg at home, families experience reduced disruption and 

children can continue with school and other activities.  

Improved allied health processes

The occupational therapy and physiotherapy departments 

embarked on a number of improvement projects in 2015–

2016. A new prioritisation and capacity management model 

for occupational therapy has resulted in staff feeling more 

capable and confident about prioritising services based on 

agreed criteria. The two teams have also taken a leading role 

in implementing standardised processes for clinical handover, 

including developing new videos on safe handover practices.

Sedation collaboration yields results

Fewer children will need a general anaesthetic for behavioural 

hearing or electrophysiological assessments thanks to a new 

procedure that enables these assessments to be performed safely 

under sedation in the hospital’s surgical day unit. The new service, 

developed corroboratively by the anaesthetic, audiology, ear, 

nose and throat, and surgical day unit teams, has improved the 

hospital experience for children who cannot be assessed using 

conventional methods in the audiology outpatient department. 

The audiology team carried out the first auditory brainstem 

response tests under sedation at the hospital in June 2016 with 

excellent results. Sedating children in the surgical day unit also 

reduces the demand on theatres. 

Children’s Health Queensland launched the Platform 18 

primary healthcare service for 15- to 18-year-olds in the 

Brisbane area who may be subject to child protection 

orders in 2015–2016. The free service, provided at the LCCH 

or as an outreach program, aims to help young people as 

they transition to independence. The service offers nurse-

led health assessments and support covering all aspects of 

a young person’s health and wellbeing. Assessments and 

services included immunisation catch-ups, sexual health 

screening and access to dental checks.

Platform 18 helps teen transition



2.1.2 Child and Youth Community Health Service

18   Annual Report 2015-2016 OUR PERFORMANCE 

PEDS targets developmental concerns

An estimated 25 per cent of children begin school 

underprepared to embark on their formal education.  

To improve identification rates of children with developmental 

and behavioural issues before they start school, Children’s 

Health Queensland is supporting the statewide adoption of the 

Parents’ Evaluation of Development Status (PEDS).

PEDS is a set of 10 simple questions included in the Personal 

Health Record, also known as the Red Book, provided to the 

parents of every newborn in Queensland. In 2015–2016, PEDS has 

been delivered to more than 77,000 families across Queensland. 

The evidence-based questionnaire can be completed by parents 

at home or in consultation with their healthcare provider at a 

child’s designated health check at six months, 12 months,  

18 months, 2.5 years to 3.5 years and four-to five-years.

Research has shown that the PEDS questions help parents raise 

any concerns that they may have about their child’s language, 

motor skills, self-help capabilities, preschool/school skills, 

behaviour and social-emotional health.

The tool aims to encourage parents to raise any concerns about 

their child’s development early on in life and take action early to 

ensure each child reaches their full potential. 

Free messaging service for new parents

In April 2016, the Centre for Children’s Health and 

Wellbeing launched a free text messaging trial to support 

new and expectant Queensland parents in South 

East Queensland. The Connecting2U program aims to 

address common family needs and concerns, promote 

wellness in all family members, empower parents 

and address important factors affecting families.

The Child and Youth Community Health 

Service (CYCHS) brings together a variety 

of primary health and specialist services 

dedicated to helping children and their 

families lead healthier lives.

Our multidisciplinary teams of child and youth 

health nurses, Indigenous health workers, 

early intervention clinicians, allied health, 

doctors and other professional staff deliver a 

comprehensive range of  health promotion, 

assessment, intervention and treatment services 

for children and families in Greater Brisbane 

metropolitan area and in other locations across 

Queensland. We provide access to community 

care for almost 500,000 children in the Greater 

Brisbane area, approximately 42 per cent of all 

children in Queensland. Services are delivered 

in community health centres, clinics, schools 

and shopping centres.

Community-based services include:

• Child Development

• Child Health

• School-based Youth Health Service

CYCHS teams also reach children and families 

across Queensland through a number of 

specialist statewide services and programs. 

These include:

• Centre for Children’s Health and Wellbeing

• Deadly Ears (Indigenous ear health)

• The Ellen Barron Family Centre

• Good Start (for Pacific Islander and Maori 

Communities)

• Healthy Hearing Program (newborn hearing 

screening)

• Queensland Hearing Loss Family Support 

Service

• Statewide Child and Youth Health.



Since the trial began, more than 3,000 new parents  

whose babies were born in the Beaudesert, Logan, Redlands 

and Mater Mother’s hospitals received weekly postnatal tips, 

reminders and advice for the first six months of their child’s life. 

The messages are based on strategies to support healthy infant 

growth and development, and promote healthy behaviours and 

health literacy for parents. 

Primary School Nurse Health Readiness Program

Children’s Health Queensland developed the Primary School 

Nurse Health Readiness Program which will ultimately see every 

prep student in Queensland screened for vision problems. 

Vision screening is vital in early childhood, particularly for 

conditions such as amblyopia, or a 'lazy eye', which if not 

detected early can lead to blindness. 

This condition can also have far-reaching and life-long 

implications throughout children’s lives, into adolescence and 

adulthood, substantially affecting both their educational and 

employment outcomes.

As part of the program, 31 new nurses will be appointed 

between April 2016 and January 2017 to deliver the program 

across the state. In addition to vision screening, the nurses will 

work with Children’s Health Queensland’s Centre for Children’s 

Health and Wellbeing to provide extra support in communities 

where other factors, such as development and poor nutrition, 

may impact school readiness. 

Lifting the Lip to halt tooth decay

In children, oral hygiene is a good predictor of future tooth 

decay and long-term health outcomes. With more than half of 

Queensland children and young people aged between five and 

15 suffering from tooth decay, Children’s Health Queensland is 

working to give young Queenslanders a healthier start to life. In 

March 2016, Children’s Health Queensland, in partnership with 

Metro North and South Oral Health Services, launched Lift the 

Lip – a public oral health awareness and prevention program 

which aims to reduce tooth decay through early intervention. 

As part of the program, child health nurses undertake screening 

for tooth decay and dental disease during key age development 

assessments, and, when required, refer patients to oral health 

practitioners for treatment. 

The program has been established in five locations across 

Greater Brisbane, with full roll-out due by December 2016. Since 

the program’s launch, one in three families have been referred 

to oral health services for early treatment with high attendance 

rates recorded following referral. 
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Child development training enhanced

The Child Development Service provided statewide training 

to more than 350 clinicians, including doctors, allied health 

staff and nurses who work in specialist paediatric child 

development. Education and training programs focused on 

diagnosis, treatment planning and family-centered intervention. 

Participants registered high levels of satisfaction, with more 

than 90 per cent reporting they had benefited from the training. 

The Child Development Service Learning and Development 

Strategy, developed in 2014, provided the roadmap for 

multidisciplinary education and quality improvement. In 

2015, senior clinicians in the Child Development Service 

contributed to the development of education modules 

aimed at embedding ways of working with families which 

ensure improved health outcomes for children. 

Key principles in the Learning and Development Strategy 

are family-centered care, partnership with community and 

promotion of healthy outcomes throughout a child’s life.

CYCHS fast facts 2015-16

newborns 
screened 
for hearing 
loss

111,086
Community 
health 
occasions 
of service

800 Good Start sessions 
in schools and communities

61,686

1,455 ENT assessments of 
Indigenous children

3,000
new parents 
supported with 
child health tips 
and SMS messages 



Healthy Hearing leads the way

Children’s Health Queensland’s Healthy Hearing Program 

provides early identification, support and treatment to 

children born with a bilateral moderate or greater degree of 

hearing loss. When hearing problems are detected early, and 

treatment begins before babies are six months old, they have 

a stronger chance of heading off future communication, health 

and learning issues. Free hearing screening is provided to all 

babies soon after birth in private and public birthing hospitals 

across Queensland. The program screens 99 per cent of all 

live births, with more than 61,686 infants between 1 July 2015 

and 30 June 2016.

The Healthy Hearing team is committed to pioneering 

innovative approaches to hearing screening. After a 

comprehensive evaluation process in 2015, Queensland 

will become the first state to transition to the Otometrics 

Accuscreen – a device which will enable Healthy Hearing 

screeners to accurately screen Queensland’s newborns in a 

shorter time.

In a further improvement, the audiology department 

developed a new Hearing Implant module in QChild, which 

is the operational system providing patient and data for the 

statewide Healthy Hearing and Deadly Ears programs.  

This will improve patient management, outcomes and  

activity reporting.

Since the statewide program's launch 12 years ago, staff have 

performed more than 660,000 hearing screens and identified 

more than 1,350 children with a hearing loss.
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Ellen Barron Family Centre 

Providing parental 
support, health info, 
education and links 
to community

2,000+
Provided support to

families to build 
practical parenting 
skills and strategies

2,505 2015-2016
centre admissions

8,911 2015-2016
occupied bed days

Parenting courses boost confidence

The Ellen Barron Family Centre in Chermside provides a 

specialist child health service to families who require support 

with building practical skills and confidence in parenting. In 

2015–2016, the centre supported more than 2,500 families 

from Queensland and northern New South Wales who were 

experiencing sleep and settling issues with their babies.

The centre also supports health professionals by providing 

advanced training in community and developmental paediatrics. 

As part of the specialised training, paediatric registrars 

undertake three-to-six-month placements to further their skills 

in the areas of growth, nutrition, development and common 

paediatric conditions in infancy and early childhood. 

In 2015, the Royal Australasian College of Physicians Advanced 

Training Committee provided accreditation for the Ellen Barron 

Family Centre to continue operating as a paediatric training 

facility until 2021.



264 Good Start sessions 
run in the community 539 Good Start sessions 

run in schools
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Hearing loss app supports families

In January 2016, the Queensland Hearing Loss Family Support 

Service launched the EARS for Kids app to support families 

whose children have been diagnosed with 

permanent hearing loss. The app allows parents 

and carers to quickly access information about 

hearing loss and to store their child’s reports, 

audiograms and other information. Other features 

allow parents to book and track appointments, 

request a call-back from a support specialist or ask 

for specific health information. Since its launch, 

the user-friendly app has been downloaded 

more than 400 times. The app was funded by the 

Children’s Hospital Foundation through the Children’s Health 

Queensland Innovation Grant program. 

Deadly Ears tackles Indigenous ear disease

The award-winning Deadly Ears program continued to reduce the 

high rates of otitis media (middle-ear disease) in Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander children. Since the program was launched 

in 2007, the Deadly Ears Program has conducted 12,680 ear, 

nose and throat (ENT) assessments of children, performed 1,458 

ENT surgeries and trained approximately 1,000 service providers 

across Queensland. Over the past year, Deadly Ears conducted 

more than 1,427 assessments of children by ENT specialists,  

1,195 audiological assessments and 134 ENT surgeries.

Thanks to the program, the number of children diagnosed with 

at least one middle-ear condition at ENT clinics has decreased 

from 65 per cent to 23.9 per cent. The proportion of children 

presenting at ENT clinics with chronic suppurative otitis media 

– one of the severest forms of middle-ear disease –  more than 

halved from 16 per cent in 2010 to 6.7 per cent in 2015. 

Good start for Maori and Pacific Islander children

Children’s Health Queensland’s Good Start Program continued 

its work to reduce the high incidence of chronic disease and 

obesity in Maori and Pacific Islander children. The program 

aims to improve the health of children and communities 

by working with families to build skills, knowledge and 

confidence about healthy eating, exercise and lifestyles.  

In 2015–2016, the Good Start Program facilitated more than 

800 nutrition and physical activity sessions with children and 

families at local schools and in the community. 

To improve the knowledge and understanding of maternal 

and early childhood health in Maori and Pacific Islander 

communities, the program also developed a suite of ‘Good 

Start to Life’ educational resources in 2016. The project aims 

to address the high rate of Maori and Pacific Islander women 

diagnosed with gestational diabetes mellitus – which is more 

than double the statewide average – and to lower the obesity 

rate in pregnant women.

Through the project, health professionals talk with parents 

about healthy weight gain during pregnancy, the importance 

of antenatal care, breastfeeding support and infant nutrition. 

If left untreated, gestational diabetes poses significant risks 

for both mothers and their babies during the birthing process. 

Babies born to mothers with gestational diabetes are also 

more likely to be obese during childhood and develop Type 2 

diabetes later in life.

Other key achievements in 2015-2016 included working on the 

establishment of a Cross Cultural Capability Training Program 

for health professionals. This will focus on dietary and cultural 

practices of the seven main Maori and Pacific Islander cultural 

groups in Queensland. 



Extended treatment and rehabilitation care

CYMHS continues to lead the implementation of the statewide 

Adolescent Mental Health Extended Treatment initiative to 

ensure young people and their families can access safe,  

high-quality mental health extended treatment and 

rehabilitation services as close as possible to their home  

or community. Key services established includes:

• Nine Assertive Mobile Youth Outreach Service teams which 

provide recovery-oriented assessment, treatment  

and care for young people with complex health needs in  

the family home or community at locations in Brisbane and 

across the state.

• A new Adolescent Day Program facility in north Brisbane, 

which provides intensive therapy and extended  

treatment options.

• Sub-acute beds at the LCCH for adolescents who need 

medium-term treatment and rehabilitation in a secure,  

safe and structured hospital-based environment.  

New adolescent services open in Townsville 

Young people in North Queensland can now access safe and 

high-quality long-term mental health rehabilitation services 

closer to home with the opening of two youth residential 

facilities in Townsville.

The community-based four-bed units, delivered through a 

four-year $10.3 million funding commitment by the Queensland 

Government, are managed by the non-government organisation 

Mind Australia in partnership with Children’s Health Queensland. 

The residential units aim to help young people (aged 16 to 21) with 

severe and complex mental health problems develop the life skills 

they need to maintain independence and emotional wellbeing.

Most importantly, these local facilities mean a young person who 

requires longer-term accommodation and support can maintain 

connections with family, friends and their community.

Each facility provides supported accommodation 24 hours a day, 

seven-days-a-week for four young people in accordance with 

the Youth Residential Model of Service developed by Children’s 

Health Queensland.  

This new model of service was developed following a 

comprehensive review of the way extended mental health 

treatment and rehabilitation care is provided to young people. 

The new Townsville youth residential units add to existing units 

in South Brisbane and Cairns.

2.1.3 Child and Youth Mental Health Service
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The Child and Youth Mental Health 

Service (CYMHS) provides comprehensive, 

collaborative, client and family-centred 

care for infants, children, young people 

and families in need of specialised mental 

health treatment. CYMHS aims to improve the 

mental health and wellbeing of children and 

young people and their carer networks using 

a recovery-focused model.

CYMHS provides services based at Lady Cilento 

Children’s Hospital (LCCH),  community-

based services within  the greater Brisbane 

metropolitan area as well as offering a range of   

specialist services across the state.

In alignment with national and state clinical 

reform priorities for mental health, CYMHS 

provides  acute and tertiary specialities 

including:
• Acute child inpatient unit (incorporating a 

family admission suite) at LCCH

• Acute adolescent inpatient unit at LCCH

• Day programs

• Forensic mental health

• Queensland Centre for Perinatal and Infant 

Mental Health

• Six  community clinics in Brisbane (Inala, 

Strathpine, Yeronga, Nundah, Mt Gravatt and 

Keperra  )

• Eating Disorders Team (Greenslopes)

• Acute Response Team

• Tele-psychiatry (e-CYMHS)

• Consultation liaison

• Evolve Therapeutic Services

• Early Intervention Specialist Programs.

CYMHS has a responsive  mechanism for triage, 

assessment and intervention. High priority 

is placed on collaborative care, consultation, 

client choices and partnering with families and 

stakeholders to achieve optimal outcomes. 



Training for foster carers and professionals

Evolve Therapeutic Services (ETS) is a Queensland-wide 

program which provides therapeutic and behaviour support 

services for children and young people on child protection 

orders and in out-of-home care. 

CYMHS, which is responsible for delivering the Brisbane North 

and Brisbane South ETS, provided free training to foster carers 

and professionals in 2015–2016. Training focused on the needs 

of children and young people in out-of-home care/residential 

care, child/neurobiological development, the effects of trauma, 

abuse and disrupted attachment and support strategies for staff. 

In the past year, ETS Brisbane North held 93 training sessions 

for more than 700 participants, while ETS Brisbane South held 

55 training sessions, also with more than 700 participants. 

Acute Response Team redesign

Acute child and youth mental health care was successfully 

redesigned in 2015 after the merger of services provided by 

Children’s Health Queensland and Mater Health Services. 

The Adaptive Responsive Care Clinical Re-design Project, 

which was launched in 2014, led to the development of the 

CYMHS Acute Response Team (ART). This year, ART focused 

on improving the experiences of children, young people and 

their families who present to the Emergency departments at 

LCCH, The Prince Charles Hospital and the Royal Brisbane and 

Women’s Psychiatric Emergency Centre, by offering specialist 

triage, assessment and crisis management. 

Since December 2015, ART has delivered more than 7,000 

provisions of service. Other achievements include the 

establishment of a 24-hour dedicated team based at LCCH; a 

24/7 crisis telephone line; improved National Emergency Access 

Targets (NEAT); an increase in hospital avoidance and a boost 

in consumer and family satisfaction and support. The clinical 

redesign initiative was a finalist in the Customer Focus category 

for the Queensland Health Awards for Excellence in 2015. 

Integrated treatment for substance abuse

The Mental Health Alcohol Tobacco and Other Drugs Service 

provides multidisciplinary clinical assessment, intervention 

and program development to assist young people in the 

Brisbane Youth Detention Centre experiencing acute mental 

health problems. This frequently requires integrated treatment 

for substance abuse issues. Almost 100 young people 

participated in ongoing treatment and 54 were involved in 

targeted drug and alcohol groups. 
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CYMHS fast facts 2015-16

occasions 
of service

5,945
Provided support to

clients

eCYMHS tele-psychiatry 

1,004
1,302

4,825 new
referrals

calls to the CYMHS 
crisis hotline

67,277

Trauma training for Youth Justice staff

In 2015, the statewide ETS program management team, 

hosted by CYMHS, was approached to provide training to 

Youth Justice staff to help them in their work with young 

people in the youth justice system. 

The training, developed in collaboration with Youth Justice, 

the Department of Justice and Attorney-General and the ETS 

Queensland Health team, was designed to provide a shared 

language and understanding of the impact of trauma on young 

people, families and communities, including on Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander people. 

The training was also designed to provide practical and useful 

strategies for Youth Justice staff working in both detention 

and community settings. In collaboration with ETS staff 

from across the state, a total of 630 Youth Justice staff and 

other stakeholders attended 37 training session delivered 

between March and May 2016. Evaluation of training showed 

participants had developed increased confidence in the use 

of trauma-informed practice and strategies. 



“ A suite of new 

publications provides 

useful information about 

where to go for help”
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2.1.3 Child and Youth Mental Health Service

Multicultural mental health framework

Young people from culturally and linguistically diverse 

backgrounds are often at a heightened risk of experiencing 

mental health problems. To help address this issue, CYMHS 

launched two pilot services in November 2015. 

The Framework for Mental Health in Multicultural Australia 

(MHiMA): Towards culturally inclusive service delivery was 

introduced at the Inala and Zero to Four CYMHS services. 

The framework is mapped against national and state 

legislation, policies and plans for mental health services 

and is designed to fulfil safety, quality and accreditation 

requirements. It provides a process for self-assessment, 

planning, implementation and evaluation. 

A suite of publications, translated into simplified Chinese, 

Vietnamese, Samoan, Arabic and Farsi, have been developed 

to provide useful information on consumer, carer and family 

rights and where to go for help. A steering committee formed 

at the launch of the project will guide the pilot until June 2017 

when outcomes will be evaluated. 

Forensic adolescent mental health

The first month after a young person’s release from custody is 

a period of high vulnerability, and readmission to detention is 

common. The Forensic Adolescent Mental Health and Alcohol 

and Other Drugs Program is a key partner in the Forensic 

Transition Program, part of the Queensland Indigenous Health 

Investment Strategy. 

The program continued to work on early identification and 

intervention process improvements. Research shows that 

clients re-engaged in transition programs demonstrate a 

decrease in recidivism on discharge.

In 2015–2016, 25 young people were supported, 65 occasions of 

service were provided by CYMHS clinicians, and staff visited 22 

regional community agencies to strengthen referral pathways.

Forensic outreach team

The Child and Youth Forensic Outreach Team (CYFOS) provides 

mental health assessment and consultation services to young 

people who present to courts and Youth Justice Services across 

southern and central Queensland. 

CYFOS staff also offer specialist consultation and support for 

local mental health and youth justice services, and forensic 

mental health assessments and targeted treatments to young 

people who are at risk of entering the justice system. 

In 2015–2016, CYFOS expanded its court-response service 

to include four of the Brisbane Children’s Courts. CYFOS was 

also involved in a collaborative pilot program with Brisbane 

South Youth Justice Service, which is aimed at providing early 

intervention to support young people. CYFOS had a 24 per cent 

increase in annual referrals, with 146 consultation cases and 

115 young people undergoing specialist forensic mental health 

risk assessments.



Depression and anxiety in the perinatal period can 

have a significant impact on a parent’s ability to 

cope with day-to-day life, including taking care of 

themselves, their baby and other family members. Staff 

from the Queensland Centre for Perinatal and Infant 

Mental Health (QCPIMH) took part in the Pregnancy, 

Babies and Children’s Expo held at South Bank in 

June 2016, to promote good mental health in the 

perinatal period. More than 4,800 printed resource 

packs were distributed to visitors to the QCPIMH stand, 

which has had a  presence at the popular expo for the 

past seven years. In 2016, QCPIMH also undertook a 

communications and learning project. A number of 

mental health promotion and prevention resources 

were developed to raise awareness of sound emotional 

health and wellbeing during pregnancy and early 

parenting. These resources included printed and digital 

information and the development of a new section of 

the Children’s Health Queensland website. 

Promoting positive mental health for families
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CYMHS consumer engagement initiatives

CYMHS engages with the community through clinic forums, 

client and carer surveys, discharge surveys, the annual 

statewide Consumer Perceptions of Care survey and parent/

carer questionnaires.

In 2015–2016, in consultation with families, CYMHS produced 

a quarterly consumer newsletter, WrapAround, and facilitated 

the Consumer and Carer Network, providing information about 

upcoming events, forums and community activities.

Consumer-carer consultants also visited CYMHS inpatient units, 

met with parents/carers who attend CYMHS community clinics 

and participated in the Day Program Parent Group, workshops, 

conferences and training programs and consumer group meetings. 

Other community engagement initiatives include a youth 

advisory group, Beautiful Minds, and a parent carer advisory 

group. These groups meet regularly with CYMHS staff to provide 

advice and input into service development activities and 

initiatives. 

The parent carer advisory group's notable achievements 

include designing new medication resources, speaking at 

training days and conferences and working with community 

organisations to destigmatise mental health.

Zero to Four celebrates five years

The Zero to Four Family Support Service which is part of the 

Queensland Centre for Perinatal and Infant Mental Health 

has been in operation for the past five years. It is a family 

support program funded by the Department of Communities, 

Child Safety and Disability Services. The service caters for 

families with babies and young children up to the age of four 

who live in Brisbane’s northern and western suburbs. 

Service staff oversee and coordinate a group of volunteers who 

assist families in their homes once-a-week over a 12-month 

period. These volunteers reduce families’ social isolation 

by linking them to community support networks such as 

playgroups, day-care providers and community centres. In 

2015–2016, the Zero to Four Family Support Service initiated 

131 home visits to 18 families.



2.1.4 Statewide Services
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Improved statewide collaboration

Children’s Health Queensland plays a pivotal role in a wide 

range of statewide networks aimed at enhancing health 

outcomes for children and young people.

In March 2016, the Queensland Child and Youth Clinical 

Network (QCYN) facilitated a two-day Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Island Child and Youth Health Worker Forum at LCCH.  

It brought together 82 staff from across Queensland to 

increase their knowledge and skills, establish networks, 

generate ideas, and identify problems and solutions facing 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Child and Youth Health 

workers. Participants resolved to create a new steering 

committee to oversee the development of four cluster 

networking groups to provide strategic direction and advice to 

this workforce. This will support the delivery of improved care 

of Indigenous families across Queensland.

Children’s Health Queensland also spearheaded the formation 

in 2015–2016 of a new Occupational Therapy Paediatrics 

Collaborative. Almost all hospital and health services 

across the state are taking part in this collaboration aimed 

at fostering innovative service delivery models across the 

continuum of paediatric occupational therapy care.

Connected Care Program

Children’s Health Queensland’s successful Connected Care 

Program boosted its reach to 775 children and their families 

in 2015–2016, an increase of 66 per cent compared with 

2014–2015. 

The program has significantly improved families’ access to 

specialist paediatric services. It supports families with children 

who have complex and chronic health conditions, especially 

those living in regional and rural areas. 

This support is delivered through a statewide network of care, 

with coordinators located across metropolitan, regional, rural 

and remote hospital and health services.

 The coordinators also provide ongoing support to people who 

require specialist outpatient appointments at the LCCH, to 

streamline appointments and travel arrangements.  

The Connected Care team works alongside the LCCH’s new 

nurse navigators, who provide additional specialist support for 

families (read more about nurse navigators on page 17).

The Connected Care and Nurse Navigator programs are 

improving partnerships between families and their healthcare 

teams, which ensures the  sickest children receive the right 

care, at the right time, as close to home as possible.

Children’s Health Queensland is the 

state’s only hospital and health service 

dedicated to paediatric healthcare. We 

are continually building and enhancing 

a network of support services to ensure 

we provide quality healthcare to children, 

young people and their families, 

regardless of where they live. 

The Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH), 

together with our Child and Youth Community 

Health Service and the Child and Youth Mental 

Health Service, supports Queensland’s 15 

other hospital and health services through 

the provision of more than 50 statewide 

paediatric outreach and telehealth services. 

As part of this mission, we support and second 

leaders to the Queensland Child and Youth 

Clinical Network (QCYN) which is focused on 

clinical practice improvements and providing 

expertise and advice to hospital and health 

services across the state.

Statewide fast facts 2015-16

Patients transferred by  
Children’s Advice and  
Transport Coordination 
Service

33,500+ Calls to the Poisons 
Information Centre

7 

242
559 Children transported 

by retrieval service

2,774

Critical incidents reviewed 
by the Queensland Children’s 
Critical Incidents Panel

supported by the Queensland 
Youth Cancer Service



Retrieval Service expanded

Children’s Health Queensland’s Retrieval Service (CHQRS)  

continued to strengthen and enhance its statewide role in 

2015–2016, coordinating and performing the retrieval of 615 

children to the LCCH. The service also recorded 910 requests for 

advice from other hospital and health services in the past year. 

CHQRS is dedicated to the stabilisation and retrieval of infants 

and children from across Queensland and northern New South 

Wales who require care in the speciality areas of congenital 

heart disease, burns, oncology, liver conditions, respiratory and 

medical/surgical conditions and extracorporeal life support. 

In October 2015, the Department of Health allocated additional 

funding to the service, which has allowed the service to expand 

its reach, training and advocacy roles.

The retrieval service is also leading the development and 

education of key stakeholders in paediatric retrieval care and 

processes across Queensland and northern New South Wales. 

This ensures increased knowledge about the retrieval process 

and retrieval-specific equipment in order to deliver safe, high-

quality care at every stage of a patient retrieval. 

It is now delivering outreach training on the retrieval process 

and how to prepare a patient for retrieval to 13 partner services 

and hospitals. These include the Royal Flying Doctor Service, 

LifeFlight (formerly CareFlight), the Queensland Ambulance 

Service Specialist Transport Retrieval Unit, Caboolture Hospital, 

Ipswich Hospital, Logan Hospital and the Tweed Hospital. 

This year, CHQRS clinicians worked in collaboration with the 

Royal Flying Doctor Service and Life Flight to develop a work 

instruction for the use of humidified high-flow nasal prong 

oxygen therapy for improved access to this life-saving treatment 

by retrieval services statewide. 
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Children’s Advice and Transport Coordination Hub

Further expansion of the Children’s Advice and Transfer 

Coordination Hub (CATCH) service at the LCCH in 2015–2016 

delivered an enhanced statewide system of providing clinical 

advice and transfer coordination for Queensland children. 

The service, which celebrated its first anniversary at the LCCH 

in February 2016, ensures regional, rural and remote clinicians 

– who are often faced with patients presenting with uncommon 

paediatric healthcare needs – can get the right information 

from the right clinician at the right time to make informed 

decisions about treatment options and whether a patient 

transfer is required. 

In 2015–2016, CATCH facilitated the integrated, inter-hospital 

transfer of 2,744 children in and out of the LCCH and provided 

expert transport advice on 607 occasions. Some 147 patients 

who were originally assessed as low-acuity at a local level were 

determined by CATCH to need referral to Retrieval Services 

Queensland.

The team also provided 575 paediatric, specialist 

teleconference and telehealth services to health professionals 

caring for children across the state. 

Queensland Children’s Critical Incident Panel 

The Queensland Children’s Critical Incident Panel provided 

expert paediatric support at seven critical incidents in 

Queensland in 2015–2016. The panel has provided expertise on 

17 cases since it was established in 2014. 

A panel of 27 expert clinicians from across the state have 

supported local clinical teams to review critical incidents, 

implement coronial recommendations and support these teams 

to prevent similar events from reoccurring. 

The panel also completed five professional development 

forums to expand their knowledge base and provide 

opportunities to translate learning into improved practice.  

During this time, Children’s Health Queensland continued to 

foster collaborative partnership opportunities with other health 

jurisdictions, including the New South Wales Clinical Excellence 

Commission, to align processes and learning opportunities for 

paediatric critical incidents across the country. 
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2.1.4 Statewide Services

Children’s Health Queensland, in partnership with the 

Department of Education, is leading the way in helping to close 

the gap in health outcomes for Indigenous children following 

the March 2016 launch of Deadly Kids, Deadly Futures, 

Queensland’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Child Ear 

and Hearing Health Framework 2016–2026.

The Australian-first framework is a shared vision between the 

health, early childhood and schooling sectors and Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander families and communities. It is 

focused on preventing and managing the high rate of middle-

ear disease, or otitis media, in Indigenous children. 

The framework, launched by the Minister for Health and 

Ambulance Services Cameron Dick, identifies 36 practical 

actions to be implemented in the health, early childhood and 

education sectors over the next 10 years. The overarching 

goal is to enhance and improve ear-health services so every 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander child has the best 

opportunity to listen, learn and reach their full potential. 

It is built on the foundations of the earlier, highly successful 

Deadly Ears, Deadly Kids, Deadly Communities framework, 

which has seen considerable improvements in Indigenous 

child-ear health over the past decade.

Queensland Health’s Deadly Ears Program will be responsible 

for developing and coordinating the framework in partnership 

with the Department of Education and Training and key non-

government stakeholders. These include the Queensland 

Aboriginal and Islander Health Council, the Institute for Urban 

Indigenous Health, the Apunipima Cape York Health Council, the 

Royal Flying Doctor Service, the Queensland Catholic Education 

Commission, Independent Schools Queensland, CheckUP, 

Australian Hearing and the Commonwealth Department of 

Health. Read more about the Deadly Ears program, on page 21. 

Deadly Kids,Deadly Futures Framework

Queensland Youth Cancer Service

The Queensland Youth Cancer Service aims to improve 

access to age-appropriate assessment, diagnosis, 

support services and clinical trials for cancer patients 

aged 15 to 25 across the state. In 2015–2016, the service 

supported 242 adolescents and young adults with cancer, 

including 121 new patients. It is a lead service in the 

National Youth Network, providing comprehensive and 

specialised treatment and support for young Australians.

Key achievements in the past year include the 

implementation of national guidelines across 

Queensland to improve access to evidenced-based care 

such as fertility preservation, and adolescent and young 

adults psychosocial assessment, and a new partnership 

with the Queensland Cancer Control Analysis Team 

that has enhanced the Queensland Oncology Online 

electronic data management system. 

More than 100 staff education sessions were also  

delivered to 1,400 people throughout Queensland and 

northern New South Wales via videoconference, in-

services and workshops.

Demand for poison information grows

The Queensland Poisons Information Centre (QPIC) 

provides the general public and health professionals 

prompt, up-to-date and evidence- based clinical 

information and advice to assist in the management of 

poisonings and suspected poisonings. 

QPIC fielded 33,587 calls in 2015–2016, representing an 

8.8 per cent increase on the previous year. This increase 

is largely attributable to the centre introducing a weekly 

overnight shift to take calls from across Australia to 

support colleagues in poisons information centres in 

other states.    

Poisonings or suspected poisonings related to 

household cleaning products, paracetamol and 

Ibuprofen were the three top queries made to QPIC.
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2.1.5 Performance statement

Children's Health Queensland Service standards 2015-16 target/est 2015-16 est.actual 2016-17 target/est Notes

Effectiveness measures

Percentage of patients attending emergency departments seen within recommended timeframes: 1-3

Category 1 (within 2 minutes) 100% 100% 100%

Category 2 (within 10 minutes) 80% 92% 80%

Category 3 (within 30 minutes) 75% 64% 75%

Category 4 (within 60 minutes) 70% 72% 70%

Category 5 (within 120 minutes) 70% 94% 70%

All categories – 73% –

Percentage of emergency department attendances who depart within four hours of their arrival 90% 81% >80% 1,2

Median wait time for treatment in emergency department (minutes) 20 22 20 1,2

Percentage of elective surgery patients treated within clinically recommended times:

Category 1 (30 days) >98% 100% >98% 4

Category 2 (90 days) >95% 84% >95%

Category 3 (365 days) 95% 96% >95%

Median wait time for elective surgery (days) 25 63 25 4

Rate of healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus (including MRSA) bloodstream (SAB) 

infections/10,000 acute public hospital patient days
<2 0.9 <2 5

Rate of community follow-up within 1-7 days following discharge from an acute mental health 

inpatient unit
>65% 57.7% >65% 6

Proportion of readmissions to an acute mental health inpatient unit within 28 days of discharge <12% 9% <12% 7

Percentage of specialist outpatients waiting within clinically recommended times: 8

Category 1 (30 days) – 65% 65%

Category 2 (90 days) – 45% 45%

Category 3 (365 days) – 87% 90%

Efficiency measure

Average cost per weighted activity unit for Activity Based Funding facilities $5,443 $5,483 $5,378 9

Other measures

Total weighted activity units: 10

Acute Inpatient 47,541 50,190 50,571

Outpatients 12,175 10,570 13,001

Sub-acute 418 1,270 327

Emergency Department 8,275 7,880 9,036

Mental Health 2,558 2,753 2,052

Interventions and procedures 2,694 2,925 2,926

Ambulatory mental health service contact duration (hours) >65,116 48,771 >65,767

Notes:

1.  The 2015-16 Estimated Actual figures are based on ten months of actual performance from 1 July 2015 to 30 April 2016. From 2015-16, Queensland Health expanded the centrally collected dataset from 26 emergency 
departments to include an additional 32 emergency services in regional and rural areas around Queensland. This expansion to 58 facilities provides a broader representation of the patients who require emergency services.

2.   This information is sourced from the Queensland Health Emergency Data Collection.

3.  A target for percentage of emergency department patients seen within recommended timeframes is not included for the ‘All Categories’ as there is no national benchmark. The included triage category targets 2015-16 are 
based on the Australasian Triage Scale.

4.  The 2015-16 Estimated Actual figures are based on ten months of actual performance from 1 July 2015 to 30 April 2016.

5.  Staphylococcus aureus are bacteria commonly found on around 30 per cent of people’s skin and often cause no adverse effects. Infections with this organism can be serious, particularly  when they infect the bloodstream. 
The data reported for this service standard are for bloodstream infections with Staphylococcus aureus (including MRSA) and are reported as a rate of infection per 10,000 patient days. The Target/Estimate for this measure 
aligns with the national benchmark of 2 cases per 10,000 acute public hospital patient days. The 2015-16 Estimated Actual figures are based on eight months of actual performance from 1 July 2015 to 29 February 2016.

6.  Queensland has made significant progress in improving the rate of community follow up over the past five years.

7.  Queensland has made significant progress in reducing readmission rates over the past five years, with continued incremental improvements towards the nationally recommended target. The 2016-17 Target/Estimate is the 
nationally recommended target.

8.    The 2015-16 Estimated Actual figures are based on an average of ten months actual performance from 1 July 2015 to 30 April 2016. The 2015-16 did not include a 2015-16 Target/Estimate as the target was under review.  
The review has been completed and has enabled HHS specific targets to be set for 2016-17.

9.  The 2015-16 and 2016-17 Target/Estimate costs reflect the finance and activity schedules of the 2016-17 Round 2 Service Agreements Contract Offers (V3.10). The 2015-16 Target/Estimate is recalculated based on the 
funding provided in the Hospital and Health Service Agreements as at the March 2016 Deed of Amendment and the activity recalculated based on the Activity Based Funding (ABF) model Q19 Round 2 2016-17 Contract 
Offers to enable comparison with 2016-17 Target/Estimate figures. An adjustment for the full year reconciliation of ABF cost by the Hospital and Health Services has been reflected in the 2016-17 figures.

10.  The weighted activity units reflect the finance and activity schedules of the 2016-17 Round 2 Service Agreements Contract Offers (v3.10). The 2015-16 Target/Estimate and the 2015-16 Estimated Actual figures have been 
recalculated as per the finance and activity schedules of the 2016-17 Round 2 Service Agreements Contract Offers (v3.10) to enable comparison.

11.  This measure counts the number of in-scope service contact hours attributable to each HHS, based on the national definition and calculation of service contacts and duration. The target for this measure is determined 
using a standard formula based upon available clinical staffing, HHS rurality, and historical performance. The target is considered aspirational for some HHSs due to a range of issues including the presence of tertiary and 
support services and under-reporting due to the heavy reliance upon clinician documentation and direct entry into the clinical information system. Significant investment has been made to address the under-reporting and 
improve functionality and work flow to facilitate entry and use of the system. This investment is complemented by accessibility of resources and the Clinical Improvement Team who support services to value and utilise the 
information at multiple levels within their service.
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2.1.5 Patient safety and quality

Children’s Health Queensland is committed to the highest 

standards of safety and quality delivered through a relentless 

focus on service improvement and to providing outstanding 

child and family-centred care at every level of the organisation. 

Families and consumers provide a unique perspective which 

is invaluable in ensuring our care is responsive to their needs 

and expectations.

To support this, Children’s Health Queensland has reliable, 

robust consumer feedback management processes in 

place that foster a culture of openness and willingness 

to learn from compliments, incidents, complaints and 

suggestions. Issues raised as part of feedback from 

consumers is shared at ward, department and executive 

level across Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH) and 

community sites and used to inform opportunities for 

improvement and optimise the patient experience.  

During 2015–2016, Children’s Health Queensland received 

approximately 1,150 compliments in the form of letters, emails, 

cards and telephone calls. There were 1,000 complaints, with 

many focused on car parking. Steps were taken in October 2015 

to address this issue by allocating more bays to families and this 

resulted in far fewer complaints from November 2015 to June 2016.  

Periodic review yields excellent results

In November 2015, Children’s Health Queensland received an 

excellent Periodic Review report from the Australian Council on 

Healthcare Standards (ACHS) following an interim review visit 

in September. Hospitals and other healthcare organisations 

are benchmarked according to the National Safety and 

Quality Healthcare Service Standards and the EQuIP National 

Standards. After the extensive audit and visit to a number 

of sites including the LCCH, Children’s Health Queensland 

maintained full accreditation. The review team found Children’s 

Health Queensland exceeded standards on: 

• Improving the safety and quality of patient care

• Minimising risks to patient safety

• Maximising quality of care.

All 47 recommendations from the organisation-wide survey 

conducted in June 2013 were closed. The survey team praised 

the work of staff and systems, as well as our focus on engaging 

with consumers and delivering safe family-centred care. 

LCCH Paediatric Safety Thermometer

The Paediatric Safety Thermometer is a survey instrument 

providing a regular ‘temperature check’ on harm. Developed 

by Children’s Health Queensland in collaboration with the 

Department of Health’s Clinical Excellence Division and the 

Haelo National Health Service Safety Thermometer group in 

the United Kingdom, it is a simple audit tool to identify four 

common harm events: clinical deterioration (observation 

chart); pain management; extravasation/infiltration injuries; 

and pressure injuries. 

The tool has been refined for use in a paediatric setting and is 

aligned with safety and quality performance metrics used at 

LCCH and those contained in the Queensland Bedside Audit. 

Paediatric Safety Thermometer audits are completed once a 

month in most inpatient units at the hospital (excluding areas 

such as Child and Youth Mental Health Service inpatient units),  

and are published monthly on  the System Level Dashboard. 

Patient Safety Audit

This recognition of exceptional quality and safety was also 

evident in April 2016 when ACHS surveyors once again visited 

Children’s Health Queensland as part of a wider Queensland 

Health Safety and Quality Audit against the safety and quality 

functions specified in the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

and the Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012.  

We received a perfect score on every mandatory safety and 

quality requirement, and surveyors thanked the Patient Safety 

and Quality Service team for the warm welcome they received.

“ We are exceeding standards 

on improving the safety and 

quality of patient care”



In a world first, the Patient Safety and Quality Service collaborated with Haelo 

and Birmingham Children’s Hospital to produce a fun and lively animated Safety 

Briefing Video for children in hospital.

The video aims to provide engaging messages to children on six key safety topics 

– hand washing; unwell visitors; extravasation (painful injection sites); clinical 

deterioration (feeling worse), patient identification; and pressure injuries. The 

objective of the project is to empower children and families, and engage them 

in caring for themselves. The video, which is on the LCCH Patient Entertainment 

System at every bedside, loads each time the system is turned on, with patients 

able to bypass the animation if they have previously watched it.  

Feedback from more than 600 children and families surveyed during the pilot of the 

Safety Briefing Video was very positive, with viewers saying the messages were well 

understood. In February 2016, Children’s Health Queensland officially launched the 

video in a joint media opportunity with Birmingham Children’s Hospital. 

Young Person’s Safety Briefing Video

SAFETY SUPER HEROES PRESENT

Hand washing

Unwell visitors

Itchy tubes

Super heroes have very clean hands. But invisible germs hide in all sorts of places. 

Super heroes wash their hands, ask other people to and thank them when they do.

Sometimes visitors might be sick too and have their own germs. If your visitors feel unwell they 

should stay at home until they’re better.

When super heroes are hurting they tell someone. Sometimes they need medicines that run through 

plastic tubes. If these tubes itch or hurt, super heroes tell someone.

The Young Person’s
Safety Briefing

My hand
hurts That feels

better

COUGH!
COUGH!

SNIFF

Throbbing

GERMS!

Meet the super heroes

ZARA
POWER: SUPER 

STRENGTH

MAYA
POWER: X-RAY 

VISION

MAX
POWER: MIND 

POWERS
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Speaking Up for Safety

The one-hour Speaking Up for Safety (SUFS) seminar is a key 

safety and quality initiative at Children’s Health Queensland. 

This seminar focuses on providing staff with the knowledge 

and skills so they feel comfortable to raise concerns in 

situations where there may be a potential for unintended 

patient harm. 

The Patient Safety and Quality Service set an ambitious target 

of 3,500 staff attending one of 230 SUFS seminar by June 

2016. By May 2016 they they had exceed their goal, with 3,576 

staff having completed the program. Accredited Children’s 

Health Queensland Safety Ambassadors delivered the SUFS 

sessions. Ongoing evaluation of SUFS has demonstrated 

that staff are speaking up for safety and that they support 

colleagues when a safety code is activated. 

System Level Dashboard 

The Children’s Health Queensland System Level Dashboard 

displays the 10 key safety and quality performance metrics 

selected by the Children's Health Queensland Board to monitor 

safety and quality. The new dashboard developed in 2015–2016 

uses visualisation techniques to tell the story behind the 

data. The development of the Children’s Health Queensland 

dashboard with drilldown features has been published on our 

intranet since July 2015. It is helping drive improvement  through 

timely reporting of data and increased staff engagement. 

Planning has begun to further improve the dashboard to provide 

localised dashboard data for work areas across the organisation 

in 2016–2017.



Children’s Health Queensland celebrates important community 

events and milestones which have a distinctive connection to 

our hospital and health service. Special community-focused 

events in the past year included: 

• October 2015 – National Children’s Week party

• November 2015 – LCCH first birthday Celebration Week

• November 2015 – LCCH Annual Remembrance ceremony

• November 2015 – Children’s Hospital Foundation Telethon

• December 2015 – Dress Up Day

• December 2015 – Children’s Hospital Foundation Christmas Party

• April 2016 – National Youth Week celebration

• May 2016 – National Families Week party

• May 2016 – National Volunteer week

Annual celebrations connect families
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2.2 Partnerships and engagement

2.2.1 Community engagement

Connecting with families and the wider community is central 

to Children’s Health Queensland’s mission. In 2015–2016, 

we consulted and involved consumers and families 

through the Family Advisory Council and a wider network 

of consumer groups across Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital 

(LCCH) as well as our community and mental health services. 

We also relied on the generous support of partner 

organisations, including our official charity, the Children’s 

Hospital Foundation, Radio Lollipop, Starlight Children’s 

Foundation and Ronald McDonald House and their volunteers 

who brought joy and happiness to thousands of young patients 

and their families.

Arts Program

‘Arts and health’ is the practice of using the arts to improve 

wellbeing, particularly through enhancing healthcare experiences 

for patients, families and staff. It is a speciality arts discipline 

which is considered an essential part of service delivery in 

hospitals worldwide. Research shows that the integration of art 

and creativity into healthcare environments has positive impacts. 

The LCCH Arts Program provides a range of creative and cultural 

opportunities. The hospital’s art collection reflects  community 

diversity and includes over 500 contemporary artworks, many 

by Indigenous artists who live and work in Queensland.

In 2015–2016, the Arts Program featured artist-in-residence 

programs, early childhood music lessons, fascinating objects 

on loan from the Queensland Museum, workshops, activities 

and guest performances from strings to jazz to dance. In May 

2016 we launched the new Children’s Health Queensland Choir, 

jointly funded by two of our cultural partners, the Queensland 

Conservatorium and QPAC. In June 2016, we teamed up with the 

Out of the Box Festival and the Children’s Art Centre at QAGOMA 

to ensure children could participate in their programs. 

The Arts Program is supported by our many cultural partners 

who donate their time, expertise and resources. In 2015-16, 

major partners  included the Queensland Conservatorium 

Griffith University, Queensland Performing Arts Centre, 

Queensland Museum, Queensland Art Gallery/Gallery of 

Modern Art (Children’s Art Centre), the Out of the Box Festival, 

Queensland Music Festival, Queensland Symphony Orchestra, 

Ballet Theatre of Queensland, Aboriginal Centre for the 

Performing Arts, Australian Doctors Orchestra and Sprung 

Integrated Dance Theatre.
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Consumer and family involvement

Children’s Health Queensland is committed to working with 

patients and families to continually improve the healthcare we 

provide. Our Family Advisory Council plays an important role in 

ensuring our services meet the needs of patients and families.

The aims of the Family Advisory Council include:

• Working in partnership with staff to achieve a family-centred 

care approach to service planning and delivery

• Representing the interests of families using Children’s 

Health Queensland services

• Providing guidance to the Executive on the development 

and review of our services

• Contribute to the wider agenda for the development of 

children’s health services in Queensland.

The Family Advisory Council met monthly in 2015-16 and 

contributed to many improvement programs, including 

providing input into the development of a new Consumer 

and Community Engagement Strategy for 2016–2020 and 

supporting our Innovation Change and Redesign Excellence 

(iCARE) program.

Family representatives also served on a range of other 

Children’s Health Queensland consumer groups including 

community, mental health services and dedicated groups 

based at LCCH with specific focus on conditions such as 

cancer and cardiac care.

Key events for families included National Children’s Week  

in October 2015 and National Families Week celebration  

and barbecue in May 2016, which was hosted by the Family 

Advisory Council.

A unique hospital school

Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital School, which is run by the 

Department of Education, plays a special role in our hospital 

community. The school offers educational programs to 

students from Prep to Year 12 for inpatients, outpatients and 

siblings of hospitalised patients. Prep to Year 4 children are 

taught in the Junior Campus on Stanley Street while students 

from Year 5 to 12 are taught in the classrooms on Level 8 of 

the hospital. Lessons are also delivered at the bedside for 

children who are unable to leave the wards. 

The LCCH School focuses on targeted programs so that 

students can make good educational progress and have a 

seamless transition back to their school. The LCCH School 

opened on 1 December 2014 as an amalgamation of the 

former Mater Hospital School and the Royal Children’s 

Hospital School. 

The unique school employs 25 teachers and 11 teacher's aides 

and in 2015 had 3,159 registered students. Some 21 per cent 

(663 students) presented with medical conditions; 17 per 

cent (538) were receiving oncology treament; 13 per cent (410) 

attended the school because a member of their family was ill, 

and nine per cent (284) were patients with the Child and Youth 

Mental Health Service.

Children are frequently involved in events and activities at 

LCCH, including celebrations, performances, early childhood 

music classes and art workshops. On Anzac Day on 25 April 

2016, LCCH School students played a leading part in this 

annual commemoration.



2.2.2 Our partners

Our long-standing partnership with the Children’s Hospital Foundation makes 

an invaluable difference to our service. The support of generous donors enables 

the Foundation to fund vital research, services and new equipment, as well as 

entertainment for children while in hospital. The Foundation also manages a 

500-strong team of volunteers who work tirelessly to bring smiles and laughter 

to sick kids and welcome support to families. In 2015–2016, volunteers provided 

more than 90,000 positive interactions with patients and their families through 

way-finding, the Scholastic Book Bunker, the Cuddle Carers program as well as 

supporting families in operating theatres, burns clinics and outpatient departments.

Juiced TV – made possible by the Children’s Hospital Foundation – is filmed and 

broadcast weekly at the Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH), giving sick kids and 

their siblings the chance to star in their own TV show. Now in its third season, Juiced 

TV has broadcasted more than 40 hours of entertainment at patient bedsides and 

improved the hospital experience for more than 800 patients and their families. 

Children’s Hospital Foundation
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Radio Lollipop

Our in-house Radio Lollipop studio broadcasts daily to patient 

bedsides – providing them with a welcome distraction and a 

voice during their stay. Over the past 12 months, Radio Lollipop 

has broadcast more than 625 hours of live radio. They broadcast 

‘Non-stop Lollipop’ and ‘Lollitots’ services 24-hours-a-day, seven 

days a week, equivalent to 8,800 hours of radio a year. 

Starlight Children’s Foundation

Through the Starlight Express Room and Livewire program, 

the Starlight Children’s Foundation provides a haven for sick 

children and families at the LCCH. Over the past year, Starlight 

volunteers have assisted Captain Starlights in bringing joy and 

laughter to more than 14,180 children and their families in the 

Starlight Express Room and in ward visits.

Ronald McDonald House Charities

Ronald McDonald House Charities provide a range of facilities 

to support families during their stay at the LCCH, including 

emergency accommodation and a Family Room offering a 

space to relax in between appointments. Over the past 12 

months, more than 10,300 families have been supported 

with emergency accommodation after an unexpected trip to 

hospital. Regional and rural families with seriously ill children 

will soon benefit from the opening of one of the world’s largest 

Ronald McDonald House opposite the hospital later in 2016. 

On completion, the new facility will accommodate up to 450 

people a night, allowing more families of sick children to 

remain close by while they receive treatment. 

Children’s Health Queensland also partners with many other 

charity partners and non-government organisations which support 

the work delivered at the LCCH, enabling us to deliver even more 

entertainment and support services to patients and families.



The LCCH featured prominently in three episodes of the 

ABC’s landmark documentary series Keeping Australia 

Alive in April 2016. The seven-part series, filmed with 100 

cameras in hospitals across the country over the same 

24-hour period on 28 October 2015, aimed at capturing the 

length and breadth of the Australian health system in one 

day. The episodes featuring LCCH highlighted the work of 

hospital staff, in particular Dr Nelson Alphonso, cardiac 

surgery, Professor Roy Kimble, burns and surgery, and  

Dr Jason Acworth and the Emergency department teams. 

Keeping Australia Alive series
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2.2.3 Media and communication 

Children’s Health Queensland has a dedicated media, 

communications and engagement team supporting 

the development of our reputation as a national and 

international leader in family-centred paediatric care. 

After a challenging start to 2015–2016 following the release of 

the review into the building and commissioning of the LCCH in 

August 2015, Children’s Health Queensland steadily improved 

its public and media profile. A total of 2,760 media (print, radio,  

TV and online) and social media items were recorded in 

2015–2016, representing an increase of 412 per cent compared 

with the previous 12 months. 

A special visit to the hospital by Johnny Depp, LCCH’s care of 

asylum seeker Baby Asha, life-saving spinal surgery and care 

provided to a 16-month-old car accident victim, as well as a 

visit to the hospital by Australia Zoo’s tiger cubs, were among 

the most reported topics and issues for Children’s Health 

Queensland in 2015–2016.

Social media

Our social media channels provide a dynamic and direct way 

of sharing patient stories, staff achievements, child and youth 

health information, communicating news and announcements 

and encouraging community participation. Facebook, 

in particular, gives families another means of providing 

feedback about their experiences, providing Children’s Health 

Queensland additional direct engagement channels.

The Children’s Health Queensland Facebook community grew 

in overall page “likes” by 300 per cent  in the past year. It 

continues to be the most 'liked' Facebook page of all hospital 

and health services in the state. By 30 June 2016, our Facebook 

page had 15,200 likes with an average daily reach of 16,000. 

During 2015, we launched new Twitter and Instagram accounts 

and improved our LinkedIn profile. All our social media 

channels registered steady growth in engagement and were 

key communication and marketing tools for our ‘Work for Kids’ 

nurse recruitment campaign (read more about ‘Work for Kids’ 

on page 38).

Website improvements

Children’s Health Queensland continued to make 

improvements to both its external-facing website and 

intranet site during 2015–2016. A comprehensive review was 

undertaken of the current website and a web redevelopment 

project was rolled out as part of our Digital Engagement 

strategy. A new website will be launched in the last quarter  

of 2016. 

Analytics showed that hits on the website grew steadily 

throughout the past year with more than 23,000 users visiting 

the Children's Health Queensland website every month.

The highest level of engagement was recorded in March 2016 

with daily viewing of 5,000 pages. 
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2.3 Empowered and engaged workforce

2.3.1 Our people

Graph 1: MOHRI-occupied FTE by professional stream 2015–2016  

JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Nursing 1321.23 1316.14 1328.49 1329.45 1318.94 1356.29 1438.31 1448.22 1468.27 1456.02

Health Practitioners 646.91 654.19 646.08 643.28 641.15 645.90 648.42 665.37 674.99 689.18 695.19 694.88

Managerial & clerical 608.71 628.48 638.93 638.05 648.79 647.12 655.54 670.60 694.61 703.77 702.39 708.62

Medical & VMOs 457.08 458.46 461.15 462.62 462.77 460.00 477.62 476.81 471.03 477.21 476.05 479.72

Operational 74.46 68.88 67.27 65.94 65.18 65.20 66.99 64.85 64.99 64.38 64.03 62.84
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Workforce profile 

Children’s Health Queensland’s workforce increased by 11 per 

cent in 2015–2016 with 4,117 staff employed on 30 June 2016. 

Nursing, medical, including visiting medical officers (VMOs)and 

health practitioners accounted for 79 per cent of the workforce.

Women comprised 83 per cent of the total workforce.  

By professional stream, this represented:

• Nursing – 92 per cent

• Medical (including VMOs) – 51 per cent

• Health practitioner – 88 per cent

• Operational officers – 68 per cent 

• Managerial and clerical officers – 78 per cent.

Graph 1 shows the number of Minimum Obligatory Human 

Resource Information (MOHRI)-occupied full-time equivalent 

(FTE) staff by professional stream in 2015–2016. Graph 2 

is a further breakdown of the gender difference within 

each service group of Children’s Health Queensland.

On diversity, the breakdown of staff employed as of  

30 June 2016 was:

• 0.8 per cent from an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander 

background

• 8.2 per cent from a non-English speaking background

• 1.3 per cent of staff identified as having a disability. 

Children’s Health Queensland is committed to providing a 

supportive and respectful work environment which values 

the diversity of staff and volunteers. In 2016–2017 we will 

continue to implement strategies to improve diversity in  

the workforce. 

The retention rate for permanent staff in 2015–2016 was 

83 per cent, an improvement on the 2014–2015 rate of 80 

per cent. The retention rate is calculated by the number of 

permanent staff employed at the start of the financial year 

(2,764) who remained employed at the end of the financial 

year (2,291).

Children’s Health Queensland’s separation rate in 2015–2016 

was 17 per cent, an improvement on the 2014–2015 rate of 

20 per cent. The separation rate is calculated by the number 

of permanent staff who left during the year (473) against the 

number of permanent staff at the end of the year (2,830).

Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment

One employee received a redundancy package in 2015–2016, 

at a cost of $84,159.

Graph 2: Gender by professional stream
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Staff engagement

Children’s Health Queensland achieved the second highest 

participation rate of any hospital and health service in the 2016 

annual Working for Queensland (WfQ) Survey, with a 51 per cent 

participation rate. This was a big improvement on the 32 per 

cent response rate for 2015.

Some 64 per cent of staff responded positively to the level 

of agency engagement in 2016, an increase of 12 per cent 

compared with 2015. On innovation, 69 per cent responded 

positively, an increase of 5 per cent compared with 2015.  

On organisational leadership, 59 per cent responded positively, 

an increase of 12 per cent compared with 2015.

The survey also found Children’s Health Queensland staff 

enjoy working with their peers and their manager, have high 

levels of autonomy to do their job, and say they are working 

in an environment with low levels of discrimination. Intention 

to stay results also improved, with 67 per cent expressing an 

intention to continue working at Children’s Health Queensland 

for the next 12 months. The factors with the lowest scores were 

workload and health and organisational fairness. Strategies will 

be developed during 2016-2017 to improve in these areas.

The survey results provide valuable insight into the culture and 

climate of our organisation. Action plans to address areas for 

improvements are developed with the support of the People 

and Culture team.

Industrial and employee relations

Children’s Health Queensland operates within an industrial 

framework of consultative forums. The framework includes:

• Children’s Health Queensland Union Consultative Forum 

• Nursing Consultative Forum

• Health Practitioner Local Consultative Forum

• Corporate and Administration Services Local Consultative Forum.

Children’s Health Queensland Executive was involved in 

negotiations and consultation processes for a new:

• Health Practitioners and Dental Officers (Queensland Health) 

Certified Agreement (No.1) 2015

• Nurses and Midwives (Queensland Health and Department of 

Education and Training) Certified Agreement (EB9) 2016.

The Health Practitioners and Dental Officers (Queensland 

Health) Certified Agreement was certified on 4 May 2016 and 

the Nurses and Midwives (Queensland Health and Department 

of Education and Training) Certified Agreement is expected to 

be certified later in 2016.

A new Medical Staff Association (MSA) was formed at LCCH in 

2015 to provide a forum for medical officers. The purpose of 

this association is to provide a forum for senior medical officers 

to have a voice in the management of the hospital. In addition 

the MSA facilitates a pathway of communication from the 

Children’s Health Queensland Executive to the senior medical 

officers working for Children’s Health Queensland.

Chart 1: Agency engagement Chart 2: Organisation leadership Chart 3: Innovation 
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Working for Queensland 2016 Survey results



In 2015–2016, Children’s Health Queensland developed 

a ‘Work for kids’ recruitment strategy aimed at employing 

175 additional nurses by June 2016 to staff an additional 31 

beds at the Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH). 

A Work for Kids committee of nursing, human resources 

and communications staff executed a comprehensive 

staff recruitment strategy. The challenge was to attract 

paediatric nurses in the context of an Australian and 

worldwide shortage of paediatric nurses. 

The marketing and communication campaign was aimed 

at attracting nurses from interstate, New Zealand, Ireland 

and the United Kingdom. The creative execution focused on 

presenting the strengths of the hospital through the eyes 

of children and promoting Brisbane and Queensland as the 

best place to work and live. 

An appealing video was promoted through digital channels 

including Children’s Health Queensland's website and 

through an extensive social media campaign, using Facebook, 

Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn. The best performing channel 

was Facebook. The campaign was very successful and by 

June 2016, more than 175 nurses had been employed.

Nurse recruitment campaignWorkforce planning, attraction and retention

Children’s Health Queensland is committed to ensuring its 

workforce is capable, committed and supported to ensure we 

provide the best possible healthcare services to Queensland 

children and their families. 

A Workforce Planning and Management committee was 

established in 2015–2016 to:

• Provide input into the development of a strategic People Plan 

for Children’s Health Queensland

• Develop a workforce planning framework and support 

processes to ensure a consistent planning approach across 

Children’s Health Queensland

• Lead workforce, training and education initiatives to ensure an 

integrated approach to current and future workforce needs

• Ensure workforce planning processes align with the 

organisation’s strategic and operational planning cycles. 

Work for us website 

In 2015, Children’s Health Queensland developed and launched 

a new 'Work for us' section on the Children’s Health Queensland 

website to promote employment opportunities. The new 

website section provides comprehensive information about our 

organisation, employee benefits, current vacancies and how 

to apply. Prospective employees can now access Children’s 

Health Queensland vacancies on a targeted page within the 

Queensland Government Smart Jobs website directly from the 

Work for Us page.

To coincide with the launch of the new website, Children’s 

Health Queensland improved its presence on professional social 

networks such as LinkedIn to further promote our organisation 

as an employer of choice. 

Work for Kids nurse recruitment campaign analytics 

February-June 2016

Facebook

Reach 7,637,412

Shares 3,388

Comments 1.280

Post likes 6,283

Page likes 1,057

Website

Sessions – Nursing site 43,023

Sessions – Work for Us 3,112

Apply now button clicks 1,261
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2.3.1 Our people
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Performance and development planning 

Children’s Health Queensland is committed to enhancing work 

performance and career development of our staff by:

• Collaborating and clarifying performance objectives

• Ensuring ongoing two-way feedback

• Identifying learning and development opportunities

• Ensuring employees receive recognition and plan a 

rewarding career.

The Performance and Development Framework includes annual 

Performance and Development Plans (PDPs) to evaluate staff 

performance and ensure we are meeting our organisational 

goals. By aligning employee plans to organisational unit, 

divisional, strategic and operational plans, our staff 

understand how their work contributes to our mission of 

providing the best possible care to children and families.

The PDP process will be reviewed in 2016–2017 to achieve a 

target of 80 per cent completion of annual PDPs for employees.

Managers at Children’s Health Queensland are encouraged 

to enhance their skills through our Management Capability 

Program. In 2015–2016, more than 250 managers attended 

training sessions. The program aims to build and enhance a 

leadership culture that is accountable, safety-conscious and 

capable. Some 89 per cent of participants provided positive 

feedback, saying they felt competent to apply the knowledge 

and skills gained through the sessions. 

Learning Management System 

Our Learning Management System, TEACHQ, provides a 

one-stop shop for mandatory training, offering both face-to-

face and online courses. All staff are required to complete 

mandatory training through TEACHQ, with online records 

linked to employee data and reports.  

Corporate mandatory training items are automatically assigned 

to new employees and timely reminders are sent to individual 

staff when they are required to complete a new training module.

In 2015–2016, 88 per cent of staff accessed the TEACHQ 

system which offered more than 450 learning items. More 

than 250 staff attended face-to-face TEACHQ administrator 

training. 

The system has improved access to training records and 

reports across Children’s Health Queensland with 97,300 

individual training records for current and past employees 

captured. TEACHQ has significantly reduced manual 

maintenance by managers and educators, and will continue 

to be enhanced and improved in 2016.

Administration training

Children’s Health Queensland has continued to provide 

training to staff following the transition and merging of 

two organisations at LCCH. Valuing staff, and ensuring 

they receive the best possible support, drove the training 

program for specialist outpatient administration staff during 

2015–2016. There is a target for 80 per cent of staff to have 

completed these frontline training programs by October 2016.

Reward and recognition

Recognising the performance and achievements of individuals 

and teams is a priority for Children’s Health Queensland. 

Our Reward and Recognition Program 2015-2017 provides a 

framework for encouraging and rewarding staff achievement 

and success (read more on pages 41–43).

Work health, safety and wellbeing

The Work Health and Safety Strategic Plan 2016–2020 guides 

work health and safety planning, decision-making and 

practices. Children’s Health Queensland’s work health and 

safety management system ensures planned, organised and 

integrated processes are in place to ensure we provide a safe 

and healthy workplace.

Continuous improvement ensures we continuously identify 

high-risk health and safety issues, assess mitigation strategies 

and take action to ensure the safety of staff, volunteers, 

families and patients. Our work health, safety and wellbeing 

work involves:

• Governance, consultative and capability development 

frameworks

• An integrated work health and safety hazard management 

and risk mitigation system

• Planned monitoring, review and performance evaluation  

and reporting

• Workplace injury rehabilitation and return to work programmes. 

Children’s Health Queensland work health and safety key 

performance indicator results for 2015–2016 included:

• Zero non-conformance when assessed against AS/ NZS 

4801: 2001 (Occupational health and safety management 

systems) in October 2015

• Zero regulatory notices or infringements

• Workers compensation premium rate of 0.338, which is 

significantly lower than the industry premium rate of 1.154

• Workers compensation hours lost compared to occupied 

hours rate of 0.126, which is lower than the Children’s Health 

Queensland target of 0.20 and the Department of Health 

service agreement target of 0.35.
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During 2015–2016, 447 work health and safety incidents were 

reported, 80 workers compensation claims lodged and 790 

workers compensation days lost.

Significant work health and safety achievements included:

• Ongoing improvement of the health and safety management 

system and intranet site

• Mental health workplace action plan developed for 

consultation and implementation

• Consultation on the coordination of shared health and 

safety duties with contractors who work in Children’s Health 

Queensland facilities

• An evaluation of different models to deliver patient handling 

training, to be implemented later in 2016

• Revised hazard management performance measurement 

systems developed for consultation and implementation.

Workplace Equity and Harassment Network

The voluntary Workplace Equity and Harassment Officer  

(WEHO) network was relaunched in 2015 to ensure Children’s 

Health Queensland provides greater support to employees 

potentially affected by workplace harassment, sexual 

harassment or discrimination. While staff are always able to 

contact their manager or People and Culture staff for help, the 

voluntary network is designed to provide additional support. 

WEHO officers provide information and advice to staff 

about the complaints process and how to access Employee 

Assistance Service. In 2015–2016, 27 staff members completed 

a dedicated WEHO network training course.

Domestic and Family Violence Network

In February 2016, Children’s Health Queensland established 

the Domestic and Family Violence Network in response to 

the Not Now, Not Ever. Putting an End to Domestic and Family 

Violence in Queensland report by a Special Taskforce on 

Domestic and Family Violence in Queensland. 

The purpose of the network is to help staff who may be affected 

by domestic and family violence, empower our workforce to 

take action, and ensure that Children’s Health Queensland 

responds appropriately to the needs of children in the 

community who may have experienced or witnessed domestic 

and family violence. 

The Domestic and Family Violence Network is made up of staff 

from across Children’s Health Queensland and also includes 

consumer representatives. 

Flexible working arrangements

Children’s Health Queensland supports and implements 

Queensland Health’s work-life balance policy by offering 

flexible working arrangements to help staff balance work and 

other responsibilities, including part-time work.

In 2015–2016, 1,392 people (45 per cent of the Children’s 

Health Queensland permanent workforce) were employed on 

a permanent part-time basis. Of the permanent part-time staff, 

90 per cent were female. 

During 2015–2016, 27 staff participated in purchased leave 

arrangements. The purchased leave allowance of one to six 

weeks contributes to work-life balance by enabling staff to 

purchase leave in addition to their standard recreational leave 

entitlements.

Taking individual responsibility and supporting colleagues were 

key objectives set by the Pine Rivers Child Youth Mental Health 

Service in their successful Wellness Focus Initiative launched 

in 2015. The wellness strategy focused on building healthy, 

sustainable lifestyles and creating a workplace culture that 

values wellness. 

The outcome of the initiative were marked increases in 

measures of optimism, sense of success and achievement, 

trust and respect and rating the workplace ‘a truly great place 

to work’ (as measured in the Working for Queensland 2015 

survey). The initiative was highly commended in the 2015 

Queensland Safe Work and Return to Work Awards.

Wellness focus initiative
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2.3.2 Our achievements

Children’s Health Queensland recognised 

the extraordinary achievements of staff in 

2015 through our annual Celebrating Our 

People awards and Australia Day Achievement 

Awards. Our remarkable people also attracted 

recognition through Queensland and Australia-

wide external awards and honours.

Celebrating Our People Awards

The Celebrating Our People awards, held in August 

2015, recognised the achievements and contributions 

of Children’s Health Queensland teams and individuals 

who demonstrated a high level of performance and 

commitment in pursuing excellence in the care of 

children, young people and their families.  

The awards were aligned to the Children’s Health 

Queensland 2014–2015 Strategic Pillars of excellence:

• People (leadership): Dominic Tait, Divisional Director 

of Clinical Support

• People (team player): Heidi Jorgensen, Audiology 

Department, Division of Clinical Support

• Service: Nella Barry, Child and Youth Mental 

Health Service, Pine Rivers, and Medical Records 

Management Team, Lisa Doring, Melinda Scott and 

Kris Schaeller

• Value: Divisional Management Accountant team, 

James Ross, Michele Sullivan, Matthew Swale and 

Brooke Chadwick

• Safety and Quality: Fiona Gregory, Pharmacy, 

Divisional of Clinical Support 

• Research and Education: Dr Melinda White, Dietetics 

and Food Services, Division of Clinical Support

• Rising Star Award: Janet Wallace, Infection 

Management and Prevention Services, Division of 

Clinical Support, and Carl Blunck, Governance,  

HR Policy and Analytics, People and Culture

• Volunteer of the Year Award: Perry Pappas, Operating 

Suite Volunteer, Children’s Hospital Foundation 

• Family-Centred Care Team Award: Ophthalmology 

Team, Professor Glen Gole, Michael Sleep,  

Catherine Everett and Mary Baxter

• Board Chair Innovation Excellence Award: Gwenda 

Smith, Day Surgery, Division of Surgery and 

Perioperative Services; Philippa Fielden, Oncology, 

Division of Medicine; and the Healthy Hearing Team, 

Child and Youth Community Health Service, Rachael 

Beswick, Kelly Nicholls, Gavin Bott, Delene Thomas, 

Lauren McHugh, Kim Eaton and Alison Collins.

Healthy Hearing team

Janet WallacePerry Pappas

Michelle Sullivan, Matthew Swale and James Ross Melinda White

Heidi Jorgensen Fiona Gregory Gwenda Smith



Five Children’s Health Queensland teams were finalists in 

the Queensland Health eAwards 2016. Awards went to: 

• Oncology Family App (Collaborate and Connect Category): 

The Oncology Family App, developed with close 

involvement from families, was created to help them 

navigate the complexities of their child’s cancer care. 

• Doctor Onboarding App (Foster Innovation Category):  

A new app to support recruitment and the orientation 

and onboarding of medical officers recruited to work for 

Children's Health Queensland is under development. 

Queensland Health eAwards 2016
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2016 CHQ Australia Day Achievement Awards

Each year we formally acknowledge individuals and teams 

for outstanding achievements though the Children’s Health 

Queensland Australia Day Achievement Awards. All the 

successful nominees were recognised for placing patients 

and families first, embracing new ideas, acting on feedback, 

showing courage and behaving as role models to their peers. 

Individual awards

• Catherine Marron, Acting Nursing Director, Ellen Barron 

Family Centre

• Ben Maslen, Procedural Access and Service Improvement 

Manager, Division of Surgery and Perioperative Services

• Robyn Penny, Clinical Nurse Consultant, Child Health Liaison

• Linda Thorburn, Acting Business Improvement Officer,  

Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH) Emergency Department.

Team awards

• Blood and Marrow Transplant Service

• Child Development Program

• Extracorporeal Life Support Service

• SLiPAH team (Simulated Learning in Paediatrics for Allied Health)

• Zero to Four Child Youth Mental Health Services team.

Australia Day 2016 honours list

Professor Peter Sly AO: Officer in the General Division of the 

Order of Australia. Peter, Senior Medical Officer in Respiratory 

Sleep Studies at LCCH, has made an immense contribution 

to medical research and education in paediatric respiratory 

medicine for more than 30 years. 

Kym Stuart AM: Member in the General Division of the Order of 

Australia. Kym, who works as a Clinical Nurse in the Operating 

Suite at LCCH, devotes much of her spare time volunteering 

with Open Heart International, which provides cardiac services 

to children in developing countries.

Australia Day 2016 honours list award winners

Zero to Four CYMHS team Penny Slater and Philippa Fielden



“ 
Staff were recognised 

for always placing 

patients and families 

first, embracing new 

ideas and showing 

courage”
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Other awards and recognition

Pine Rivers Child Youth Mental Health Service team: Highly 

Commended Award in the Queensland Safe Work and Return to 

Work Awards 2015, Best Workplace Health and Wellbeing Initiative. 

Sophie Stone, Judith Cunningham and Suzanne Oram, Lactation 

Consultants: International Board Certified Lactation Consultants 

Care Award from the International Board of Lactation Consultant 

Examiners and the International Lactation Consultant Association.

Four Children’s Health Queensland teams were finalists in the 

2015 Queensland Health Awards for Excellence: Child Youth 

Mental Health Service Adaptive Responsive Care Initiative; 

Deadly Ears Program; Queensland Paediatric Extracorporeal Life 

Support Service, and Jules Richards, Paediatric Pain Service.     

Tim Minchin, Music Therapist: Australian Music Therapy 

Association (AMTA) Ruth Bright Award for the best paper 

presentation for his paper Healthy development from the neck 

up: music therapy in paediatric spinal cord injury at the AMTA 

National Conference.

Professor Peter Sly, Senior Medical Officer, and Professor Claire 

Wainwright, Senior Medical Officer: conjointly awarded the 

Richard C Talamo Distinguished Clinical Achievement Award 

by the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation of the United States for their 

groundbreaking work in improving understanding of early Cystic 

Fibrosis lung disease. 

Dr Deb Long, PICU Nurse Researcher and Dr Luregn Schlapbach, 

PICU Intensivist: Best paediatric paper in their disciplines at the 

Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Society (ANZICS) and 

Australian College of Critical Care Nurses (ACCCN) conference.

Trish McLean, Senior Psychologist, Queensland Hearing Loss 

Family Support Service: Awarded a Sheila Drummond Quota 

Bursary to present her research in the field of the permanent 

hearing loss at the International Conference on Family-Centred 

Early Intervention for Children.

Katrina Anderson, Clinical Nurse, Rachel Edwards, Nurse 

Educator and Natalie Bradford, Nurse Researcher: Best 

Scientific Research Paper at the Cancer Nurses Society Australia 

Annual Congress 2016.

Anita Cox, Clinical Nurse Consultant, received the Adem Crosby 

Haematology Nursing Award from the Leukaemia Foundation. 

Dr Robyn Littlewood, Director and Professional Lead, Dietetics 

and Food Services, and Dr Kerri-Lyn Webb, Senior Staff Specialist 

Developmental Behavioural Paediatrics Child Development 

Program: Appointed Co-Chairs of the Statewide Child and Youth 

Clinical Network. 

Associate Professor Christopher Perry OAM FRAC: Elected 

President of the Australian Society of Otolaryngology Head 

and Neck Surgery.

Dr Robyn Littlewood and Dr Kerri-Lyn Webb

Deb Long



Centre for Children’s Health Research

Children’s Health Queensland strives to be at the forefront of 

research that delivers the best possible health outcomes for 

children and young people. The Children’s Health Queensland 
Research Strategy 2013–2016 affirmed our commitment to 

maximising research opportunities and outcomes through 

collaboration and partnerships, support and education and 

investment into shared research infrastructure and equipment.

In a major step forward for paediatric research, the $134 

million Centre for Children’s Health Research (CCHR) was 

officially opened in November 2015. The state-of-the art facility 

is located in the heart of the hospital precinct opposite Lady 

Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH) in South Brisbane and is 

Queensland’s first fully-integrated research facility focused on 

child and adolescent health research. 

The CCHR is a partnership between Queensland Health (through 

Children’s Health Queensland), the Queensland University of 

Technology (QUT) and the University of Queensland (UQ). It is an 

integrated hub of specialist knowledge dedicated to improving 

the health of children, and facilitating best opportunities for 

collaborative research projects. The Translational Research 

Institute is also co-located at the CCHR.

The nine-level centre houses wet and dry laboratories, pathology 

services, a gait laboratory, a nutrition laboratory and the 

Queensland Children’s Tumour Bank, funded by the Children’s 

Hospital Foundation, which provides a tissue repository for 

national and international cancer research.

Research grants success

Children’s Health Queensland researchers attracted more than 

$7.9 million in grants and fellowships from the National Health 

and Medical Research Council (NHMRC). These grants were for:

• Prof Anne Chang and collaborators: $2.1million for a multi-

centre double-blind randomised controlled trial on community-

acquired pneumonia in Indigenous children and a developing 

country, improving clinical outcomes and identifying systemic 

biomarkers, and $740,000 for understanding the role of the 

two major bacterial pathogens in the upper and lower airways 

of Indigenous children with chronic lung disease.

• Associate Prof Andrew Hallahan and collaborators, led by chief 

investigator Prof Claire Rickard (Griffith University): $1.1million 

for Peripherally Inserted Central Catheter Securement: the 

PISCES trial. This study will investigate ways to reduce the 

incidence of PICC failure (infection, occlusion, dislodgement, 

or thrombosis) through clinically effective, and cost-effective, 

dressing and securement care.  

• Prof Claire Wainwright and collaborator, led by Chief 

Investigator Prof Scott Bell (QIMR Berghofer and Metro North 

HHS): $988,000 for the emerging problem of non-tuberculous 

mycobacteria infection: understanding aetiology, geospatial 

epidemiology and developing interventions.

• Dr Kate Riney and Dr Stephen Malone and UQ collaborators, led 

by chief investigator Dr Viktor Vegh: $463,000 to investigate a 

Novel MRI to map focal cortical dysplasia in focal epilepsy.

• Prof Peter Sly: $851,000 NHMRC Senior Principal Research 

fellowship to look at early life exposures and chronic disease: 

mechanisms and preventative strategies.

• Prof Ros Boyd from QCPRRC (UQ): $687,000 NHMRC Senior 

Research Fellowship and a $467,00 NHMRC Practitioner 

Fellowship. Her Senior Research Fellowship focuses on 

improving neurorestorative rehabilitation for children with 

cerebral palsy. 

The Children’s Hospital Foundation awarded research grants to: 

• Dr Kerry-Ann O’Grady (QUT): A three-year, $430,000 

Translational Research Grant for acute respiratory illnesses 

in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children and the 

progression of chronic lung disease

• Prof Claire Wainwright (UQ): A two-year, $400,000 Practitioner 

Fellowship and Translational Research Grant for airways 

infections,inflammation and cystic fibrosis

• Prof Selena Bartlett (QUT): A two-year, $200,000 Innovator 

Research Grant.
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Awards included:

• Dr Chris Carty, Gait Lab, Australian Society of Medical 

Research Clinical Researcher Award for 2015

• Dr Kate Munro, Neurosciences, Churchill Fellowship 

(June to Aug 2015)

• Dr Anna Francis, Nephrology, Churchill Scholarship and 

Rotary Australia PhD scholarship (2016–2018).

Major publications 

Children’s Health Queensland researchers contributed to 340 

journals articles, books and theses in 2015–2016, incuding:

• Prof Claire Wainwright and Dr Nitin Kapur, ‘Oxygen saturation 

targets in infants with bronchiolitis’, The Lancet, Sep 2015

• Associate Prof Julia Clark and Associate Prof Clare Nourse, 

B McMullan et al, 'Systematic review and guidelines for 

antibiotic duration and timing of intravenous to oral switch 

for bacterial infections in children', The Lancet Infectious 

Diseases, Aug 2016.

Human Research Ethics Committee

During 2015–2016, Children’s Health Queensland received 

137 submissions for review by the Human Research Ethics 

Committee. Nine clinical trials were evaluated, eight of which 

were commercially sponsored, while 59 applications were 

made for multiple sites. 

Research governance site assessments

The Research Governance Office received 118 submissions for 

site-specific assessments. More than 20 clinical trials were 

conducted, 12 of which were commercially sponsored. 

Key research projects

Diabetes and endocrinology

Key research topics in this area include Type 1 Diabetes 

Mellitus (T1DM) and the response to growth hormone 

treatments. Studies currently being undertaken include 

a natural history study in first-degree relatives at risk of 

developing T1DM, early determinants to the progression of 

T1DM in at-risk people, the role of gut microbiome in T1DM, the 

role of advanced glycosylation end-products in T1DM, trial of 

intra-nasal insulin in preventing progression to T1DM, the role 

of parenting children with T1DM, insulin regimens for newly 

diagnosed children and adolescents and metabolomics and 

heart and blood vessel risk in teenagers with T1DM.

As hosts for the national growth-hormone database 

(OZGROW), Children’s Health Queensland researchers have 

been involved in analysing the efficacy of the Australian 

growth hormone program to assess areas for improvement.

Respiratory 

The respiratory department has strong research alliances 

with the UQ, QUT and the Menzies Institute for Health 

Research in Darwin. In addition, it participates in both 

national and international trials, often as the lead centre.

Respiratory research is underway on several projects including 

a randomised, controlled trial of adenotonsillectomies 

for mild/moderate obstructive sleep apnoea in young 

children, behavioural interventions for sleeping problems 

in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder 

(ADHD), sleep problems in children with Down syndrome 

and defining risk factors for the initiation and progression 

of lung disease in infants with cystic fibrosis.

The Airway Infections, Inflammation and Cystic Fibrosis 

Research Group is focused on the assessment and 

evolution of early lung diseases and the development of 

evidence-based management, particularly in cystic fibrosis, 

acute viral bronchiolitis and ataxia telangiectasia.

Queensland Paediatric Rehabilitation Service 

The Queensland Paediatric Rehabilitation Service (QPRS) 

has formed a major partnership with the Queensland 

Cerebral Palsy and Rehabilitation Research Centre. In 

addition, it partners with a number of Queensland-based 

universities, with current, active collaborations with research 

departments at the Menzies Health Institute Queensland, 

the School of Psychology, Griffith University and the 

School of Human Movement and Nutrition Sciences, UQ. 

Current research studies include a systematic review of the 

psychometric properties of pain measures for children with 

cerebral palsy and a prospective, cohort study of the effects of 

gastrocnemius lengthening on triceps surae muscle mechanics 

and gait in children with cerebral palsy. Further research 

projects include an Australian Cerebral Palsy Biobank Study. 
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Oncology

The LCCH Oncology Services Group is an active member of 

national and international collaborative research groups and 

partners with pharmaceutical companies to conduct clinical 

trials for childhood cancer. The LCCH is participating in more 

than 50 clinical trials involving conditions such as brain 

tumours, leukaemia, lymphoma, sarcoma and solid tumours, as 

well as in haemophilia and other severe haematology disorders. 

The LCCH Oncology Department also has an active translational 

laboratory research program. This research has two main areas of 

activity: the Queensland Children’s Tumour Bank, housed in the 

CCHR and the Childhood Leukaemia Research Laboratory, located 

at the University of Queensland Diamantina Institute within the 

Translational Research Institute. The Tumour Bank collaborates 

widely with local, national and international research groups 

covering the full spectrum of childhood cancers. Dr Andrew 

Moore’s leukaemia research focuses on acute myeloid leukaemia 

(AML) to understand the causes of resistance to therapy and 

relapse and aims to discover new therapeutic approaches.

Haematology research studies include an evaluation of the 

efficacy of a parenting program to improve adherence to the 

prophylactic treatment in children with haemophilia, which is 

a joint project with the Department of Psychology, UQ. Other 

studies include the feasibility, efficacy and acceptability of 

using telehealth to provide multi- disciplinary assessment and 

advice for children with inherited bleeding disorders. This is a 

joint project with the Centre of Online Health, UQ. 

Paediatric Critical Care Research Group

The Paediatric Critical Care Research Group (PCCRG) is a 

collaboration of researchers in the field of paediatric critical 

care medicine based in the Division of Critical Care, LCCH.

The PCCRG has an established strong research background 

with the highest number of peer-reviewed studies published in 

the field of paediatric critical care in Australia. They also have 

a strong track record with the National Health and Medical 

Research Council (NHMRC), attracting more than $5million in 

competitive research funding. 

Current PCCRG research includes respiratory support 

in intensive care and anaesthesia, cardiopulmonary 

interaction, extra corporeal life support systems, follow-up 

of neurodevelopment post-PICU, sedation and delirium, 

genomics, severe infections, and traumatic brain injuries. The 

PCCRG consists of 30 active research members. It employs 

six research nurses and two research assistants, and has 10 

associated children’s hospitals or paediatric departments' 

research staff. There are currently seven Higher Research 

Degree students in the group. 

Infectious diseases

The Infection Management Service is actively engaged in 

multiple areas of clinical and epidemiological research, 

collaborating widely with national organisations in 

surveillance, across several states in other paediatric facilities. 

Infectious disease research projects include the early 

diagnosis of congenital cytomegalovirus, improving bacterial 

identification in septic arthritis, the epidemiology of fungal 

infection in immune-compromised children and studies into 

improving the management of the febrile child with cancer. 

In addition, the service has undertaken PAEDS, a national, 

multi-site hospital-based active surveillance project for 

identifying and investigating severe childhood conditions of 

public health importance, which are difficult to adequately 

capture through existing mechanisms.

Collaboration continued with the Queensland Paediatric 

Infectious Disease (QPID) Laboratory, a Children’s Health 

Queensland/UQ research unit, supported by the Children’s 

Hospital Foundation. The team conducted  high-quality applied 

laboratory research aimed at developing and implementing 

new diagnostic tests for the rapid detection of existing and 

newly emerging infectious diseases.

Significant work includes the ORChID study, following upper 

airway and stool microbiology of children from birth to two 

years, implementation of systemic adenovirus testing and 

the detection of an outbreak of parechovirus in Queensland 

children. QPID is also working with QIMR Berghofer researchers 

as part of the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation-funded 

Medicines for Malaria Venture, developing tests for use in 

clinical trials for treatments for this disease, responsible for  

5 per cent of global childhood deaths.

Child protection and forensic medical services

The Child Protection and Forensic Medical Service is actively 

developing linkages with research institutes in nursing, social 

work and forensic medicine. With three paediatricians admitted 

to the Faculty of Clinical Forensic Medicine of the Royal College 

of Pathologists Australasia in 2015, the service is well placed to 

lead the development of paediatric clinical forensic medicine. 

The service also led education and training in the area of child 

protection. Focus areas include best practice and support for 

children in out-of-home care and best practice in management 

of sexual assault for children and young people.  

2.4.1 Research
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Cardiology and cardiac surgery

The strategic focus of research for the Queensland Paediatric 

Cardiac Service (QPCS) is a strong collaboration between the 

medical and surgical divisions, highlighting the interdependency 

of skills required to achieve high-level clinical, educational and 

research outcomes for children. 

QPCS has well-established links with national research projects in 

areas such as cardiomyopathy, pulmonary hypertension and fontan 

surgery, with international research collaborations established in 

the area of neurodevelopmental outcomes for this group of patients. 

Burns and trauma

The Burns and Trauma Research program is aimed at 

establishing and developing an extensive network of research. 

This includes laboratory bench work, animal and clinical trials 

of new therapeutics and clinical tools and public health and 

injury-prevention initiatives. All research projects are aimed at 

improving the health and wellbeing of children with burns and 

other traumatic injuries. 

In its first four years, the Burns Research Service has successfully 

established and completed eight clinical studies and a further 

eight are currently in progress. An additional five clinical studies 

will commence in 2016–2017, three of which are randomised 

controlled trials. These trials are investigating new dressings, 

wound therapies, clinical wound and scar-assessment tools and 

interventions for post-traumatic stress disorder. 

Some 16 studies using the Queensland Paediatric Burn 

Registry and/or the Paediatric Trauma Registry have also been 

published. In the laboratory, researchers established a burn-

blister fluid bank to determine differences between patients 

who heal well, compared with those who heal with poor 

outcomes. The number of samples in the tissue bank of normal 

skin, scar skin and post-burn blister skin was expanded.

Palliative care 

The main focus of palliative care research during 2015–2016 

related to telehealth, communication, music therapy and 

bereavement support. The music therapy study investigated 

how it contributes to the wellbeing of children with life-limiting 

conditions by measuring their levels of pain within sessions. 

The study also explored ways families can find meaning and 

create memories through music therapy. In a collaboration with 

the Institute of Health and Biomedical Innovation at QUT, the 

team researched aspects of palliative care communication, 

using conversation analysis. The research in bereavement was 

a multi-site study in Brisbane, Sydney and Newcastle. 

Paediatric Emergency Research Unit

The Paediatric Emergency Research Unit (PERU) is a 

participating centre in the Paediatric Research in Emergency 

Departments International Collaborative (PREDICT) Research 

Network and supports large multi-centre projects, including 

randomised control trials.  

The PERU team chairs the Research Advisory Group in 

Emergency to facilitate the successful implementation of 

research projects within the Emergency department and 

other departments. Three major studies – Children’s Rules 

for Imaging the Cervical Spine, Convulsive Status Epilepticus 

Paediatric Trial and High Flow Nasal Cannula Management for 

Infants with Viral Bronchiolitis and Acute Hypoxic Respiratory 

Failure Trial – commenced participant recruitment in 2015-16. 

A full-time research development manager for emergency 

was appointed at the end of 2015, with funding from the 

Queensland Emergency Medical Research Foundation and a 

PREDICT Centre of Research Excellence grant. This position 

will provide research support and strategic direction in 

Paediatric Emergency Medicine Research, both at the LCCH and 

throughout other collaborating centres in Queensland.

“ The team are leaders in 

translating research findings 

into improved care”



Griffith University research assistant and PhD candidate Amanda Ullman and Children's 

Health Queensland nurse practitioner Tricia Kleidon were among those whose work into 

preventing the failure of, and complications associated with, central venous access 

devices (CVAD) was featured at the inaugural Research Day showcase.

CVADs are often a necessity for patients in acute, critical and continuing care situations, 

but one in four stop working before treatment is complete. The collaborative research 

project to explore innovative ways to extend the life of CVADs secured $1.1 million in 

National Health and Medical Health Research funding. Their research, which began 

in early 2016, is studying the effects of a medication-impregnated disc and a strong 

dressing to reduce the risk of CVAD infection and dislodgement. 

Collaborative research tackles CVAD complications
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Allied health

Allied health researchers maintain a focus on clinically 

meaningful research which aims to ensure that their services 

and interventions for children are of high quality and delivered 

in a family centred manner. Highlights include: 

• The development and evaluation of support strategies and use 

of music for families of children with life-limiting conditions

• Prospective study of the diagnostic accuracy of appendiceal 

ultrasound and the potential diagnostic utility of secondary 

signs of appendicitis 

• Evaluation of scaring and impact on quality of life for 

children following burns 

• Assessment of spatial hearing abilities of children with 

cochlear implants 

• Determining parent and child therapy engagement as a 

mediator of therapy outcomes 

• Paediatric nutritional screening for prevalence of malnutrition, 

obesity and nutritional risk in Australian inpatients. 

This and other research was supported by competitive research 

funds in excess of $1million from sources such as the Canadian 

Institute for Health Services Research. Researchers contributed 

to articles in more than 60 publications and participated in more 

than 100 national and international conference presentations. 

Nursing

Children’s Health Queensland's nursing research team is 

comprised of three researchers who undertake research into 

child and youth mental health, general paediatrics and the 

Paediatric Intensive Care Unit. In 2015–2016, more than 55 nurse 

research projects were undertaken. The team actively supports 

conference presentations from within their team and among 

nurses in our hospital and health service. The team submitted 

five articles for publication and secured approximately $180,000 

in grants in 2015–2016. Research underway includes Gold 

Standard Evaluation of Delirium Assessment Tools in Paediatric 

Intensive Care by Dr Debbie Long RN PhD, a nurse researcher 

based in the Paediatric Intensive Care Unit at LCCH.

Dr Adrienne Hudson RN PhD is a nurse researcher based in 

the CCHR who is studying the effects of reducing the use of 

restrictive interventions, such as seclusion and restraint, in the 

inpatient mental health setting. 

Research and education showcases

In December 2015, we hosted our inaugural, annual Research 

Day at the LCCH. Child health researchers shared their research 

findings on a wide range of paediatric medical conditions and 

broader issues affecting children and young people. 

Research Day featured the work of paediatric researchers from 

Children’s Health Queensland, universities and other partners, 

with 25 studies selected for presentation and another 90 displayed 

as posters. The event provided an opportunity to highlight the wide 

spectrum of outstanding research currently underway within our 

organisation and to encourage further collaboration.  

Weekly grand rounds forums for clinicians on a host of informative 

and dynamic topics were held in the LCCH auditorium throughout 

the year. The purpose of  grand rounds is to broaden experiences 

and understanding of child and adolescent health, from a clinical, 

research, academic or other perspective.

The occupational therapy department hosted the OT Translating 

Research into Practice Symposium at the LCCH in September 2015. 

In March 2016, the Children’s Health Queensland Social Work 

and Welfare Service held a one-day workshop entitled 'Raising 

the Voice of the Most Vulnerable: Social Workers Driving a 

Paediatric Research Agenda'.

The nurse research team commenced 'Tuesdays @ 2', a 

weekly 30-minute session targeted at clinicians interested in 

research. It covered a range of topics, from developing research 

questions to completing a project and sharing results. 
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Children’s Health Queensland is the primary provider 

of paediatric training and education for healthcare 

professionals in Queensland. We are committed to 

delivering contemporary, collaborative and integrated 

programs which ensure the current and future workforce 

develop the skills and knowledge needed to deliver safe, 

effective, high quality and family-centred care. 

Accreditation 

Since the opening of the LCCH in November 2014, Children’s 

Health Queensland underwent a process of gaining accreditation 

for training in intern and vocational training posts and programs 

with the relevant accreditation authorities and specialist colleges, 

including the Royal Australasian College of Physicians, Australasian 

College of Emergency Medicine, Royal Australasian College of 

Surgery and Queensland Prevocational Medical Accreditation.

Medical workforce and education service

In 2015–2016, Children’s Health Queensland established 

an integrated Medical Workforce and Education Service to 

enhance the impact of medical staff and to create a clear career 

pathway for clinicians. As a result of this work, there are now 

defined service definitions, responsibilities and performance 

expectations, as well as streamlined services to support 

medical workforce education programs.

Medical student education and training

Clinical placements enable medical students to gain practical 

experience in preparation for graduate medical practice.  

Children’s Health Queensland continued to work with the 

UQ’s School of Medicine and other Queensland universities 

to provide clinical placements for final year medical students 

and for elective placements. There were also interstate and 

international student placements. 

In 2015–2016, Children’s Health Queensland hosted 53 elective 

placements, and 317 medical students were on rotation from 

January to June 2015. UQ School of Medicine’s Discipline of 

Paediatrics and Child Health, based in the LCCH, developed a 

responsive curriculum to ensure interns are work-ready. 

Paediatric palliative care collaboration

Children’s Health Queensland led education and quality 

improvements in paediatric palliative care in Queensland and 

worked with partners in New South Wales, Victoria, Western 

Australia and South Australia. The purpose of the Quality of Care 

Collaborative of Australia (QuoCCA), funded by a $2.1 million 

Department of Health (Commonwealth) grant, is to increase the 

capacity of health professionals in providing palliative care for 

children in their local communities, especially in regional and 

remote locations. A suite of educational resources will be made 

available online during 2017.

Vocational training and education

Children’s Health Queensland, with the LCCH, is the primary 

provider of paediatric training in Queensland and plays a key 

role as part of the Statewide Paediatric Basic Training Network 

in developing the future paediatric specialist workforce. 

We provide vocational training for most specialist college 

training paths, including general and subspeciality paediatric 

medicine and surgery, emergency medicine, intensive care, 

radiology and anaesthetics. Children’s Health Queensland 

is consistently performing above the national average, with 

pass rates above 80 per cent for trainees sitting basic training 

examinations. Children’s Health Queensland also hosts the 

Royal Australasian College of Physicians clinical examination 

for interstate candidates.

As part of our support for primary care, Children’s Health 

Queensland collaborate with GP training networks to provide 

up to four dedicated rotations per year to support GP trainees 

in expanding their paediatric knowledge and skills.

Education program for residents and registrars

In May 2016, Children’s Health Queensland launched a formal 

education program for residents and registrars employing the 

Royal Australasian College of Physicians (RACP) Basic Training 

Pathway. Education includes weekly, interactive face-to-face 

tutorials and pre-recorded lectures available online.  

All tutorials are accessible statewide via video conferencing 

and tutorials are recorded and uploaded to the iLearn system. 

Evaluation of the interactive tutorials showed all participants 

agreed that the sessions updated their knowledge and were 

relevant to their RACP exam preparation. Written examination 

results in February 2016 matched the national average, while 

results for the 2016 Clinical Examination in May 2016 exceeded 

the state and national average.

2.4.2 Education



New nursing grads
employed by CHQ 34last year

2014-2015 58this year
2015-2016
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Undergraduate students in nursing 

LCCH successfully trialled the Undergraduate Students in 

Nursing (USiN) program in 2015 with the support of our nursing 

leadership team and clinical staff. Following the initial intake of 

35 USiNs in May and June 2015, a further 36 students joined the 

program in January 2016. 

The USiNs’ primary responsibility is a clinical-support role 

working under the supervision of a registered nurse. They are 

employed on contract, subject to renewal every six months 

based on performance and continued academic achievement. 

The program offered placements to second-year, second-

semester nursing students from QUT, Griffith University and UQ. 

In December 2015, 23 USiNs from the initial program graduated 

from university and applied for graduate positions at LCCH. 

Some 17 were employed as new graduate nurses at the hospital, 

comprising 40 per cent of the new graduate cohort. 

Nursing education learning opportunities

We are committed to growing and developing a skilled 

paediatric nursing workforce. In 2015–2016, the nursing 

education team provided extensive learning opportunities 

and support to nursing staff at Children’s Health Queensland. 

Whenever possible, an interdisciplinary approach is taken to 

education and learning opportunities. In the past year, the 

nursing education team facilitated: 

• Some 328 simulation training sessions with 941 participants.

• Up to 185 workshops with 1,802 participants.

• A total of 954 in-service sessions with 4,533 participants.

• Up to 29 professional update programs for 550 participants.

2.4.2 Education

GP training and knowledge sharing is an important 

part of Children’s Health Queensland’s commitment to 

delivering the best possible healthcare for every child 

and young person in Queensland and northern New 

South Wales, regardless of where they live.

In October 2015, 150 GPs from across Queensland and 

New South Wales attended the inaugural Paediatric 

Masterclass for General Practice held at the Lady 

Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH). 

The Masterclass consisted of interactive lecture-style 

presentations and practical skills workshops. Topics 

included the management of paediatric conditions 

commonly seen in general practice such as food 

allergies, childhood cough, obesity, urinary tract 

infections, ENT disorders, and child protection issues.

The Masterclass, which was well received by GPs, was 

a registered education activity with both the Royal 

Australian College of General Practitioners and the 

Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine. 

A regular e-newsletter for GPs, Developments, 

managed by the GP Liaison Team, provides information 

on educational events, referral guidelines, updates 

to clinics and services, as well as articles of interest 

about the health of children and young people. 

Five editions of Developments were distributed to 

subscribers in 2015–2016. 

Continuing education for GPs
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Regional professional development program

Children’s Health Queensland launched a Regional Development 

Paediatric Program in 2015 with the support of the Nursing and 

Midwifery Office Queensland. This gave nurses from across the 

state the opportunity to complete tailored, four-week clinical 

placements at LCCH to develop their paediatric skills and 

knowledge, and gain valuable paediatric nursing experience. In 

2015–2016, 42 nurses completed placements in the oncology, 

medical and surgical departments, operating suite and in 

intensive care and emergency. 

Graduate nursing placements

Children’s Health Queensland continued to support the learning 

and development of nursing students with a 33 per cent 

increase in completed placement hours in 2015–2016 from 1,199 

student weeks in 2014–2015 to 1,631 in 2015–2016. A total of 614 

students (592 undergraduates and 22 postgraduate students) 

completed 61,976 hours of clinical placement.

Children’s Health Queensland also increased placements in 

our Child and Youth Mental Health Service and Child and Youth 

Community Health Service.  

New graduate programs 

Participation in Children’s Health Queensland’s new graduate 

program continued to grow in 2015–2016. This included 15 new 

graduates (14 acute paediatrics, one perioperative) commencing 

work in August 2015 and 43 new graduates (33 acute paediatrics, 

six intensive care, two perioperative and two mental health) 

commencing in February 2016. 

New graduates consolidate their knowledge in their chosen 

clinical areas and must undertake a Transition to Paediatric 

Practice Program within 12 months. Some 31 of 35 new graduate 

nurses who completed their program in February 2016 gained 

permanent employment with Children’s Health Queensland. 

Statewide Nurse Educator Network 

LCCH nurse educators have led the formulation of a statewide 

Nurse Educator Network. The purpose of the group is to lead 

and facilitate the delivery of contemporary paediatric nursing 

education across the state. Monthly videoconference meetings 

commenced in February 2016 with the first face-to-face 

workshops conducted in June 2016.  

Speech pathology

In 2015–2016, the speech pathology department participated  

in a range of education events to supporting learning and 

development. Activities included a three-day interdisciplinary 

feeding workshop with presentations from speech pathology, 

occupational therapy, nutrition and dietetics, and lactation 

consultants. A total of 62 participants attended from Queensland, 

New South Wales and South Australia. Feedback from participants 

was positive with increased skills developed and networking 

established statewide between LCCH staff and clinicians working 

with paediatric feeding in urban, rural and remote locations. 

“ We are committed to 

growing and developing 

a skilled paediatric 

nursing workforce”
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Simulated Learning in Paediatrics for Allied Health

Children’s Health Queensland’s Simulated Learning in 

Paediatrics for Allied Health (SLiPAH) program embeds authentic 

simulated-learning experiences for occupational therapists, 

physiotherapists and speech pathologists across Queensland. 

SLiPAH is committed to entrenching both the National Safety 

and Quality Health Standards and National Professional 

Standards in its programs.

In 2015–2016:

• Some 2,457 students from six Queensland universities 

undertook 4,122 hours of simulated learning

• Up to 455 allied health workers across Queensland received 

1,373 hours of training

• A total of 1,518 Queensland students and 1,019 therapists 

worldwide registered for one of three online elearning 

packages.

The SLiPAH team also made 10 presentations at seven 

conferences, including a workshop on simulated learning in 

paediatric intensive care at the World Congress on Paediatric 

Intensive and Critical Care in Toronto in June 2016. 

In the past year, there was a particular focus on standards for 

clinical handover, detection of the deteriorating patient, clinical 

governance and infection prevention. Ongoing evaluation is 

an integral part of the SLIPAH program and this was enhanced 

though collaboration with universities throughout Queensland. 

Other education projects which supported physiotherapists 

in 2015–2016 included a week-long course designed for early 

career physiotherapists and those re-entering the workforce, 

with a particular focus on supporting physiotherapists from rural 

and regional areas.

Simulation Training on Resuscitation for Kids

The Simulation Training on Resuscitation for Kids (SToRK) Program 

continues to provide regional, rural and remote clinicians with 

greater access to customised paediatric simulation training 

opportunities. This ensures they are appropriately equipped  

and supported to provide quality care in their local area.

Since transitioning to the LCCH, the SToRK team has tailored in-

service placements to further enhance the acquisition of expert 

paediatric skills for clinicians from across the state. 

The statewide rollout of Children’s Health Queensland’s 

Recognition and Management of the Deteriorating Paediatric 

Patient (RMDPP) interprofessional training course continued  

in 2015–2016. Thirty-six hospitals across the state’s 16 hospital 

and health services have now embedded the program in their 

interdisciplinary paediatric education curriculums. By 30 June 

2016, 5,201 participants had completed the core skills  

elearning course, 2,695 had completed the advanced skills 

elearning course, and 3,110 clinicians had participated in the 

face-to-face course. 

A range of new simulation education programs have also been 

implemented, including:

• Paediatric Advanced Care in Trauma (PACT) 

• Paediatric Emergency Medicine Training in Emergency Asset 

Management through Simulation (PEM TEAMS) 

• Managing Emergencies in Paediatric Anaesthesia (MEPA) 

• Optimising Paediatric Training In eMergencies Using 

Simulation (OPTIMUS) 

• Establishment of Anaesthetic / ORS simulation program

• Weekly Simulation Training In Kid’s Emergency (STRIKE) 

program in LCCH Emergency.

2.4.2 Education



Children’s Health Queensland aims to become a fully 

digital health service to transform the way we engage 

with patients, families, staff and partners. In 2015–2016, 

with $5.8million in additional funding provided by the 

Queensland Government, we invested in digital capabilities 

to deliver safer and more reliable healthcare.

Our Digital Engagement strategy is designed to ensure patients 

and their families actively participate in their child’s care and 

are positively influenced to make healthy lifestyle decisions. 

Digital engagement is being driven through the commitment 

and teamwork of senior clinical staff, supported by dedicated 

project management, training and technology experts. A key 

part of our digital healthcare strategy is ensuring access to 

integrated real-time patient information, enabling clinicians 

and service providers to spend less time doing paperwork 

and more time with patients. Our digital engagement strategy 

will also improve clinical collaboration between colleagues 

and partners across the state, so strengthening efficiency and 

supporting best practice clinical care and research.

In 2014, the first stage of the integrated electronic Medical 

Record (ieMR) program was successfully delivered at 

Children’s Health Queensland, employing the Cerner 

Millennium Core Solution. In 2015–2016, we commenced 

planning for the rollout of three new Cerner modules and 

upgading core technology at Child and Youth Community 

Health locations across the state.

Other ieMR improvements planned for late 2016 include 

new electronic ordering, specimen management and the 

ability to view documented results will be introduced for 

medical imaging and pathology. The move away from paper 

will enable clinicians to order, manage, view and endorse 

documented results in a single-patient ieMR record.

New appointment-scheduling processes will be introduced 

to the Child Development Program within the Child and 

Youth Community Health Service. The new processes will 

be trialled prior to broader deployment across Children’s 

Health Queensland.

In 2015–2016, Children’s Health Queensland also began 

implementing the Electronic Referral Management System 

(eRefer). The referral centre at LCCH processes up to 400 

referrals a day from GPs, community centres, and hospital and 

health services across the state. eRefer is an easy-to-use web 

application to better manage all patient referrals. Phase 1 of 

the application, launched in May 2016, automatically converts 

faxed referrals into electronic referral files, allowing the referral 

team to track a patient’s referral from arrival to processing. The 

eRefer project will be completed by the end of 2017 when it will 

become fully integrated with GP referral and other systems.

Digital Engagement Strategy
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2.4.3 Innovation and digital engagement

iCARE

In January 2016, Children’s Health Queensland launched 

the Innovation, Clinical and Redesign Excellence (iCARE) 

program to drive change and improvement across the 

organisation. The purpose of iCARE is to bring structure and 

reliability to improvement opportunities and a standardised 

approach to managing change. 

iCARE is underpinned by seven principles which are consistent 

with Children’s Health Queensland’s Strategic Plan: consumer 

engagement; staff capability; patient quality and safety; ideas; 

efficiency; messages; and outcomes.

Since its launch, the iCARE program has initiated more than 35 

improvement projects at Children’s Health Queensland, including 

establishing an iCARE Governance Committee which includes 

consumer representatives, and three steering committees.  

More than 50 staff members have attended change management 

training and other workshops, and a suite of tools and templates 

have been developed to support staff managing improvements.

Our commitment to partnering with consumers has ensured the 

development of improved information for families, including new 

publications about telehealth and support available to families 

attending LCCH. Consumers also co-designed a new family 

e-newsletter which will be issued monthly from August 2016. 

The iCARE team looks forward to continued improvements 

across Children’s Health Queensland to enhance the healthcare 

experience of patients and families. 
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2.5 Financial management

Children’s Health Queensland’s operating result for 2015–2016 

was a surplus of $30.821 million. The full-year surplus was 

attributable to a non-cash equity contribution ($35.062 million) 

from the Department of Health. This non-cash equity contribution 

offsets the prior year revaluation decrement of the same value for 

the write-down of buildings at the former Royal Children’s Hospital 

site. This income is not directly attributable to the underlying 

operational performance of Children’s Health Queensland.  

Excluding the non-cash equity contribution, the underlying 

operating loss of $4.241 million reflects additional expenditure 

attributable to the increased service demand at the Lady Cilento 

Children’s Hospital (LCCH). 

Queensland Health confirmed that the year-end result was  

a 'technical deficit' as a result of agreed use of prior-year 

retained earnings.

Funding overview

Children’s Health Queensland’s income from all funding 

sources was $689.756 million, representing an increase of 

$188.268 million or 27 per cent from the previous year.  

Total income includes the non-cash equity contribution of 

$35.062 million. The income growth, from operating sources, 

was primarily attributable to additional funding received 

through amendments to the Service Agreement between 

Children's Health Queensland and the Department of Health. 

This additional funding includes the full-year effect of increases 

in service activity, enterprise bargaining agreements, and newly 

funded initiatives, including financial support for growth in 

staffing for additional bed capacity at the LCCH.

Expenditure overview

Total expenses for 2015–2016 increased by 17 per cent or 

$115.252 million to $658.935 million. This was primarily 

attributable to:

• Increased staffing and clinical service costs associated with 

the first full year of operations of the LCCH; 

• Enterprise bargaining agreements wage increases; and

• Full year effect of increased building management and 

maintenance costs, and enhanced information technology 

services at the LCCH Energy Plant, and Centre for Children's 

Health Research buildings.

Chart 5, on page 55, shows the 2015–2016 expenses by major 

category.

How the money was spent

The majority of expenditure was incurred on acute hospital 

services which accounts for 69 per cent of the total expenditure. 

Community-based services account for 16 per cent of the total 

expenditure, while corporate and infrastructure services are 

14 per cent. The remaining 1 per cent of expenditure relates to 

strategic projects, non-operating research and trust activities. 

Children’s Health Queensland’s major services and their 

relative share are shown in Chart 6. 

Total assets

Total assets decreased by $38.982 million during the year to $1.337 

billion. Property, plant and equipment totalling $1.272 billion, is 

the predominant asset class and mainly comprises the LCCH and 

associated infrastructure. The reduction in total assets reflects:

• The annual depreciation and amortisation of all non-current 

assets amounted to $45.561 million

• A net revaluation increment relating to land and buildings of 

$14.424 million

• The net transfer of property, plant and equipment to the 

Department of Health and other hospital and health services 

totalling $10.433 million. This includes the transfer of the 

former Royal Children Hospital site buildings to Metro North 

Hospital and Health Service.

Total equity

Total equity is $1.272 billion, which is a decrease from the 

prior year of $49.069 million. This decrease mainly reflects the 

impact of non-current assets depreciation and amortisation.

2.5.1 Financial performance summary
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2.5.1 Statement of financial performance

The following audited statements are compared to the budget initially allocated to Children’s Health Queensland in the 2015–2016 

Queensland Government state budget papers. The Children’s Health Queensland Service Agreement is amended throughout the 

year for changes in additional funding from the Queensland Department of Health. Children’s Health Queensland’s results against 

budget can be referenced to Section D of the Financial Statements.  

 2015-16 Actual $'000 2015-16 Budget $'000

Statement of comprehensive income

User charges and fees 644,957 607,196

Grants and other contributions 36,995 1,376

Other revenue 1,093 3,719

Gains on disposal/re-measurement of assets 6,711 –

Total income from continuing operations 689,756 612,291

Employee expenses 431,880 414,545

Supplies and services 172,943 137,845

Grants 1,626 1,050

Depreciation and amortisation 45,561 56,237

Loss on disposal/re-measurement of assets 754 126

Other expenses 6,171 2,488

Total  expenses from continuing operations 658,935 612,291

Operating result from continuing operations 30,821 –

Statement of financial position

Total assets 1,337,316 1,327,053

Total liabilities 64,569 56,529

Net assets/total equity 1,272,747 1,270,524

Chart 4: CHQ income by source 2015–2016 Chart 5: CHQ expenses by category 2015–2016 Chart 6: CHQ expenses by services 2015–2016
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Section 77(2)(b) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 

requires the Chief Finance Officer of departments to provide 

the accountable officer with a statement as to whether 

the department’s financial internal controls are operating 

efficiently, effectively, and economically. 

While not legislated as mandatory for Children’s Health 

Queensland, a statement assessing our financial internal controls 

has been provided by the Acting Chief Finance Officer to the 

Health Service Chief Executive, the Audit and Risk Committee 

and the Board at reporting date.  The statement was prepared in 

conformance with Section 57 of the Financial and Performance 

Management Standard 2009. 

Purchasing and performance

From 1 July 2012, the Hospital and Health Services Board Act 

2011 was introduced to facilitate the provision of public health 

services under a purchaser-provider model whereby Children’s 

Health Queensland operates in accordance with a service level 

agreement with the Department of Health to deliver an agreed 

level of services in accordance with the National Health Reform 

Agreement 2012. The Hospital and Health Services Performance 

Framework provides an integrated process for the review, 

assessment and reporting of performance for Children’s Health 

Queensland and forms part of the service level agreement. The 

Children's Health Queensland finance department monitors 

performance against this service level agreement framework on 

a regular basis and provides operating performance reports to 

the Board, the Board Finance and Performance Committee, and 

Executive Leadership Team. The Children’s Health Queensland 

Performance Management Framework uses key performance 

indicators and accountability mechanisms as the basis for 

monitoring and driving performance, and the targets, where 

possible, are linked to national agreements such as the National 

Health Reform Agreement 2012, National Partnership Agreement, 

and the National Performance and Accountability Framework.

Future outlook

Children's Health Queensland’s 2016–2017 key priorities 

and objectives align with and support the Queensland 

Government’s objectives for the community to deliver quality 

frontline services including strengthening the public health 

system, and building safe caring and connected communities. 

The service agreement funding for 2016–2017 will incorporate 

key clinical resources to deliver increasing activity for the 

LCCH. Total income from continuing operations in 2016–2017 

is estimated to increase to $684.652 million, excluding the 

2015–2016 comparative non-cash equity contribution of 

$35.062 million.

 On the basis of this funding, Children’s Health Queensland is 

expected to achieve the following key service outcomes:

• Balanced financial position in 2016–2017;

• Achievement of the QWAU activity target applied by DoH, 

and increased delivery of public activity against the 

Commonwealth NWAU target;

• Achieve the average National Emergency Access Target 

(NEAT) of at least 83 per cent;

• Elective surgery performance must be in line with the current 

interim targets of 98 per cent for Category 1 patients, 95 per 

cent for Category 2 patients, and 95 per cent for Category 3 

patients. There must be no elective surgery long waits by 30 

June 2017; and

• Further reduction in the number of specialist outpatient long 

waits and the LCCH target being zero long waits at 30 June 2017.

Additional services or specific purpose programs funded in the 

2016–2017 budget are:  

• Mental Health allocation 2016–2017 ($1.400 million): 

Establishment a Youth Residential Rehabilitation Unit on the 

north side of Brisbane.  The Youth Residential Rehabilitation 

Unit forms part of a continuum of care for adolescents requiring 

mental health treatment in Queensland, providing supported 

accommodation delivered in partnership with a non-government 

organisation.

• Court Liaison Services ($1.800 million): Expanded clinical 

child and youth court liaison services to support recent 

changes to the Mental Health Act.

• Full-year effect of additional LCCH bed capacity of up 

to 31 additional beds (an additional $12.699 million): 

Commissioning of an extra 31 bed capacity at LCCH bringing 

total available beds capacity to 331.  

• Full-year effect of new positions for primary school nurses 

($2.600 million): The Primary School Nurse Health Readiness 

Program provides free vision screening to prep school children.  

• Increased funding for nurse navigators, educators and 

graduates ($1.500 million). The increase in nurse educators 

is to support the orientation, induction and development of 

existing and new staff members.

• Increased funding for Persistent Pain Clinic ($0.500 million): 

The aim of the Paediatric Persistent Pain Management 

Service is to improve the health and wellbeing of Queensland 

children and young people with persistent pain. This initiative 

will build capacity and provide a coordinated approach to 

addressing the causes and consequences of persistent pain.

• Cannabis Refractory Epilepsy Trial ($0.869 million). 

Queensland Health in partnership with GW Pharmaceuticals 

will provide Queensland’s first medicinal cannabis clinical 

trial for children with severe drug-resistant epilepsy.

2.5.3 Chief Finance Officer’s statement
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3. Governance

3.1 Organisational chart

Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health Board

Health Service Chief Executive

Executive Director Medical Services

Executive Director Hospital Services

Executive Director Nursing Services

Executive Director Allied Health

Executive Director Governance, Strategy and Planning

Executive Director People and Culture

Executive Director Community, Mental Health  
and Statewide Services

Director Research

Senior Director Communications and Engagement

Senior Director Business and Process Improvement

Chief Finance Officer

Chief Information Officer

Board Secretary



The Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health 

Service Board is appointed by the Governor in Council 

on the recommendation of the Minister for Health and 

Ambulance Services. 

The Board is an independent statutory authority responsible 

for the governance of Children’s Health Queensland, in terms 

of the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 and Health Boards 

Regulation 2012. The Board’s responsibilities are to:

• Oversee Children’s Health Queensland, as necessary, 

including its control and accountability systems

• Provide input into and final approval of Executive’s 

development of organisational strategy and performance 

objectives, including agreeing the terms of the Children’s 

Health Queensland Service Agreement with the Chief 

Executive (Director-General) of the Department of Health 

• Review, ratify and monitor systems of risk management and 

internal control and legal compliance

• Monitor Health Service Chief Executive’s and senior 

executives’ performance (including appointment and 

termination) and implementation of the Strategic Plan

• Approve and monitor the progress of minor capital expenditure, 

capital management, and acquisitions and divestitures

• Approve and monitor the annual budget and financial  

and other reporting.

Board meetings

Board meetings were held at LCCH and a number of Children's 

Health Queensland community sites on:   

2015 Apologies 2016 Apologies

30 July G Somerset, C Herbert 4 Feb D Wood, D Gow

27 Aug R Willims 3 Mar

24 Sept 7 Apr J Yacopetti

29 Oct 3 May

26 Nov 2 June R Willims, L Johnston, J Yacopetti

A total $11,091 out of pocket expenses were paid to the Board during 

the reporting period.

Board sub-committees

The following sub-committees supported the Board:

Audit and Risk Sub-committee: Paul Cooper, Chair, David Gow,   

Ross Willims, Dr David Wood

Health Service Executive Sub-committee: Jane Yacopetti, Chair, 

Cheryl Herbert, Rachel Hunter, Georgie Somerset

Finance and Performance Sub-committee: David Gow, Chair,  

Paul Cooper, Dr Leanne Johnston, Ross Willims

Quality and Safety Sub-committee: Dr David Wood, Chair,  

Dr Leanne Johnston, Cheryl Herbert, Rachel Hunter, Georgie Somerset
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3.2 Board

Rachel Hunter Chair

Ms Hunter is a highly experienced senior public servant 

with extensive board capability and in-depth knowledge 

of the health sector. She retired as Director-General of 

the Department of Justice and Attorney-General in 2010 

and since then has conducted several capability reviews 

for the Federal Government, including a review of the 

Commonwealth Department of Health. She has also 

completed a review into the operational environment of 

the Department of Health for the Queensland Government. 

She has served as Director-General of the Department of 

Education, Training and the Arts, Queensland’s Public 

Service Commissioner, and as Chair of TAFE Queensland.

Ms Hunter was originally appointed on 30 October 2015, 

her current term of office is until 16 May 2017.

“ The Board oversees 

Children's Health 

Queensland's control 

and accountability 

systems”

Jane Yacopetti Deputy Chair

Ms Yacopetti has extensive executive management 

experience in the health sector, including her current 

role as Managing Director of Carramar Consulting. Ms 

Yacopetti has held a number of senior positions in health 

management including policy, strategic planning, health 

service administration and infrastructure planning. A 

former executive at the Royal Children’s Hospital, Ms 

Yacopetti went on to be Deputy Chief Executive Officer of 

Mater Health Services from 1998-2000 and the Executive 

Director of the Queensland Children’s Hospital Project 

from 2009–2011. Ms Yacopetti was originally appointed 

on 18 May 2013, her current term of office is 18 May 2016 

until 17 May 2019.
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Paul Cooper

Mr Cooper has more than 25 years’ experience as an 

accountant in private practice. Mr Cooper has broad 

experience in a number of industries with current 

and former board positions in manufacturing, 

accounting, education, health and industrial 

electronics. He is a previous director and chairman 

of the Finance Committee of CPA Australia and 

former Queensland President of CPA Australia.  

Mr Cooper is also a Director of the Export Council of 

Australia and the Rinstrum Group. Mr Cooper was 

originally appointed on 29 June 2012, his current 

term of office is 18 May 2016 until 17 May 2019.

David Gow

Mr Gow brings more than 30 years’ experience in law, 

banking and finance, having held senior leadership roles 

with a multinational bank in Australia and internationally. 

Since returning to Australia in 2008, Mr Gow has held a 

number of non-executive board roles in government and 

private sector companies, specialising in governance, 

financial management, and audit and risk management. 

He also gained extensive knowledge of research 

commercialisation during his time as a director of 

University of Queensland Holdings. Mr Gow was originally 

appointed on 18 May 2013, his current term of office is 18 

May 2014 until 17 May 2017.

Cheryl Herbert

Adjunct Professor Herbert has more than 20 years’ 

experience as a chief executive officer and leader within 

not-for-profit and government health and regulatory 

organisations. She is the current CEO of the Institute of 

Healthy Communities Australia (IHCA Ltd) and vice chair  

of the Brisbane South Primary Health Network Pty Ltd.  

A trained midwife and nurse, Ms Herbert is a fellow of the 

Australian College of Nursing and the Australian Institute of 

Company Directors, and board member of Lives Lived Well 

Pty Ltd and Wound Management Innovation CRC Pty Ltd. She 

was the founding CEO of the Health Quality and Complaints 

Commission (HQCC) from 2006 and served as the CEO of 

Anglicare for 10 years. Ms Herbert was originally appointed 

on 26 June 2015, her current term of office is 18 May 2016 

until 17 May 2019.

Dr Leanne Johnston

Dr Johnston is a paediatric physiotherapist with 20 years’ 

experience across clinical, research, management and 

education roles. She has worked for 11 years within the 

Mater Children’s, Mater Mother’s and Royal Children’s 

Hospitals. She has a Doctor of Philosophy and an 

extensive career in paediatric research, receiving several 

awards and grants and directing a multidisciplinary 

research program at the Cerebral Palsy League. She now 

leads the paediatric physiotherapy and multi-disciplinary 

Healthy Start to Life and undergraduate therapy research 

programs at The University of Queensland. Dr Johnston 

was originally appointed on 29 June 2012, her current 

term of office is 18 May 2016 until 17 May 2019.

Leilani Pearce

Ms Pearce has extensive experience in Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander health including policy development 

and service delivery reform.  She is an executive advisor 

in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander strategy and has a 

keen interest in regional, rural and remote health. Ms Pearce 

has previously held senior appointments with a national 

focus on health reform in the Queensland Aboriginal and 

Islander Health Council, Department of Health and Ageing, 

and Queensland Health. She is the current Chair of the 

Aboriginal Centre for the Performing Arts, a board member of 

ACT for Kids, an advisor to C and K, and the owner of a cattle 

property in North Queensland. Ms Pearce was originally 

appointed on 18 May 2016, her current term of office is 

until 17 May 2017.

Georgie Somerset

A company director, Ms Somerset brings extensive 

experience in consumer and community advocacy for 

children, young people and families living in rural and 

regional areas as well as strong board and strategic 

governance experience. She is the president of the 

Queensland Rural, Regional and Remote Women’s 

Network, a board member of Queensland Rural 

Adjustment Authority, and a Fellow of the Australian 

Rural Leadership Foundation and the Australian Institute 

of Company Directors. Ms Somerset was originally 

appointed on 23 August 2013, her current term of office is 

18 May 2014 to 17 May 2017.

Ross Willims

Mr Willims has held a number of senior executive 

positions within both the public and private sector such as 

Vice President External Affairs BHP Billiton Metallurgical 

Coal, and Director-General of the Queensland Department 

of Mines and Energy. He has also worked in a range 

of Commonwealth Government departments. On his 

retirement from BHP Billiton, he was appointed Chairman 

of the Australian Coal Association and Australian Coal 

Association Low Emissions Technologies Limited.  

Mr Willims was awarded life membership of the 

Queensland Resources Council in 2011. Mr Willims was 

originally appointed on 18 May 2014, his current term of 

office is 26 June 2015 until 17 May 2018.

Dr David Wood AM

Dr Wood has more than 20 years’ experience in child 

protection in Queensland. He is a board member and 

former Chair of ACT for Kids (previously known as Abused 

Child Trust) and until recently, Director of Paediatric Health 

Services at Mater Children’s Hospital. Dr Wood is a well-

respected paediatrician who brings significant experience 

working in Queensland hospitals. As a founding member 

of the Abused Child Trust he has been instrumental in 

breaking the cycle of abuse and neglect in Australia 

through therapy for abused children and their families. 

Dr Wood was originally appointed on 29 June 2012, his 

current term of office is 18 May 2014 until 17 May 2017.
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3.3 Executive

Fionnagh Dougan

Health Service Chief Executive

Fionnagh has a long and successful history in 

leading change in complex healthcare environments 

and a lifelong commitment to improving children’s 

health. She was appointed Chief Executive of 

Children’s Health Queensland in January 2015. Prior 

to this, she had overarching responsibility for all 

hospital, clinical support and community services, 

including paediatric and mental health services, in 

her role as Director of Provider Services, Auckland 

District Health Board (ADHB). She is also a former 

General Manager of Auckland’s Starship Children’s 

Hospital and Child Health Services. Fionnagh 

began her career in nursing at the Royal Infirmary 

of Edinburgh and has postgraduate qualifications 

in health management, an honours degree in 

communication and media, and has held dual 

registration and experience as both a mental health 

and a general nurse.

Dr Andrew Hallahan

Executive Director Medical Services

Andrew is a passionate advocate of continuous improvement 

in patient safety and has worked in children’s healthcare 

for more than 20 years nationally and internationally. After 

graduating from the University of Sydney Medical School 

and completing an adult residency he entered paediatrics. 

Following a training that included paediatric and neonatal 

intensive care, rural, community and child mental health he 

chose a career in children’s cancer medicine. He completed 

oncology fellowships in Sydney and Seattle, developing 

expertise in blood and marrow transplant and children’s 

brain tumour biology. Andrew came to Brisbane in 2005 to 

lead the Children’s Blood and Marrow Transplant and Cancer 

Research Programs with a focus on quality assurance and 

improvement. In addition, he established the Queensland 

Children’s Tumour Bank. Progressing to become Medical Lead 

Patient Safety for Children’s Health Queensland in 2012 he 

co-developed the LCCH Patient Safety Operating System.

Alan Fletcher

Acting Chief Finance Officer

Alan has more than 25 years’ financial leadership 

and management experience within the public 

health sector. He has extensive knowledge 

and experience in key strategic financial and 

procurement functions, such as financial 

management and governance, including the 

implementation and re-engineering of business 

processes and financial systems; operational 

performance management and reporting; 

procurement, contracts management and logistics; 

and clinical costing and business analysis.  Alan 

is currently Chair of the Children’s Healthcare 

Australasia (CHA) Performance and Efficiency 

Special Interest Group, a collaboration of senior 

managers from tertiary paediatric hospitals across 

Australia and New Zealand.

Shelley Nowlan

Executive Director Nursing Services

Shelley has 29 years’ experience in healthcare and 

has held a range of executive clinical and health 

administrative leadership roles for the past 15 years.  

Her expertise includes clinical innovation, leadership 

development, strategic planning, change management, 

policy development, research, clinical practice and 

workforce development. In 2015 she was awarded an 

Outstanding Achievement in Nursing award. Shelley holds 

a Bachelor of Nursing, Master of Health Management, 

Diploma of Project Management and is a graduate of the 

Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Kerrie Freeman

Executive Director Hospital Services

Kerrie is an experienced healthcare executive with 

more than 14 years of experience in Australasian 

healthcare, with particular strengths in transformative 

change management. Her recent roles include 

healthcare purchasing and performance with the 

Queensland Department of Health and operational 

leadership of remote health services in the Torres 

Strait. Kerrie has qualifications in both business and 

health, including a PhD in public health.

Tania Hobson

Executive Director Allied Health

Tania is a hospital executive and health care practitioner, 

with a strong clinical background and extensive 

experience as a strategic and operational manager 

and professional leader. Tania has a passion for health 

management, transformative organisational change, 

consumer and community engagement, and best  

practice models of care. She has qualifications in  

Speech Pathology and business and is currently  

enrolled in her PhD. 



Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health Service   61

Alastair Sharman

Chief Information Officer

Alastair is an information management and 

technology professional with more than two 

decades’ experience across private and public 

sectors in Australia and internationally. This 

includes 12 years in the Australian Defence Force 

where he served in the peace-keeping force in 

Bougainville and with the United Nations in East 

Timor. He holds a Master of Science in Information 

Technology and a Bachelor of Arts with Honours 

and is a graduate of both the Royal Military College 

and the Australian Defence Force Academy. Having 

worked in the healthcare sector for the past nine 

years, Alastair has an extensive knowledge of 

the information management and technology 

opportunities and challenges in healthcare.

Frank Tracey

Executive Director Community,  
Mental Health and Statewide Services

Frank has more than 30 years’ experience working in 

health systems. Frank has a background in nursing 

and holds advanced qualifications in both health 

and management. His extensive experience in 

health commissioning and provision in both tertiary 

hospital and community settings is complemented 

by strong managerial and leadership skills, and an 

applied interest in translational health research. 

While working in both government and non-

government roles. 

Colleen Clur

Senior Director Communications 
and Engagement

Colleen has worked extensively in communications, 

media and marketing roles for the past 25 years. 

She was worked in senior roles in the higher 

education and health sectors and has consulted 

widely on health communication and stakeholder 

engagement. She has provided high-level 

expertise to a wide range of government and 

private sector organisations, and has extensive 

experience executing stakeholder engagement, 

communications and marketing strategies. She is 

a published author and holds a Master of Arts and 

Graduate Diploma in Business Administration.

Sue Hawes

Senior Director Business and  
Process Improvement

Sue has worked in the health and welfare sector  

as a clinician and senior manager for more than  

30 years and has extensive experience in 

managing organisational change and performance 

improvement. Her collaborative approach includes 

the ‘voice of the patient’ which she uses to 

implement and embed change. Sue has completed an 

Executive MBA, is an Adjunct Associate Professor at 

QUT and a Fellow of the Australian College of Nursing.

Deidre Roos-Korf

Executive Director People and Culture

Deidre Roos-Korf has more than 20 years’ experience as a 

transformational human resources leader and previously 

held the position of General Manager Human Resources, 

Communications and External Affairs at Arrium Mining. 

She holds a PhD in Organisational Psychology and a 

Master in Business Administration. Deidre has been 

working in executive management for the past 11 years.

Taresa Rosten

Executive Director Governance,  
Strategy and Planning

Taresa has a background in human resource 

management and industrial relations, and diverse 

experience in governance, strategic leadership, and 

board operations. She has a Bachelor of Laws and a 

Bachelor of Commerce majoring in Human Resource 

Management.
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3.4 Risk management

The Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health 

Service enterprise risk management framework is 

underpinned by best practice, including the Australian New 
Zealand International Standard 31000:2009. 

Children’s Health Queensland recognises that managing risk 

is integral to health system efficiency, delivery of safe clinical 

services, the safety of patients, the welfare of our workforce 

and financial sustainability. We therefore proactively manage 

risk in line with our enterprise risk management framework.

In 2015–2016, Children’s Health Queensland developed an 

updated suite of policy documents and risk management 

tools, which redefined our commitment, principles, roles and 

responsibilities, communication and reporting processes. We 

also built capability across the organisation through regular risk 

management training and awareness programs. The Executive, 

Audit and Risk Committee and Board monitored strategic, 

operational and top line risks through regular risk register 

reviews and reporting. 

Audit and Risk Sub-Committee
The Audit and Risk Sub-Committee provides independent 

assurance and oversight to the Chief Executive and the Board 

on risk, internal control and compliance frameworks, and 

external accountability responsibilities as prescribed in the 

Financial Accountability Act 2009, Auditor-General Act 2009, 

Financial Accountability Regulation 2009 and Financial and 

Performance Management Standard 2009.

The Audit and Risk Sub-Committee met four times in 2015–

2016. Remuneration for their duties is included in their Board 

remuneration, as outlined in the remuneration disclosures 

section of Children’s Health Queensland Financial Statements.

Activities of the Audit and Risk Sub-Committee in 2015-16 included:

• Reviewed and approved Children’s Health Queensland’s 

2015–2016 financial statements

• Noted Queensland Audit Office’s client service strategy, 

interim and final management letters, and reviewed the 

Executive's response to findings and recommendations

• Reviewed and endorsed the Strategic and Annual Internal Audit plans

• Monitored the successful implementation of a new co-

sourced internal audit partnership.

• Reviewed and noted internal audit reports, including 

Executive's response to findings and recommendations

• Reviewed risk management reports and noted Executive’s 

and management's response to identified risks

• Reviewed and noted reports on compliance, fraud and insurance.

Internal audit

Internal audit provides independent, objective assurance and 

advice to the Executive and Audit and Risk Sub-Committee 

on Children’s Health Queensland’s internal controls and 

operational effectiveness. Internal audit recommendations 

are designed to facilitate the achievement of our objectives 

by improving our risk management, control and governance 

processes. Internal audit findings, risks and recommendations 

are reviewed by the Audit and Risk Sub-Committee throughout 

the year.

In addition to delivering audits, both planned and adhoc 

in response to requests from the Executive, internal audit 

activites during 2015-2016 included regular status reports for 

the Executive, Audit and Risk Sub-Committee and the Board, 

outlining the implementation of internal and external audit 

recommendations.  

External scrutiny

In 2015-16, Children’s Health Queensland was subject to the 

following external reviews:

• In April 2015, the Queensland Government appointed an 

independent panel to lead a review into the building and 

commissioning of the LCCH. The purpose was to make 

recommendations to support future building and operational 

commissioning processes for public health infrastructure 

projects. The August 2015 report made 23 recommendations 

on health infrastructure projects in Queensland.  

It acknowledged the complexity of bringing together staff, 

services and patients of two existing children’s hospitals  

into one purpose-built facility.

• The Queensland Audit Office conducted a review of 

Queensland public hospital operating theatre efficiency. 

Eight recommendations were made to Queensland Hospital 

and Health Services. Children’s Health Queensland is 

implementing the relevant recommendations.

• The Queensland Audit Office produced a report on the results 

of the 2014-15 financial audits of the 16 Hospital and Health 

Services established on 1 July 2012.

• Children’s Health Queensland staff participated in hearings 

and provided submissions to the Barrett Adolescent Centre 

Commission of Inquiry which commenced on 14 September 

2015. The commission inquired into matters including 

the decision to close the Barrett Adolescent Centre (BAC), 

support and transition arrangements for BAC patients, and 

the consideration of possible alternatives to the closure  

of the BAC.
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3.5 Public Sector Ethics Act 1994

3.6 Information systems and record keeping

Children’s Health Queensland is committed to upholding 

the values and standards of conduct outlined in the Code 

of Conduct for the Queensland Public Service. The Code of 
Conduct also reflects the amended ethics principles and 

values set out in the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 (Qld).

The Code of Conduct reflects the principles of integrity and 

impartiality, promoting the public good, and commitment to 

the system of government, accountability and transparency. 

Each principle is strengthened by a set of values and standards 

of conduct describing the behaviour that will demonstrate  

that principle.  

Children’s Health Queensland identifies the Code of Conduct  

as one of six mandatory training requirements for all 

employees. Annual refresher training on the Code of Conduct 

is also a mandatory requirement. All new employees are 

automatically assigned their mandatory Code of Conduct 

training course through the Children’s Health Queensland 

learning management system, TEACHQ, for completion.  

The Code of Conduct is available to all staff on the Children’s 

Health Queensland intranet site along with an online  

learning program. 

A quarterly management capability learning program for line 

managers also includes a learning module on ethical decision 

making and the Code of Conduct.

Code of Conduct training is also a mandatory training 

requirement for members of external service providers who 

are not Children’s Health Queensland employees but deliver 

on site services to or for Children’s Health Queensland and at 

its premises. Members of external service providers include 

contractors, students, and volunteers. The Code of Conduct 

training is accessed online through the Department of Health 

learning management system. 

Children’s Health Queensland’s Health Information Services 

unit is committed to continuous service improvement to ensure 

timely access to critical information needed for high-quality 

patient care across the organisation. Achievements in 2015–

2016 included:

• More than 17,000 Mater medical records were scanned 

into the integrated electronic medical records (ieMR) since 

November 2014 to assist with the safe transition of care for 

patients from the former Mater Children’s Hospital who were 

continuing their treatment at LCCH.

• Increased engagement with Children’s Health Queensland 

staff to improve education in privacy and release of 

information principles.

• The transition of Corporate Records Management to the 

Information and Technology Services Division, under 

the Office of the Chief Information officer to facilitate a 

coordinated approach to information governance and data 

quality across Children’s Health Queensland.

• A successful trial of an upgraded electronic document and 

records management system (EDRMS) which will improve 

functionality, workflow and security storage of essential 

corporate records. This will be rolled out across the 

organisation in 2016–2017. 

• Corporate Records Governance content on the Children’s 

Health Queensland intranet reviewed and expanded to 

include a Corporate Records Management Policy.
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Appendices

Appendix 1. Compliance checklist

Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 
reference page no

Letter of compliance A letter of compliance from the accountable officer 

or statutory body to the relevant Minister/s

ARRs—section 8 1

Accessibility Table of contents ARRs—section 10.1 Inside front cover

Glossary 66

Public availability ARRs—section 10.2

Inside front cover

Interpreter service statement Queensland Government Language 

Services Policy 

ARRs—section 10.3

Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968 

ARRs—section 10.4 

Information licensing Queensland Government Enterprise 

Architecture—Information licensing 

ARRs—section 10.5 

General information Introductory information ARRs—section 11.1 4

Agency role and main functions ARRs—section 11.2 6 

56

Operating environment ARRs—section 11.3 6

Non-financial 

performance

Government objectives for the community ARRs—section 12.1 4

Other whole-of-government plans/ specific 

initiatives

ARRs—section 12.2 12-53

32-35

44-53

Agency objectives and performance indicators ARRs—section 12.3 6

Agency service areas, service standards and 

other measures

ARRs—section 12.4 29

Financial performance Summary of financial performance ARRs—section 13.1 54

Governance —  

management and 

structure

Organisational structure ARRs—section 14.1 57

Executive management ARRs—section 14.2 62

Government bodies (statutory bodies and other 

entities)

ARRs—section 14.3 N/A

Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 

(section 23 and schedule)

ARRs—section 14.4

63

Queensland Public Service Values ARRS – section 14.5 4

Governance —  

risk management and 

accountability

Risk management ARRs—section 15.1 62

Audit committee ARRs—section 15.2 62

Internal audit ARRs—section 15.3 62

External scrutiny ARRs—section 15.4 62

Information systems and record keeping ARRs—section 15.5 63
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Governance —  

human resources

Workforce planning and performance ARRs—section 16.1 38

Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment Directive No.11/12 Early Retirement, 

Redundancy and Retrenchment

ARRs—section 16.2

36

Open data Consultancies ARRS-section 17

ARRS-section 34.1

Additional information 

on consultancies, overseas 

travel and Queensland Language 

Services Policy has been 

published on the Queensland 

Government Open Data website 

qld.gov.au/data

Overseas travel ARRS-section 17

ARRS-section 34.2

Queensland Language Services Policy ARRS-section 17

ARRS-section 34.3

Financial statements Certification of financial statements FAA—section 62

FPMS—sections 42, 43 and 50

ARRs—section 18.1

Appendix 3 

47

Independent Auditor’s Report FAA—section

62 FPMS—section 50

ARRs—section 18.2

Appendix 3

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009 

FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 

ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies
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Accessible Accessible healthcare is characterised by the ability of people to obtain appropriate healthcare at the 
right place and right time, irrespective of income, cultural background or geography.

Activity based 
funding

A management tool with the potential to enhance public accountability and drive technical efficiency 
in the delivery of health services by:
• Capturing consistent and detailed information on hospital sector activity and accurately measuring the 
costs of delivery.
• Creating an explicit relationship between funds allocated and services provided.
•  Strengthening management’s focus on outputs, outcomes and quality, encouraging clinicians and 

managers to identify variations in costs and practices so they can be managed at a local level in the 
context of improving efficiency and effectiveness.

• Providing mechanisms to reward good practice and support quality initiatives.

Acute Having a short and relatively severe course.

Acute care Care in which the clinical intent or treatment goal is to:
• Cure illness or provide definitive treatment of injury.
• Perform surgery.
• Relieve symptoms of illness or injury (excluding palliative care).
• Reduce severity of an illness or injury.
•  Protect against exacerbation and/or complication of an illness and/or injury that could threaten life 

or normal function.
• Perform diagnostic or therapeutic procedures.

Acute hospital Generally a recognised hospital that provides acute care and excludes dental and psychiatric 
hospitals.

Admission The process whereby a hospital accepts responsibility for a patient’s care and/or treatment. It follows 
a clinical decision, based on specified criteria, that a patient requires same-day or overnight care or 
treatment, which can occur in hospital and/or in the patient’s home (for hospital-in-the-home patients).

Admitted patient A patient who undergoes a hospital’s formal admission process as an overnight-stay patient or a 
same-day patient.

Allied health staff Professional staff who meet mandatory qualifications and regulatory requirements in the following 
areas: audiology, clinical measurement sciences, dietetics and nutrition, exercise physiology, leisure 
therapy, medical imaging, music therapy, nuclear medicine technology, occupational therapy, 
orthoptics, pharmacy, physiotherapy, podiatry, prosthetics and orthotics, psychology, radiation 
therapy, sonography, speech pathology and social work.

Benchmarking Involves collecting performance information to undertake comparisons of performance with similar 
organisations.

Best practice Cooperative way in which organisations and their employees undertake business activities in 
all key processes, and use benchmarking that can be expected to lead to sustainable positive 
outcomes.

Category Urgency of a patient’s need for medical and nursing care.

Clinical 
governance

A framework by which health organisations are accountable for continuously improving the quality 
of their services and safeguarding high standards of care by creating an environment in which 
excellence in clinical care will flourish.

Clinical practice Professional activity undertaken by health professionals to investigate patient symptoms and prevent 
and/or manage illness, together with associated professional activities for patient care.

Clinical staff Staff who are or who support health professionals working in clinical practice, have healthcare specific 
knowledge/experience, and provide clinical services to health consumers, either directly and/or 
indirectly, through services that have a direct impact on clinical outcomes.

Emergency 
department 
waiting time

Time elapsed for each patient from presentation to the emergency department to start of services by 
the treating clinician. It is calculated by deducting the date and time the patient presents from the 
date and time of the service event.

Full-time 
equivalent (FTE)

Refers to full-time equivalent staff currently working in a position.

Appendix 2. Glossary
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Health outcome Change in the health of an individual, group of people or population attributable to an intervention or 
series of interventions.

Hospital Healthcare facility established under Commonwealth, state or territory legislation as a hospital or a 
free-standing day-procedure unit and authorised to provide treatment and/or care to patients.

Hospital and 
health boards

The hospital and health boards are made up of a mix of members with expert skills and knowledge 
relevant to managing a complex healthcare organisation, charged with authority under the Hospital 
and Health Boards Act 2011.

Hospital and health 
service (HHS)

A hospital and health service is a separate legal entity established by Queensland Government to 
deliver public hospital services. 

Incidence Number of new cases of a condition occurring within a given population over a certain period of time.

Long wait A ‘long wait’ elective surgery patient is one who has waited longer than the clinically recommended 
time for their surgery, according to the clinical urgency category assigned. That is, more than 30 days 
for a category 1 patient, more than 90 days for a category 2 patient and more than 365 days for a 
category 3 patient.

Medical 
practitioner

A person who is registered with the Medical Board of Australia to practice medicine in Australia, 
including general and specialist practitioners.

Outpatient An individual who accesses non-admitted health service at a hospital or health facility.

Outpatient service Examination, consultation, treatment or other service provided to non-admitted non-emergency patients 
in a specialty unit or under an organisational arrangement administered by a hospital.

Overnight-stay When a patient who is admitted to, and separated from, the hospital on different dates (not same-day 
patients).

Performance 
indicator

A measure that provides an ‘indication’ of progress towards achieving the organisation’s objectives 
and usually has targets that define the level of performance expected against the performance 
indicator.

Primary Health 
Networks (PHNs)

Established by the Commonwealth to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of medical services for 
patients, particularly those at risk of poor health outcomes. PHNs work closely with HHSs to identify 
and address local health needs. 

Population health Promotion of healthy lifestyles, prevention or early detection of illness or disease, prevention of injury 
and protection of health through organised population-based programs and strategies.

Public patient A public patient is one who elects to be treated as a public patient, so cannot choose the doctor who 
treats them, or is receiving treatment in a private hospital under a contract arrangement with a public 
hospital or health authority.

Public hospital Public hospitals offer free diagnostic services, treatment, care and accommodation to eligible patients.

Registered nurse An individual registered under national law to practice in the nursing profession as a nurse, other 
than as a student.

Statutory body A non-departmental government body, established under an Act of Parliament. Statutory bodies can 
include corporations, regulatory authorities and advisory committees or councils.

Telehealth Delivery of health-related services and information via telecommunication, including:
• Live, audio and/or video interactive links for clinical consultations and educational purposes.
•  Store-and-forward telehealth, including digital images, video, audio and clinical (stored) data on a 

client computer, then transmitted securely (forwarded) to a clinic at another location where they are 
studied by relevant specialists.

• Teleradiology for remote reporting and clinical advice for diagnostic images.
• Telehealth services and equipment to monitor people’s health in their home.

Weighted Activity 
Unit

The weighted activity units reflect the finance and activity schedules of the 2016-17 Round 2 Service 
Agreements Contract Offers (v3.10).
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

  

 

Operating result Notes 2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Income from continuing operations
User charges and fees A1.1 644,957 497,872
Grants and other contributions A1.2 36,995 2,051
Other revenue 1,093 1,503
Total revenue 683,045 501,426

Gains on disposal/re-measurement of assets A1.3 6,711 62

Total income from continuing operations 689,756 501,488

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee expenses A2.1 431,880 333,994
Supplies and services A2.2 172,943 129,937
Grants 1,626 1,312
Depreciation and amortisation B3/ B4 45,561 36,788
Losses on disposal/re-measurement of assets 754 35,557
Other expenses A2.3 6,171 6,095

Total expenses from continuing operations 658,935 543,683

Total operating result  30,821 (42,195)

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to operating result:
- Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus B7.2 7,713 (4,766)

Total other comprehensive income 7,713 (4,766)

Total comprehensive income 38,534 (46,961)
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Notes 2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents B1 23,022 28,666
Receivables B2 36,259 34,920
Inventories 4,489 4,751
Prepayments 1,333 388

Total current assets 65,103 68,725

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment B3 1,270,467 1,306,539
Intangible assets B4 1,746 1,034

Total non-current assets 1,272,213 1,307,573

Total assets 1,337,316 1,376,298

Current liabilities
Payables B5 44,324 30,646
Employee benefits B6 15,929 20,523
Unearned revenue 4,316 3,313

Total current liabilities 64,569 54,482

Total liabilities 64,569 54,482

Net assets 1,272,747 1,321,816

Equity
Contributed equity B7.1 1,256,060 1,343,663
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 5,609 (25,212)
Asset revaluation surplus B7.2 11,078 3,365

Total equity 1,272,747 1,321,816
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Accumulated
Surplus/(Deficit)

Asset 
Revaluation

Surplus

Contributed 
Equity

TOTAL

(Note B7.2) (Note B7.1)
Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 July 2015 (25,212) 3,365 1,343,663 1,321,816

Operating result for the year 30,821 - - 30,821
Other Comprehensive Income:
- Increase in asset revaluation 

surplus - 7,713 - 7,713
Total Comprehensive Income for 
the Year 30,821 7,713 - 38,534

Transactions with Owners as 
Owners:
- Equity injections for capital 

funding - - 3,453 3,453
- Equity withdrawals for 

non-cash depreciation and 
amortisation funding - - (45,561) (45,561)

- Equity withdrawal for 
non-cash contribution - - (35,062) (35,062)

- Asset transfers B3.1 - - (10,433) (10,433)
Net Transactions with Owners as 
Owners - - (87,603) (87,603)
Balance as at 30 June 2016 5,609 11,078 1,256,060 1,272,747

Balance as at 1 July 2014 16,983 8,131 97,338 122,452

Operating result for the year (42,195) - - (42,195)
Other Comprehensive Income:
- Decrease in asset revaluation 

surplus - (4,766) - (4,766)
Total Comprehensive Income for 
the Year (42,195) (4,766) - (46,961)

Transactions with Owners as 
Owners:
- Equity injections for capital 

funding - - 5,971 5,971
- Equity withdrawals for 

non-cash depreciation and 
amortisation funding - - (36,575) (36,575)

- Asset transfers - - 1,276,929 1,276,929
Net Transactions with Owners as 
Owners - - 1,246,325 1,246,325

Balance as at 30 June 2015 (25,212) 3,365 1,343,663 1,321,816

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

  

Notes 2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows:
User charges and fees 599,600 438,929
Grants and other contributions 1,933 1,087
Interest receipts 219 279
GST collected from customers 634 727
GST input tax credits from ATO 6,501 4,939
Other 3,214 1,757
Outflows:
Employee expenses (436,473) (313,703)
Health service employee costs - (14,950)
Supplies and services (160,115) (112,691)
Grants (1,626) (1,312)
GST paid to suppliers (9,961) (7,177)
GST remitted to ATO (6) (22)
Other (6,053) (6,671)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (2,133) (8,808)

Cash flows from investing activities
Inflows:
Sales of property, plant and equipment 28 62

Outflows:
Payments for property, plant and equipment (6,073) (7,527)
Payments for intangibles (919) -
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (6,964) (7,465)

Cash flows from financing activities
Inflows:
Equity injections 3,453 5,971
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 3,453 5,971

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (5,644) (10,302)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 28,666 38,968

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year B1 23,022 28,666
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Reconciliation of operating result to net cash from operating activities

2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Operating result 30,821 (42,195)
Non-cash items included in operating result:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 45,561 36,788
Depreciation and amortisation funding (45,561) (36,575)
Other contribution (35,062) -
Revaluation decrement/(increment) (6,711) 35,062
Increase in trade receivable impairment losses 219 13
Inventory written off 167 176
Bad debts written off 284 10
Donations of plant and equipment - (37)
Net gains on sale of property, plant and equipment - (62)
Net losses on sale of property, plant and equipment 754 495

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (1,842) (26,821)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 95 (2,324)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (945) (252)
Increase/(decrease) in payables 13,678 3,599
Increase/(decrease) in unearned revenue 1,003 3,024
Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits (4,594) 20,291

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (2,133) (8,808)
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Basis of Financial Statements preparation

General information
Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health Service (Children’s Health Queensland) is a not-for-profit 
statutory body established on 1 July 2012 under the Hospital and Health Board Act 2011. Children’s Health 
Queensland is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent.

The principal address of Children’s Health Queensland is:

Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital
Level 7, 501 Stanley Street
South Brisbane, QLD, 4101

Objectives and principal activities of Children’s Health Queensland
A description of the nature, objectives and principal activities of Children’s Health Queensland is included in 
the Annual Report. 

Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to Section 62(1) of the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009, relevant sections of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 and 
other prescribed requirements.  These financial statements are general purpose financial statements and have 
been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
applicable to not-for-profit entities.  In addition, the financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury’s 
Minimum Reporting Requirements for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015, and other 
authoritative pronouncements.  

The reporting entity
The financial statements include the value of all revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of Children’s 
Health Queensland. 

Measurement
The historical cost convention is used except where stated.

Rounding and comparatives
Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest 
$1,000 or, where the amount is $500 or less, to zero unless the disclosure of the full amount is specifically 
required. Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosures in the 
current reporting period.  

Comparative performance 2014-15 to 2015-16
The new Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital commenced operations on 29 November 2014. The move to the 
new hospital included the integration of services previously provided by the Mater Children’s Hospital with 
services provided by the Royal Children’s Hospital. The 2015-16 year reflects higher overall revenue and 
expenditure (including increased Department of Health service agreement funding) as a result of the first full 
year of operations for the new hospital.

Authorisation of financial statements for issue
The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Chair of the Board, the Health Service Chief 
Executive and the Chief Finance Officer, at the date of signing the Management Certificate.

Further information
For information in relation to Children’s Health Queensland’s financial statements, email 
CHQ_Comms@health.qld.gov.au or visit the website at: http://www.health.qld.gov.au/childrenshealth.
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Section A
Notes about our Financial Performance

A1 Revenue

A1.1 User charges and fees 2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Hospital fees 23,737 13,075
Sale of goods and services 17,009 10,369
Contracted health services:
– State 465,775 381,122
– Commonwealth 138,220 93,291
Rental revenue 216 15

Total 644,957 497,872

User charges and fees are recognised as revenue when the revenue has been earned and can be measured 
reliably with a sufficient degree of certainty. This involves either invoicing for related goods and services 
and/or the recognition of accrued revenue.

Contracted health services

Contracted health services predominantly comprise funding from the Department of Health for specific public 
health services purchased by the Department of Health from Children’s Health Queensland in accordance with 
a service agreement. The Department of Health receives its revenue for funding from the Queensland and 
Commonwealth Governments. State funding includes a non-cash appropriation for depreciation and 
amortisation and amounted to $45.561 million (2015: $36.575 million). The service agreement is reviewed 
periodically and updated for changes in activities and prices of services. At the end of the financial year, a 
financial adjustment may be required where the level of services provided is above or below the agreed level.

A1.2 Grants and other contributions 

Grants 1,881 2,007
Donations 52 44
Other contribution 35,062 -

Total 36,995 2,051

Other contribution

In 2014-15, CHQ reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Income a revaluation decrement of $35.062 
million attributable to the write-down of buildings at the former Royal Children’s Hospital site. In 2015-16, the 
Department of Health provided funding in the form of a non-cash equity contribution to the same value.
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A1.3 Gains on disposal/re-measurement of assets  
2016 2015

$'000 $'000

Gains on disposal - 62
Building revaluation increment 6,711 -

Total 6,711 62

Revaluation increments

The net revaluation increment is recognised as revenue to the extent that it reverses a net revaluation 
decrement of the same class of assets previously recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

A2 Expenses

A2.1 Employee expenses 

Wages and salaries 344,776 259,455
Board member fees 432 440
Employer superannuation contributions 35,926 27,437
Annual leave levy 40,296 37,914
Long service leave levy 7,261 5,570
Other employee related expenses 3,189 3,178

Total 431,880 333,994

Number of employees 3,422 3,074

The number of employees (rounded to the nearest whole number) represents full-time or part-time staff, 
measured on a full-time equivalent basis reflecting Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information 
(MOHRI) as at 30 June 2016.  Members of the Board are not included in this total.

Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are detailed in Note F1.
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A2.2 Supplies and services

 2016 2015
 $'000 $'000

Clinical supplies and services 57,368 34,129
Consultants and contractors 24,133 25,756
Pharmaceuticals 29,988 20,324
Catering and domestic supplies 17,504 11,992  
Communications 7,431 5,384
Repairs and maintenance 11,209 9,221
Computer services 5,477 4,610
Building utilities 7,539 8,658
Operating lease rentals 3,824 3,478
Patient travel 782 530
Other travel 1,884 1,448
Office supplies 1,796 1,723
Motor vehicles 441 342
Other 3,567 2,342

Total 172,943 129,937

Operating lease rentals

Operating lease payments, being representative of benefits derived from the leased assets, are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Services received below fair value

Children’s Health Queensland has entered into a number of arrangements with various parties where services 
are provided for no consideration. These include:

- Corporate services support from the Department of Health. Corporate services received include payroll 
services, accounts payable services, finance transactional services, taxation services, supply services 
and information technology services.

- Various services provided to the Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital from organisations including Radio 
Lollipop, Starlight Express, Ronald McDonald House and the Department of Education, Training and 
Employment (Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital School). 

As the fair values of these services are unable to be reliably estimated, no associated revenue or expenditure
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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A2.3 Other expenses

2016 2015
Note $’000 $’000

External audit fees 175 170
Other audit fees 199 196
Inventory written off 167 176
Bad debts written off 284 10
Transfer to allowance for impairment of receivables B2 303 13
Legal costs 605 962
Insurance 4,379 4,411
Special payments 12 10
Other 47 147

Total 6,171 6,095

External audit fees

External audit fees relating to payments made to the Queensland Audit Office (QAO) are estimated to be
$0.175 million (2015: $0.170 million). There were no non-audit services provided by the QAO during the 
period.

Special payments

Special payments relate to ex-gratia expenditure that is not contractually or legally obligated to be made to 
other parties. In compliance with the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009, Children’s 
Health Queensland maintains a register setting out details of all special payments greater than $5,000. There 
were no ex-gratia payments exceeding $5,000 during the financial year.  

Insurance premiums

Property and general losses above a $10,000 threshold are insured through the Queensland Government 
Insurance Fund (QGIF) under the Department of Health’s insurance policy.  Health litigation payments above 
a $20,000 threshold and associated legal fees are also insured through QGIF.  Premiums are calculated by 
QGIF on a risk assessed basis. Children’s Health Queensland also maintains separate Directors and Officers 
liability insurance.



Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016____________________________________________________________________________________

    13 

Section B
Notes about our Financial Position

B1 Cash and cash equivalents
2016 2015

$’000 $’000
Imprest accounts 11 12
Cash at bank and on hand 16,969 21,275
Cash on deposit 6,042 7,379

Total 23,022 28,666

Cash assets include all cash on hand and in banks, cheques receipted but not banked at the reporting date
and call deposits.

Children’s Health Queensland’s bank accounts are grouped within the Whole-of-Government set-off 
arrangement with Queensland Treasury Corporation.  As a result, Children’s Health Queensland does not 
earn interest on surplus funds and is not charged interest or fees for accessing its approved cash debit facility.  

Cash on deposit relates to General Trust fund monies which are not grouped within the Whole-of-Government 
set-off arrangement and are able to be invested and earn interest.  Cash on deposit with the Queensland 
Treasury Corporation earned interest at an annual effective rate of 2.85 per cent (2015: 2.84 per cent).

B2 Receivables

Trade debtors 10,857 8,416
Less: allowance for impairment loss (390) (171)

10,467 8,245
Other debtor 12,235 -

22,702 8,245

GST input tax credits receivable 1,730 1,119
GST payable (125) (154)

1,605 965

Contracted health services receivable 8,833 18,509
Accrued other revenue 3,119 7,201

Total 36,259 34,920
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B2 Receivables (continued)

Ageing receivable position 

Ageing of past due but not impaired as well as impaired trade receivables are disclosed in the following table:

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired

Past due 
but not 

impaired Impaired
Gross 

receivables

Allowance 
for 

impairment
Net trade

receivables
2016 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Trade receivables
Not yet due 3,786 - - 3,786 - 3,786
Less than 30 days - 2,965 85 3,050 (4) 3,046
30 - 60 days - 972 118 1,090 (6) 1,084
61 - 90 days - 1,153 34 1,187 (11) 1,176
More than 90 days - 1,208 536 1,744 (369) 1,375
Total 3,786 6,298 773 10,857 (390) 10,467

2015
Trade receivables
Not yet due 4,649 - - 4,649 - 4,649
Less than 30 days - 453 1,298 1,751 (24) 1,727
30 - 60 days - 108 549 657 (12) 645
61 - 90 days - 181 306 487 (27) 460
More than 90 days - 375 497 872 (108) 764
Total 4,649 1,117 2,650 8,416 (171) 8,245

Movement in allowance for impairment of trade receivables 2016 2015

$’000 $’000
Opening balance 171 164
Amounts written off during the financial year (84) (6)
Increase in allowance recognised in operating result 303 13

Closing balance 390 171

Receivables

Trade debtors are recognised at their carrying value, less any impairment. Settlement of these amounts is 
required within 30 days from invoice date. The collectability of trade receivables is assessed on a monthly 
basis. All known bad debts are written off as at 30 June 2016.

Impairment of receivables

The allowance for impairment reflects the occurrence of loss events. Children’s Health Queensland assesses 
whether there is objective evidence that receivables are impaired or uncollectible on a monthly basis. 
Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, the class of debtor or delinquency in 
payments. An amount is impaired and provided for when there is sufficient evidence that it will not be 
collected. After an appropriate range of debt recovery actions are undertaken, if the amount becomes 
uncollectible, then it is written off.
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B3 Property, plant and equipment
2016 2015

Land: $’000 $’000
At fair value 77,601 81,388

77,601 81,388
Buildings:
At fair value 1,228,066 1,236,961
Less: accumulated depreciation (85,983) (57,035)

1,142,083 1,179,926
Plant and equipment:
At cost 70,909 62,812
Less: accumulated depreciation (21,575) (17,643)

49,334 45,169
Capital works in progress:
At cost 1,449 56

1,449 56

Total 1,270,467 1,306,539
 
B3.1 Property, plant and equipment reconciliation 

 
Land

(Level 2)

$’000

Buildings
(Level 2)

$’000

Buildings
(Level 3)

$’000

Plant and 
equipment

$’000

Work in 
progress

$’000

Total

$’000
Balance at 1 July 2015 81,388 930 1,178,996 45,169 56 1,306,539

Acquisitions - - 38 4,642 1,411 6,091

Transfers from DoH/other HHSs - - 128 8,501 - 8,629

Disposals - - - (782) - (782)

Transfer to DoH/other HHSs (11,500) - (7,242) (320) - (19,062)

Net revaluation increments 7,713 - 6,711 - - 14,424

De-recognition of assets - - - - (18) (18)

Depreciation for the year - (29) (37,449) (7,876) - (45,354)

Balance at 30 June 2016 77,601 901 1,141,182 49,334 1,449 1,270,467

Balance at 1 July 2014 16,698 - 69,074 13,180 - 98,952
Acquisitions - - - 7,471 56 7,527
Donation received - - - 37 - 37
Transfers from DoH/other HHSs 61,380 930 1,184,524 30,108 - 1,276,942
Disposals - - - (495) - (495)
Transfer between classes - - - (5) - (5)
Transfer to DoH/other HHSs - - - (9) - (9)
Net revaluation 
increments/(decrements) 3,310 - (43,138) - - (39,828)

Depreciation for the year - - (31,464) (5,118) - (36,582)

Balance at 30 June 2015 81,388 930 1,178,996 45,169 56 1,306,539
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B3.2 Property, plant and equipment accounting policies

(a) Recognition thresholds for property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to or in excess of the following 
thresholds and with a useful life of more than one year are recognised for financial reporting purposes in the 
year of acquisition.  

Land $1

Buildings $10,000

Plant and equipment $5,000

Items with a lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition.

Children’s Health Queensland has an annual maintenance program for its plant and equipment and 
infrastructure assets. Expenditure is only capitalised if it increases the service potential or useful life of the 
existing asset. Maintenance expenditure that merely restores original service potential (arising from ordinary 
wear and tear) is expensed.

Land improvements undertaken by Children’s Health Queensland are included within the buildings asset 
class.

(b) Acquisition of assets

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at consideration plus any other costs incidental to the 
acquisition, including all other costs directly incurred in bringing the asset ready for use.  Separately identified 
components of assets are measured on the same basis as the assets to which they relate. 

Where assets are acquired for no consideration from another Queensland Government entity (whether as a 
result of a Machinery-of-Government change or other involuntary transfer), the acquisition cost is recognised 
as the gross carrying amount in the books of the transferor immediately prior to the transfer together with any 
accumulated depreciation.  

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, other than from an involuntary transfer from another 
Queensland Government entity, are recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition in accordance with 
AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment.

(c) Subsequent measurement of property, plant and equipment

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic 
benefits, in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset, will flow to the entity in future years.  
Costs that do not meet the criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred.

Land and buildings are subsequently measured at fair value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and 
Equipment, AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset Policies for the 
Queensland Public Sector.  These assets are reported at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the 
date of valuation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses where applicable.

The cost of items acquired during the financial year has been judged by management to materially represent 
the fair value at the end of the reporting period.

(d) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the net cost or revalued 
amount of each asset over the estimated useful life.  Assets under construction (work-in-progress)
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B3.2 Property, plant and equipment accounting policies (continued) 

are not depreciated until they reach service delivery capacity and are ready for use.  For each class of 
depreciable assets, the estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Buildings 23 to 79 years

Plant and equipment 3 to 39 years

The depreciable amount of improvements to or on leasehold buildings is allocated progressively over the 
shorter of the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the unexpired period of the lease.  The unexpired 
period of leases includes any option period where exercise of the option is probable.

Key judgement: any expenditure that increases the originally assessed or service potential of an asset is 
capitalised, and the new depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset.

Key estimate: Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on expected 
period of time over which economic benefits from use of the asset will be derived. Management reviews useful 
life assumptions on an annual basis having given consideration to variables including historical and forecast 
usage rates, technological advancements and changes in legal and economic conditions.

(e) Impairment of non-current assets

Key judgement and estimate: all non-current assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual 
basis.  If an indicator of impairment exists, Children’s Health Queensland determines the asset’s recoverable 
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell).  Any amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount is considered an impairment loss.

The asset's recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and 
current replacement cost.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the asset is 
carried at a revalued amount.  When the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset 
against the asset revaluation surplus of the relevant class to the extent available.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(f) Revaluation of property, plant and equipment at fair value 

The fair value of land and buildings are assessed on an annual basis by independent professional valuers.
Comprehensive revaluations are undertaken at least once every five years.  However, if a particular asset 
class experiences significant and volatile changes in fair value, that class is subject to specific appraisal in the 
reporting period, where practicable, regardless of the timing of the last specific appraisal. 

Where assets have not been specifically appraised in the reporting period, previous valuations are materially 
kept up-to-date via the application of relevant indices. 

The valuers supply the indices used for the various types of assets.  Such indices are either publicly available, 
or are derived from market information available to the valuer. The valuers provide assurance of their 
robustness, validity and appropriateness for application to the relevant assets.  Indices used are also tested 
for reasonableness by applying the indices to a sample of assets, comparing the results to similar assets that 
have been valued by the valuer, and analysing the trend of changes in values over time. Through this process, 
which is undertaken annually, management assesses and confirms the relevance and suitability of indices 
provided by the valuer based on the entities own particular circumstances. 
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B3.2 Property, plant and equipment accounting policies (continued) 

Revaluation increments are credited to the asset revaluation surplus of the appropriate class, except to the 
extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. In that case it is 
recognised as income. A decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense, to the 
extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset class.

B3.3 Property, plant and equipment valuation

(a) Land 

Land is valued by the market approach, using the direct comparison method.  Under this valuation technique,
the assets are compared to recent comparable sales as the available market evidence. The valuation of land 
is determined by analysing the comparable sales and reflecting the shape, size, topography, location, zoning, 
any restrictions such as easements and volumetric titles and other relevant factors specific to the asset being 
valued.   From the sales analysed, the valuer considers all characteristics of the land and applies an 
appropriate rate per square metre to the subject asset.

All land was revalued by an independent professional valuer, State Valuation Services, using comprehensive 
and indexed valuation methods with an effective date of 30 June 2016. Management has assessed the 
valuations as appropriate.

Restriction: Children’s Health Queensland controls land subject to a legal restriction, being the land Footprint 
for the Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH) with a fair value of $52 million as at 30 June 2016. This land is 
subject to a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Department of Health and Mater 
Misercordiae Health Services Brisbane Limited (Mater), which provides for the granting of an option to the 
Mater to acquire the Footprint for consideration of $1. The Mater may exercise the option by notice in writing 
within 30 days after the earlier of the 60th anniversary of the opening of the LCCH (29 November 2074), or the 
date when the State ceases to use LCCH as a tertiary paediatric hospital. The State may, on or before the 
60th anniversary of the opening of the hospital, exercise an option to extend the term to a date not less than 90 
years from the opening date. However, the Mater may then elect for the State to demolish the buildings on the 
Footprint (at the cost of the State) prior to transferring the land to the Mater.  The asset has been recognised 
under the land asset class at fair value. Fair value has been independently assessed by a valuer with an 
effective date of 30 June 2016 through a comprehensive valuation method taking into consideration the 
MOU. The asset is carried at fair value consistent with the accounting policy for property, plant and 
equipment.

(b) Buildings

Health service buildings 

Reflecting the specialised nature of health service buildings for which there is not an active market, fair value 
is determined using current replacement cost.  

Key judgement and estimate: The methodology applied by the valuer is a financial simulation in lieu of a 
market based measurement as these assets are rarely bought and sold on the open market.  A replacement 
cost is estimated by creating a cost plan (cost estimate) of the asset through the measurement of key 
quantities such as:

- Gross floor area - Height of the building
- Number of lifts and staircases - Girth of the building
- Number of floors - Location

The model developed by the valuer creates an elemental cost plan using these quantities. It can apply to 
multiple building types and relies on the valuer’s experience with construction costs.
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B3.3 Property, plant and equipment valuation (continued) 

The cost model is updated each year and tests are done to compare the model outputs on actual recent 
projects to ensure it produces a true representation of the cost of replacement. The costs are at Brisbane 
prices and published location indices are used to adjust the pricing to suit local market conditions.  Live project
costs from across the state are also assessed to inform current market changes that may influence the 
published factors.

The key assumption on the replacement cost is that the estimate is based on replacing the current function of 
the building with a building of the same form (size and shape).  This assumption has a significant impact if an 
asset’s function changes. The cost to bring to current standards is the estimated cost of refurbishing the asset 
to bring it to current standards.

The cost to bring to current standards or as new condition is a component for establishing the likely ‘exit price’ 
of any transaction in the principal market for an asset of this type.  For each of the five condition ratings, the 
estimate is based on professional opinion as well as having regard to historical project costs.

In assessing the cost to bring to current standard or as new condition, a condition rating is applied based upon 
the following information:

- Visual inspection of the asset
- Asset condition data 
- Verbal guidance from the Facilities Manager
- Previous reports and inspection photographs if available (to show the change in condition over time).

The following condition ratings are linked to the cost to bring to current standards or as new condition:

Category Condition Comments

1 Very good condition Only normal maintenance required

2 Minor defects only Minor maintenance required (up to 5% of capital 
replacement cost)

3 Maintenance required to return to 
accepted level of service

Significant maintenance required (up to 50% of 
capital replacement cost)

4 Requires renewal Complete renewal of the internal fit out and 
engineering services required (up to 70% of 
capital replacement cost)

5 Asset unserviceable Complete asset replacement required

Estimates of remaining life are based on the assumption that the asset remains in its current function and will 
be maintained.  No allowance has been provided for significant refurbishment works in the estimate of 
remaining life as any refurbishment should extend the life of the asset.

Children’s Health Queensland has adopted the gross method of reporting comprehensively revalued assets.  
This method restates separately the gross amount and related accumulated depreciation of the assets 
comprising the class of revalued assets.  Accumulated depreciation is restated in accordance with the 
independent advice of the valuers.  The proportionate method has been applied to those assets that have 
been revalued by way of indexation.

All buildings were revalued by an independent professional valuer, AECOM, using comprehensive and 
indexed valuation methods with an effective date of 30 June 2016. Management has assessed the valuations 
as appropriate.
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B3.3 Property, plant and equipment valuation (continued) 

Commercial office building 

Children’s Health Queensland also has a commercial office building that is comprehensively valued under the 
income valuation approach.  Such valuation technique capitalises the adjusted market net income to 
determine the fair value of the asset using readily available market data.  The fair value measurement reflects 
current market expectations about these future amounts.

Children’s Health Queensland has adopted the net method of reporting this asset.  This method eliminates
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses against the gross amount of the asset prior to 
restating for the revaluation. 

This building was revalued by an independent professional valuer, State Valuation Services, with an effective 
date of 30 June 2016 and Management has assessed the valuation as appropriate.

(c) Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is measured at cost in accordance with Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset 
Policies for the Queensland Public Sector.  The carrying amount for plant and equipment at cost should not 
materially differ from their fair value.
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B4 Intangible assets
2016 2015

$’000 $’000
Developed software:
At cost 1,570 1,570
Less: accumulated amortisation (743) (536)

827 1,034

Developed software in progress:
At cost 919 -

919 -

Total intangible assets 1,746 1,034

Intangibles reconciliation

Developed 
software

Developed 
software in 

progress
Total

$'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2015 1,034 - 1,034
Acquisitions - 919 919
Amortisation for the year (207) - (207)

Balance at 30 June 2016 827 919 1,746

Balance at 1 July 2014 1,240 - 1,240
Amortisation for the year (206) - (206)

Balance at 30 June 2015 1,034 - 1,034

An intangible asset is recognised only if its cost is equal to or greater than $100,000.  Items with a lesser cost 
are expensed.

As there is no active market for developed software held by Children’s Health Queensland, it is recognised 
and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.

Developed software is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period in which the related benefits are 
expected to be realised. The useful life and amortisation method is reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each financial year end. The current estimated useful life for Children’s Health Queensland’s developed 
software systems is 7 years.
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B5 Payables

2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Trade creditors 9,944 7,134
Accrued expenses 34,380 23,512

Total 44,324 30,646

Payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received.  Payables are 
measured at the agreed purchase or contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts.  The 
amounts owing are unsecured and generally settled on 30 day terms.

B6 Employee benefits

Accrued salary, wages and related costs 13,241 18,123
Other 2,688 2,400

Total 15,929 20,523

Accrued salary, wages and related costs

Salaries, wages and related costs due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position at current salary rates. Unpaid entitlements are expected to be paid within 12 months and 
as such any liabilities are recognised at their undiscounted values. 

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement 
accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods. It is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will 
be used by employees and accordingly no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick 
leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken.

Annual leave and long service leave 

Under the Queensland Government’s Annual Leave Central Scheme and Long Service Leave Central 
Scheme, levies are payable by Children’s Health Queensland to cover the cost of employees’ annual leave 
(including leave loading and on-costs) and long service leave. No provisions for long service leave or annual 
leave are recognised in Children’s Health Queensland’s financial statements as the provisions for these 
schemes are reported on a Whole-of-Government basis pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole-of-Government and 
General Government Sector Financial Reporting. These levies are expensed in the period in which they are 
payable.  Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long service leave are claimed from the schemes 
quarterly in arrears.  

Superannuation

Employer superannuation contributions relating to employees and Board members are expensed in the period 
in which they are paid or payable.  Children’s Health Queensland’s obligation is limited to its contributions to 
the respective superannuation funds.

QSuper is the superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees.  Contributions are also paid
to other superannuation funds as nominated by Board members and in relation to staff who transitioned from 
the Mater to Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital.



Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016____________________________________________________________________________________

    23 

B6 Employee benefits (continued)

Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper at rates determined by the Treasurer on the advice 
of the State Actuary.  The QSuper scheme has defined benefit and defined contribution categories. The 
liability for defined benefits is held on a Whole-of-Government basis and reported in those financial statements 
pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

Other employee benefits

The liability for employee benefits includes provisions for purchased leave, professional development 
entitlements and accrued rostered day off entitlements. 

B7 Equity

B7.1 Contributed equity
Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly-owned Queensland State Public Sector 
entities are adjusted to contributed equity in accordance with Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners 
Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities.  Appropriations for equity adjustments are similarly designated.

Children’s Health Queensland receives funding from the Department of Health to cover depreciation and 
amortisation costs. However, as depreciation and amortisation are non-cash expenditure items, the Minister of 
Health has approved a withdrawal of equity by the State for the same amount, resulting in non-cash revenue 
and non-cash equity withdrawal.

B7.2 Asset revaluation surplus by asset class
a

Land
(Level 2)

Buildings
(Level 3)

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2015 3,365 - 3,365
Revaluation increments for the year 7,713 - 7,713
Balance at 30 June 2016 11,078 - 11,078

Balance at 1 July 2014 55 8,076 8,131
Revaluation increments for the year 3,723 6,264 9,987
Revaluation decrements offset against revaluation surplus (413) (14,340) (14,753)
Net movement for the year 3,310 (8,076) (4,766)

Balance at 30 June 2015 3,365 - 3,365
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Section C
Notes about our risks and other accounting uncertainties

C1 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions (ie. an exit 
price) regardless of whether the price is directly derived from observable inputs or estimated using another 
valuation technique.

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities 
being valued, and include, but are not limited to, published sales data for land.

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are relevant to 
the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued.   Significant unobservable inputs used by Children’s 
Health Queensland include, but are not limited to, subjective adjustments made to observable data to take 
account of the specialised nature of health service buildings, including historical and current construction 
contracts (and/or estimates of such costs), and assessments of physical condition and remaining useful life.  
Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable inputs are not 
available for similar assets/liabilities.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate 
economic benefit by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

All assets and liabilities of Children’s Health Queensland for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the 
financial statements are categorised within the following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and 
assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals:

- Level 1: represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets 
for identical assets and liabilities;

- Level 2: represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than quoted 
prices included in level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3: represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable inputs.

None of Children’s Health Queensland's valuations of assets or liabilities are eligible for categorisation into 
level 1 of the fair value hierarchy and there were no transfer of assets between fair value hierarchy levels 
during the period.  More specific fair value information about the entity’s property, plant and equipment and 
intangibles is outlined further in Notes B3 and B4.

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value. All other financial assets or liabilities are measured at 
cost less any allowance for impairment, which given the short term nature of these assets, is assumed to 
represent fair value.
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C2 Financial risk disclosures 

(a) Financial instruments categories

Children's Health Queensland has the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities as 
reflected in the Statement of Financial Position – Cash and cash equivalents (Note B1), Receivables (Note B2)
and Payables (Note B5).

No financial assets and financial liabilities have been offset and presented net in the Statement of Financial 
Position.

(b) Financial risk management

Children’s Health Queensland is exposed to a variety of financial risks – credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk. Financial risk is managed in accordance with Queensland Government and agency policies. Children’s 
Health Queensland’s policies provide written principles for overall risk management and aim to minimise 
potential adverse effects of risk events on the financial performance of the agency.

Risk exposure Measurement method
Credit risk Ageing analysis, earnings at risk
Liquidity risk Sensitivity analysis, monitoring of cash flows by management of accrual accounts
Market risk Interest rate sensitivity analysis

(c) Credit risk exposure

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss arising from a counterparty defaulting on its obligations. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date is equal to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset, 
inclusive of any allowance for impairment.

Credit risk, excluding receivables, is considered minimal given all Children’s Health Queensland cash on 
deposits are held by the State through Queensland Treasury Corporation.  

No collateral is held as security and no credit enhancements relate to financial assets held by Children’s 
Health Queensland.

No financial assets have had their terms renegotiated to prevent them from being past due or impaired and 
are stated at the carrying amounts as indicated.

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Children’s Health Queensland will not have the resources required at a particular 
time to meet its obligations to settle its financial liabilities.  Children’s Health Queensland is exposed to liquidity 
risk through its trading in the normal course of business.  It aims to reduce the exposure to liquidity risk by 
ensuring sufficient funds are available to meet employee and supplier obligations at all times.  Children’s 
Health Queensland has an approved debt facility of $3 million under Whole-of-Government banking 
arrangements to manage any short term cash shortfalls.  This facility has not been drawn down as at 30 June
2016 and is available for use in the next reporting period.

The liquidity risk of financial liabilities held by Children’s Health Queensland is limited to the payables category 
as reflected in the Statement of Financial Position. All payables are less than 1 year in term.

(e) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices.  Market risk comprises interest rate risk. Children’s Health Queensland has interest 
rate exposure on the cash on deposits with Queensland Treasury Corporation. Children’s Health Queensland 
does not undertake any hedging in relation to interest rate risk. Changes in interest rate have a minimal effect 
on the operating result of Children’s Health Queensland.
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C3 Commitments

2016 2015
$'000 $'000

(a) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments - payables 

Operating lease commitments are payable as follows:

Not later than 1 year 2,993 -
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 10,139 -
Later than 5 years 802
Total 13,934 -

In 2014-15, operating lease contracts were held in the name of the Department of Health.  On 1 July 2015, all 
contracts were legally transferred to Children’s Health Queensland.
 

(b) Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments are payable as follows:

Not later than 1 year 95 629
Total 95 629

(c) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments - receivables 

Future minimum rental incomes under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than 1 year 258 -
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,137 -
Later than 5 years 776 -
Total 2,171 -
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C4 Contingencies
Litigation in progress

As at 30 June 2016 there were no cases filed with the courts (2015: 1 District court case filed).

Health litigation is underwritten by the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF). Children’s Health 
Queensland’s liability in this area is limited to an excess per insurance event. 

All Children’s Health Queensland indemnified claims are managed by QGIF. As at 30 June 2016, there were 
10 claims being managed by QGIF, some of which may never be litigated or result in payments to claims. The 
maximum exposure to Children’s Health Queensland under this policy is up to $20,000 for each insurable 
event.

C5 Events occurring after the reporting date

No matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2016 that have significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect Children’s Health Queensland’s operations, the results of those operations, or the HHS’s 
state of affairs in future financial years.
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C6 Future impact of accounting standards not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the expected impacts of new or amended Australian 
Accounting Standards issued but with future commencement dates are set out below:

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures

Effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016, a revised version of AASB 124 will apply to 
Children’s Health Queensland.  AASB 124 requires disclosures about the remuneration of key management 
personnel (KMP), transactions with related parties, and relationships between parent and controlled entities.

Children’s Health Queensland already discloses detailed information about remuneration of its KMP, based on 
Queensland Treasury’s Financial Reporting Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies.  Due to the 
additional guidance about the KMP definition in the revised AASB 124, Children’s Health Queensland will be 
assessing whether its responsible Minister should be part of its KMP from 2016-17.  If the responsible Minister 
is assessed as meeting the KMP definition, no associated remuneration figures will be disclosed by Children’s 
Health Queensland, as it does not provide the Minister’s remuneration.  Comparative information will continue 
to be disclosed in respect of KMP remuneration.

The most significant implications of AASB 124 for Children’s Health Queensland are the required disclosures 
about transactions between Children’s Health Queensland and its related parties (as defined in AASB 124).  
For any such transactions, from 2016-17, disclosures will include the nature of the related party relationship, 
as well as information about those transactions’ terms/conditions and amounts, any guarantees 
given/received, outstanding receivables/ payables, commitments, and any receivables where collection has 
been assessed as being doubtful.  In respect of related party transactions with other Queensland Government 
controlled entities, the information disclosed will be more high level, unless a transaction is individually 
significant.  No comparative information is required in respect of related party transactions in the 2016-17 
financial statements.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This Standard will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and contains 
detailed requirements for the accounting for certain types of revenue from customers. Depending on the 
specific contractual terms, the new requirements may potentially result in a change to the timing of revenue 
from sales of goods and services, such that some revenue may need to be deferred to a later reporting period 
to the extent that Children’s Health Queensland has received cash but has not met its associated obligations.

AASB 16 Leases

This Standard will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.  When 
applied, the standard supersedes AASB 117 Leases, AASB Interpretation 4 Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease, AASB Interpretation 115 Operating Leases – Incentives and AASB 
Interpretation 127 Evaluation the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. 

Impact for Lessees

AASB 16 introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees. Lessees will be required to recognise a 
right-of-use asset (representing rights to use the underlying leased asset) and a liability (representing the 
obligation to make lease payments) for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying 
assets are of low value.

In effect, the majority of operating leases (as defined by the current AASB 117) will be reported on the
statement of financial position under AASB 16. There will be an increase in assets and liabilities for Children’s 
Health Queensland’s leased assets. The impact on the reported assets and liabilities would be largely in 
proportion to the scale of the agency’s leasing activities Children’s Health Queensland has not yet quantified 
the impact on the Statement of Comprehensive Income or the Statement of Financial Position of applying 
AASB 16 to its current operating leases, including the extent of additional disclosure required.
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C6 Future impact of accounting standards not yet effective (continued)
Impact for Lessors

Lessor accounting under AASB 16 remains largely unchanged from AASB 117. 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)

These Standards will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The main 
impacts expected of these standards on Children’s Health Queensland are that they will change the 
requirements for the classification, measurement, impairment and disclosures associated with financial assets. 
AASB 9 will introduce different criteria for whether financial assets can be measured at amortised cost or fair 
value. 

All other Australian accounting standards and interpretations with future commencement dates are assessed 
as either not applicable or have no material impact on Children’s Health Queensland’s activities.
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Section D
Notes about our performance compared to Budget

This section discloses Children’s Health Queensland’s original budgeted figures for 2015-16 compared to 
actual results, with explanations of major variances, in respect of the Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows. Children’s Health Queensland has aligned the 
classification of the line items of its budgeted financial statements to its financial statements.

D1 Budget to actual comparison – Statement of Comprehensive Income

Variance 
Notes

Original 
Budget

Actual Variance Variance

2016
$’000

2016
$’000 $’000

% of 
Budget

Income from continuing operations
User charges and fees 607,196 644,957 37,761 6%
Grants and other contributions (a) 1,376 36,995 35,619 2589%
Other revenue 3,719 1,093 (2,626) (71%)
Total revenue 612,291 683,045 70,754 12%

Gains on disposal/re-measurement of assets - 6,711 6,711 -
Total income from continuing operations 612,291 689,756 77,465 13%

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee expenses 414,545 431,880 (17,335) (4%)
Supplies and services (b) 137,845 172,943 (35,098) (25%)
Grants 1,050 1,626 (576) (55%)
Depreciation and amortisation 56,237 45,561 10,676 19%
Loss on disposal/re-measurement of assets 126 754 (628) (498%)
Other expenses 2,488 6,171 (3,683) (148%)

Total expenses from continuing operations 612,291 658,935 (46,644) (8%)

Operating result from continuing operations - 30,821 30,821 -

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently 
to operating result:

- Increase in asset revaluation surplus - 7,713 7,713 -
Total other comprehensive income - 7,713 7,713 -

Total comprehensive income - 38,534 38,534 -
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D2 Budget to actual comparison – Statement of Financial Position
 

Variance 
Notes

Original 
Budget

Actual Variance Variance

2016
$’000

2016
$’000 $’000

% of 
Budget

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (c) 51,159 23,022 (28,137) (55%)
Receivables (d) 14,794 36,259 21,465 145%
Inventories 5,515 4,489 (1,026) (19%)
Prepayments 152 1,333 1,181 777%
Total current assets 71,620 65,103 (6,517) (9%)

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1,254,827 1,270,467 15,640 1%
Intangible assets 606 1,746 1,140 188%
Total non-current assets 1,255,433 1,272,213 16,780 1%

Total assets 1,327,053 1,337,316 10,263 1%

Current liabilities
Payables (e) 30,857 44,324 (13,467) (44%)
Employee benefits (f) 20,233 15,929 4,304 21%
Unearned service revenue 5,439 4,316 1,123 21%
Total current liabilities 56,529 64,569 (8,040) (14%)

Total liabilities 56,529 64,569 (8,040) (14%)

Net assets / Total equity 1,270,524 1,272,747 2,223 -

 



Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016____________________________________________________________________________________

    32 

D3 Budget to actual comparison – Statement of Cash Flows

Variance 
Notes

Original 
Budget

Actual Variance Variance

2016
$’000

2016
$’000 $’000

% of 
Budget

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows:
User charges and fees 606,839 599,600 (7,239) (1%)
Grants and other contributions 1,376 1,933 557 40%
Interest received 265 219 (46) (17%)
GST collected from customers - 634 634 -
GST input tax credits from ATO - 6,501 6,501 -
Other inflows 8,329 3,214 (5,115) (61%)
Outflows:
Employee expenses (414,545) (436,473) (21,928) (5%)
Supplies and services (b) (140,952) (160,115) (19,163) (14%)
Grants (1,050) (1,626) (576) (55%)
GST paid to suppliers - (9,961) (9,961) -
GST remitted to ATO - (6) (6) -
Other outflows (2,488) (6,053) (3,565) (143%)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities 57,774 (2,133) (59,907) (104%)
Cash flows from investing activities
Inflows:
Sales of property, plant and equipment - 28 28 -
Outflows:
Payments for property, plant and equipment (g) (4,306) (6,073) (1,767) (41%)
Payments for intangibles (h) - (919) (919) -
Net cash provided by (used in) investing 
activities (4,306) (6,964) (2,658) (62%)
Cash flows from financing activities
Inflows:
Equity injections 4,306 3,453 (853) (20%)
Outflows:
Equity withdrawals (i) (56,237) - 56,237 -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing 
activities (51,931) 3,453 55,384 107%
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 1,537 (5,644) (7,181) (467%)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
financial year 49,622 28,666 (20,956) (42%)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of
financial year 51,159 23,022 (28,137) (55%)
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D4 Budget vs actual comparison – Explanation of major variances

a) An increase in grants and other contributions relates to the Department of Health providing funding in the 
form of a non-cash equity contribution to the value of $35.062 million. This is attributable to the write-down 
of buildings at the former Royal Children’s Hospital site in the prior year. This funding was not anticipated 
when deriving the budget. 

b) An increase in supplies and services mainly reflects an increase in clinical supply costs of $15.730 million 
and an increase in contracted services of $17.994 million due to higher activity performed at Lady Cilento 
Children's Hospital.

c) A decrease in cash and cash equivalents predominantly relates to higher activity performed at Lady Cilento
Children’s Hospital and a higher than expected net receivable balance as at 30 June 2016.

d) Receivables are higher than was anticipated when deriving the budget. Major contributing transactions
relate to the recovery of employee entitlements from the Mater totalling $12.235 million following transition 
of staff to the LCCH as well as an increase in other trade receivables relating to corporate and patient 
related recoveries.

e) Payables are higher than was anticipated when deriving the budget. Major contributing transactions relate
to a refund of contracted health services funding of $7.500 million as well as employee entitlements of 
$6.744 million in relation to the transition of Mater staff to the LCCH that are payable to the Department of 
Health.

f) Employee benefits are lower than what was anticipated when deriving the budget. 

g) An increase in payments for property, plant and equipment relates to higher than anticipated capital 
expenditure during the year including the Chermside Day Program office fitout ($1.182 million).

h) An increase in payments for intangibles relates to expenditure for internally generated software projects in 
progress including the Patient Master Data Linking Solution ($0.806 million) not anticipated in the budget. 

i) Funding for depreciation was budgeted as a cash item. It was subsequently accounted for as a non-cash 
equity withdrawal.
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Section E
What we look after on behalf of third parties

E1 Restricted assets

Children's Health Queensland holds a number of General Trust accounts which meet the definition of 
restricted assets. These accounts ensure that the associated income is only utilised for the purposes specified 
by the issuing body.

Children’s Health Queensland receives cash contributions from benefactors in the form of gifts, donations and 
bequests for stipulated purposes. Contributions are also received from private practice clinicians and from 
external entities to provide for education, study and research in clinical areas. 

2016 2015
$'000 $'000

Opening balance 7,621 7,981

Income 1,229 943

Expenditure (2,253) (1,303)

Closing balance 6,597 7,621
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E2 Third party monies

2016 2015
$'000 $'000

(a) Grant of private practice accounts

Revenue and expense:
Revenue
Billings 5,685 3,912
Total revenue 5,685 3,912
Expense
Payments to medical practitioners 3,030 2,166
Payments to Children's Health Queensland for recoverable costs 2,578 1,685
Payments to medical practitioners' trust 77 61
Total expenditure 5,685 3,912

Assets and liabilities:
Current assets
Cash at bank 1,038 879
Total assets 1,038 879
Current liabilities
Payables to medical practitioners 238 223
Payables to Children's Health Queensland for recoverable costs 774 638
Payables to medical practitioners' trust 26 18
Total liabilities 1,038 879

(b) Patient trust accounts

Opening balance 4 2
Cash receipts 3 2
Cash payments (2) -
Closing balance 5 4

Children’s Health Queensland acts as a billing agency for medical practitioners who use Children’s Health 
Queensland facilities for the purpose of seeing patients under a Grant of Private Practice agreement (GOPP). 
Under this agreement, Children’s Health Queensland deducts from private patient fees received a service fee 
(where applicable) to cover the use of the facilities and administrative support provided to the medical
practitioner.

In addition, Children’s Health Queensland acts in a custodian role in relation to patient trust accounts. As such, 
these transactions and balances are not recognised in the financial statements, but are disclosed for 
information purposes.

The Queensland Audit Office undertakes a review of such accounts as part of the audit of the Children's 
Health Queensland financial statements.
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Section F
Other information

F1 Key management personnel and remuneration expenses

The following details for key management personnel include those positions that had authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of Children’s Health Queensland during
2015-16.

(a) Board 
Position and Name Responsibilities, Appointment Authority and 

Memberships
Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Board Chair -
Ms Rachel Hunter

Perform duties of Chair as prescribed in the Hospital and 
Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council Appointment

Member - Health Service Executive Committee
Member - Quality and Safety Committee

30 October 2015 -

Deputy Chair -
Ms Jane Yacopetti

Perform duties of Deputy Chair as prescribed in the 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council 
Appointment

Chair - Health Service Executive Committee

18 May 2013
(reappointed 
18 May 2016) -

Board Member -
Mr Paul Cooper

Perform duties of Board Member as prescribed in the 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council 
Appointment

Chair - Audit and Risk Committee
Member - Finance and Performance Committee

29 June 2012
(reappointed 
18 May 2016)

-

Board Member -
Mr David Gow

Perform duties of Board Member as prescribed in the 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council 
Appointment

Chair - Finance and Performance Committee 
Member - Audit and Risk Committee
Member - Health Service Executive Committee (ceased  
21/03/2016)

18 May 2013 -

Board Member -
Ms Cheryl Herbert

Perform duties of Board Member as prescribed in the 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council 
Appointment

Member - Health Service Executive Committee
Member - Quality and Safety Committee

26 June 2015
(reappointed 
18 May 2016)

-

Board Member -
Dr Leanne Johnston

Perform duties of Board Member as prescribed in the 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council 
Appointment

Member - Finance and Performance Committee 
Member - Quality and Safety Committee

29 June 2012
(reappointed 
18 May 2016)

-

Board Member -
Ms Leilani Pearce

Perform duties of Board Member as prescribed in the 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council 
Appointment 18 May 2016 -

Board Member -
Ms Georgina 
Somerset

Perform duties of Board Member as prescribed in the 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council 
Appointment

Member - Health Service Executive Committee
Member - Quality and Safety Committee

23 August 2013 -
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(a) Board (Continued)
Position and Name Responsibilities, Appointment Authority and 

Memberships
Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Board Member -
Mr Ross Willims

Perform duties of Board Member as prescribed in the 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council 
Appointment

Member - Finance and Performance Committee 
Member - Audit and Risk Committee

26 June 2015 -

Board Member -
Dr David Wood

Perform duties of Board Member as prescribed in the 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council 
Appointment

Chair - Quality and Safety Committee
Member - Audit and Risk Committee

29 June 2012 -

Board Chair -
Ms Jane Yacopetti

Perform duties of Chair as prescribed in the Hospital and 
Health Boards Act 2011 in a temporary capacity following 
cessation of former Chair and until new appointment 
made. Governor-in-Council Appointment

7 August 2015 30 October 2015

Board Chair -
Ms Susan Johnston

Perform duties of Chair as prescribed in the Hospital and 
Health Boards Act 2011. Governor-in-Council Appointment

Member - Quality and Safety Committee
18 May 2012 7 August 2015

(b) Executive management

Health Service Chief Executive

Responsibilities

The single point of accountability for ensuring patient safety through the effective executive leadership and management of 
Children's Health Queensland, as well as associated support functions. Accountable for ensuring that Children's Health 
Queensland achieves a balance between efficient service delivery and high quality health outcomes.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Current Individual contract, Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 15 January 2015 -

Executive Director People and Culture

Responsibilities

Develop and implement workforce strategies relating to people and culture so that Children's Health Queensland has the 
necessary skills, capabilities and enabling human resource, organisational development, work health and safety cultural capability 
and industrial relations frameworks to meet current and future health service needs.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Current Health Executive Service (HES 2), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 23 May 2016 -

Former (Acting) Health Executive Service (HES 2), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 4 April 2016 20 May 2016

Former Health Executive Service (HES 2), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 1 July 2012 10 April 2016
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(b) Executive management (continued)

Chief Finance Officer

Responsibilities

To provide strategic advice, leadership and management oversight of the Financial and Corporate Services functions for Children's 
Health Queensland. Work in conjunction with the executive team to ensure that financial stewardship and governance 
arrangements are in place to meet financial performance targets and imperatives.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Current (Acting) Health Executive Service (HES 3), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 29 March 2016 -

Former Health Executive Service (HES 3), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 7 January 2013 31 March 2016

 
Executive Director, Medical Services

Responsibilities

Provide medical executive leadership, strategic focus, managerial direction, authoritative and expert advice on a wide range of 
professional and policy issues.

Develop and create an environment and culture that draws the best medical talent and enhances the attraction and retention of
high quality child and family focused medical specialists.

Develop, implement and continuously monitor Children's Health Queensland policy and specialist support to line managers in 
relation to the recruitment, credentialing, employment, development and performance management of doctors.

Shape and lead strategic thinking and strategy development of an integrated medical service delivery model within both Children's 
Health Queensland and the Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital.

Lead the development, implementation and evaluation of the health service patient safety and quality improvement strategy.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Current
Senior Medical Officer (Level 27 – MMOI2), Medical 
Officer (Queensland Health) Certified Agreement (No.4) 
2015 (MOCA 4)

22 May 2016 -

Former (Acting)
Senior Medical Officer (Level 27 – MMOI2), Medical 
Officer (Queensland Health) Certified Agreement (No.4) 
2015 (MOCA 4)

1 January 2016 21 May 2016

Former
Senior Medical Officer (Level 29 - MMOI4), Medical 
Officer (Queensland Health) Certified Agreement (No.4) 
2015 (MOCA 4)

5 November 2012 31 December 2015

Executive Director, Nursing Services

Responsibilities

Provide nursing executive leadership, strategic focus, managerial direction, authoritative and expert advice on a wide range of 
professional and policy issues.

Shape and lead strategic thinking and strategy development of an integrated nursing service delivery model within Children's 
Health Queensland.

Provide professional leadership and accountability for Children's Health Queensland's nursing services.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Current Nurse Grade 12, Queensland Health Nurses and 
Midwives Award – State 2012 (Grade 12) 26 November 2012 -

Former (Acting) Nurse Grade 12, Queensland Health Nurses and 
Midwives Award – State 2012 (Grade 12) 15 June 2015 5 October 2015
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(b) Executive management (continued)

Executive Director, Allied Health

Responsibilities

Provide allied health executive leadership, strategic focus, authoritative and expert advice on a wide range of professional and 
policy issues to the Health Service Chief Executive, members of the Executive Team and other relevant stakeholders.  Achieve 
policy and operational alignment with National, State and Children’s Health Queensland strategic directions, policies and 
professional standards for the effective and safe delivery of contemporary allied health services.

Shape and lead strategic thinking and strategy development at the executive management level in a complex, diverse and dynamic 
environment with the ability to develop and establish an integrated allied health service delivery model across Children’s Health 
Queensland.

Provide professional leadership and accountability for the Children’s Health Queensland Allied Health Services.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Current Health Practitioners' (Queensland Health) Certified 
Agreement (No.2) 2011 (HP8-2) 27 January 2016 -

Former Health Practitioners' (Queensland Health) Certified 
Agreement (No.2) 2011 (HP8-2) 5 January 2015 11 September 2015

Chief Information Officer

Responsibilities

Lead and manage Information and Communication Technology (ICT) service delivery for Children's Health Queensland which is 
aligned to the health service strategic plan.

Identify, mitigate and manage ICT risks and priorities.  Analyse and monitor the major ICT trends and influences and their potential 
social and economic impacts.

Ensures that Children's Health Queensland achieves optimum performance in the delivery of ICT services and complex  projects 
which support in ensuring health care is delivered in the most efficient, effective and economical manner.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Current Health Executive Service (HES 2), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 27 January 2015 -

Executive Director, Hospital Services (new position)

Responsibilities

Single point of accountability for the effective and efficient delivery of all clinical and non-clinical services and resources at the Lady 
Cilento Children's Hospital including: surgery, medicine, critical care and clinical support services.

Critically analyse service delivery and strategically lead the development of strategies to address key service gaps, high level risks, 
performance gaps and performance targets within the responsible service areas.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Current Health Executive Service (HES 3), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 5 October 2015 -
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(b) Executive management (continued)

Executive Director, Governance, Strategy and Planning (new position)

Responsibilities

Responsible for leading the Board Secretariat, Internal Audit and Risk, health service strategic and operational planning, legal 
services and other strategic initiatives for Children’s Health Queensland.

Lead Children’s Health Queensland’s corporate governance program, and ensure the establishment and maintenance of practices 
which promote organisational accountability and transparency including providing leadership in the design, implementation and
continuous improvement of the integrated planning, strategy management and governance frameworks and systems for the 
organisation.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Current Health Executive Service (HES 2), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 5 October 2015 -

Executive Director, Community, Mental Health and Statewide Services (new position)

Responsibilities

Provide executive leadership to contribute to the development and implementation of the vision, strategic direction and goals and 
achievement of objectives and agreed outcomes, for Children’s Health Queensland.  Accountable and responsible for strategic 
focus, professional leadership and governance for child and youth community, mental health and statewide services. 

Strategically works with the Children’s Health Queensland’s Health Service Chief Executive, clinical professional leads and other 
executive members to coordinate and implement agreed initiatives/actions as part of integration processes for the Lady Cilento 
Children’s Hospital and Children’s Health Queensland.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Current Health Executive Service (HES 2), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 27 January 2016 -

Former (Acting) Health Executive Service (HES 2), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 16 November 2015 26 January 2016

Executive Director, Office of Strategy Management (abolished position)

Responsibilities
To provide leadership in the design, implementation and continuous improvement of the integrated planning, strategy 
management, performance monitoring and strategy communications frameworks and systems for the organisation.

Provide secretariat functions and support for the Children's Health Queensland Board and the Children’s Hospital Foundation 
Board.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Former Health Executive Service (HES 2), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 20 February 2013 1 November 2015
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(b) Executive management (continued)

General Manager Operations (abolished position)

Responsibilities

Responsible for the effective and efficient delivery of all clinical and non-clinical services and resources at the Lady Cilento 
Children's Hospital, Child and Youth Mental Health Services, Community Services and non-clinical support for Children's Health
Queensland.

Critically analyse service delivery and strategically lead the development of strategies to address key service gaps, high level risks, 
performance gaps and performance targets within the responsible service areas.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Former (Acting) Nurse Grade 12, Queensland Health Nurses and 
Midwives Award – State 2012 (Grade 12) 15 June 2015 5 October 2015

Executive Director, Commissioning and Development (abolished position)

Responsibilities
Executive commissioning lead for Children's Health Queensland activities and facilitates communication with the Lady Cilento 
Children's Hospital Project Team, providing direction, advice and decisions where necessary.

Ensure Children's Health Queensland has a clearly established, articulated and functional governance framework that incorporates 
the commissioning of, and transition to fully operational facilities, including the Lady Cilento Children's Hospital, Centre for 
Children's Health Research and the Central Energy Plant.

Accountable for the outcomes through directing, driving and supporting the work of the Children's Health Queensland 
commissioners and executives at a high level and from an organisational perspective to achieve effective and timely outcomes.

Incumbent Contract Classification and Appointment Authority Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Resignation 
or Cessation

Former Health Executive Service (HES 2), Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 28 April 2014 6 October 2015
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(c) Remuneration expenses

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy for the entity's key management personnel is set by the Queensland Public Service 
Commission as provided for under the Public Service Act 2008.

Board

The remuneration of members of the Board is approved by Governor-in-Council as part of the terms of 
appointment.  Each member is entitled to receive a fee, with the exception of appointed public service 
employees unless otherwise approved by the Government.  Members may also be eligible for superannuation 
payments.

Executive Management

In accordance with section 67 of the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, the Director-General of the 
Department of Health determines the remuneration for Children’s Health Queensland key executive 
management employees.  The remuneration and other terms of employment are specified in employment 
contracts or in the relevant Enterprise Agreements and Awards.

Remuneration expenses for key executive management personnel comprise the following components:

- Short-term employee expenses which include: 
- Monetary expenses: salaries, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for the 

entire year or for that part of the year during which the employee occupied the specified 
position. 

- Non-monetary benefits: other benefits provided to the employee including fringe benefits tax 
where applicable. 

- Long term employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave 
entitlements earned.

- Post-employment expenses include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation 
obligations.

- Termination benefits are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of 
employment provide only for notice periods or payment in lieu of notice on termination, regardless of 
the reason for termination.

Performance bonuses are not paid to executive management.
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(i) Board 

Position and name

Short term employee 
expenses

Long term 
employee 
expenses

Post-
employment 

expenses
Termination 

benefits
Total 

expenses

Monetary 
expenses

Non-
monetary 

benefits
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000$’000 $’000

Board Chair -
Ms Rachel Hunter

2016 52 - - 5 - 57

Deputy Chair -
Ms Jane Yacopetti *       

2016 50 - - 6 - 56

2015 44 - - 5 - 49

Board Member -
Mr Paul Cooper             

2016 45 - - 4 - 49

2015 47 - - 5 - 52

Board Member -
Mr David Gow               

2016 46 - - 5 - 51

2015 47 - - 5 - 52

Board Member -
Ms Cheryl Herbert         

2016 44 - - 5 - 49

2015 1 - - - - 1

Board Member -
Dr Leanne Johnston      

2016 44 - - 4 - 48

2015 46 - - 5 - 51

Board Member -
Ms Leilani Pearce  

2016 3 - - - - 3

Board Member -
Ms Georgina Somerset

2016 51 - - 5 - 56

2015 50 - - 5 - 55

Board Member -
Mr Ross Willims            

2016 44 - - 4 - 48

2015 40 - - 4 - 44
Board Member -
Dr David Wood             

2016 45 - - 4 - 49

2015 47 - - 5 - 52

Board Chair -
Ms Susan Johnson
(ceased 7/08/2015)

2016 8 - - 1 - 9

2015 78 - - 8 - 86

Board Member -
Associate Professor Susan 
Young
(ceased 17/05/2015)

2015 40 - - 4 - 44

Total Remuneration:
Board

2016 432 - - 43 - 475

2015 440 - - 46 - 486

*For a period during the 2015-16 financial year, Ms Jane Yacopetti also acted as Board Chair.
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(ii) Executive Management  

Position

Short term employee 
expenses

Long 
term 

employee 
expenses

Post-
employment 

expenses
Termination 

benefits 
Total 

expenses

Incumbent 
Status

Year
Monetary 
expenses

Non-
monetary 

benefits
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000$’000 $’000

Health Service Chief 
Executive

Current 2016 335 - 6 34 - 375

Current 2015 155 13 3 16 - 187

Former 2015 249 7 3 16 4 279

Executive Director, 
People and Culture

Current 2016 22 - - 2 - 24

Former Acting 2016 27 - - 2 - 29

Former 2016 152 - 3 15 - 170

Former 2015 192 - 4 19 - 215

Chief Finance Officer Current Acting 2016 70 - 1 6 - 77

Former 2016 152 - 3 14 - 169

Former 2015 212 - 4 21 - 237

Executive Director, 
Medical Services

Current 2016 51 - 1 3 - 55

Former Acting 2016 179 1 3 13 - 196

Former 2016 254 - 5 18 - 277

Former 2015 447 1 9 32 - 489

Executive Director, 
Nursing Services

Current 2016 187 - 3 19 - 209

Former Acting 2016 53 - 1 4 - 58

Former 2015 233 - 4 22 - 259

Executive Director, 
Allied Health

Current 2016 76 - 1 9 - 86

Former 2016 39 - 1 3 - 43

Former 2015 85 - - 10 - 95

Chief Information 
Officer

Current 2016 182 - 3 18 - 203
Current 2015 75 - 1 7 - 83

Executive Director 
Hospital Services 

Current 2016 156 6 3 16 - 181

Executive Director 
Governance, Strategy 
and Planning

Current 2016 139 - 3 14 - 156

Executive Director 
Community, Mental 
Health and Statewide 
Services

Current 2016 84 - 2 8 - 94

Former Acting 2016 38 - 1 3 - 42

Executive Director,
Office of Strategy 
Management *

Former 2016 84 - 2 7 - 93

Former 2015 316 - 6 31 - 353
Executive Director, 
Allied Health and 
Community Services

Former 2015 5 - - 1 39 45

General Manager 
Operations

Former Acting 2016 61 - 1 6 - 68

Former 2015 206 - 4 16 - 226

Executive Director, 
Commissioning and 
Development

Former 2016 52 1 1 5 - 59

Former 2015 206 1 4 20 - 231

Total Remuneration: 
Executive Management

2016 2,393 8 44 219 - 2,664
2015 2,381 22 42 211 43 2,699

*In both financial years there were two employees occupying this position
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F2 Related parties

Mr Ross Willims (nominee of the Chair of the Children’s Health Queensland Board) and Ms Fionnagh Dougan 
(Health Service Chief Executive) were the Children’s Health Queensland nominated members on the 
Children’s Hospital Foundation Board (Foundation) at reporting date. The Foundation raises funds for 
research, equipment and services for the Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital. Membership of the Board is in line 
with the Foundation’s Constitution and the governance terms of such arrangement. During the 2015-16
financial year, Children’s Health Queensland provided a grant of $1 million to the Foundation (as part of 
divestment of funding received by Children’s Health Queensland) to be used in support of its objectives. 
Rental accommodation was also provided to the Foundation for nominal consideration in line with a formal 
contract between both parties.

Mr David Gow (member of the Board) was the Children’s Health Queensland nominated member on the 
Queensland Children’s Medical Research Institute Board (QCMRI). A number of Children’s Health 
Queensland research activities were facilitated through this organisation which ceased to exist on 30th June
2016. Membership of the Board was in line with the QCMRI Constitution and the governance terms of such 
arrangement.

The terms and conditions of other transactions with members of the Board, key executive management, and 
their related entities were no more favourable than those available or which might reasonably be expected to 
be available, in similar transactions with non-Board members or key executive management related entities on 
an arm’s length basis.

F3 New and revised accounting standards

(a) Changes in accounting policy

Children’s Health Queensland did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2015-16.

(b) Accounting standards applied for the first time in 2015-16

Two Australian Accounting Standards have been early adopted for the 2015-16 year as required by 
Queensland Treasury:

AASB 2015-2 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendment to 
AASB 101 [AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 134 & AASB 1049]

The amendments arising from this standard seek to improve financial reporting by providing flexibility as to the 
ordering of notes, the identification and allocation of significant accounting policies and the presentation of 
sub-totals, and provides clarity on aggregating line items.  It also reinforces including only material disclosures 
in the notes.  Children’s Health Queensland has applied this flexibility in preparing the 2015-16 financial 
statements, including co-locating significant accounting policies with the related breakdowns of financial 
statement figures in the notes. 

AASB 2015-7 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosure of Not-for-
Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 13]

This standard amends AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and provides relief to not-for-profit public sector 
entities from certain disclosures about property, plant and equipment that is primarily held for its current 
service potential rather than to generate future net cash inflows.  The relief applies to assets under AASB 116 
Property, Plant and Equipment which are measured at fair value and categorised within Level 3 of fair value 
hierarchy.
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F3 New and revised accounting standards (continued)

As a result, the following disclosures have been removed from the 2015-16 financial statements:

- disaggregation of certain gains/losses on assets reflected in the operating result;
- quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement; 

and
- a description of the sensitivity of the fair value measurement to changes in the unobservable inputs.

No other Australian Accounting Standards had any material impact on this financial report.

F4 Taxation

Children’s Health Queensland is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is 
exempt from Commonwealth taxation with the exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and 
Services Tax (GST).  FBT and GST are the only Commonwealth taxes accounted for by Children’s Health 
Queensland. 

Both Children’s Health Queensland and the Department of Health satisfy section 149-25(e) of the A New Tax 
System (Goods and Services) Act 1999 (Cth) (the GST Act) and were able, with other hospital and health 
services, to form a “group” for GST purposes under Division 149 of the GST Act. This means that any 
transactions between the members of the "group" do not attract GST. 








